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I am pleased to present to you the annual results for 2016.
FINANCIAL RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2016
was HK$1,894.5 million (2015: HK$1,029.4 million), an increase of
84% compared to the year before. The profit attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to HK$5,713.0 million (2015: HK$2,600.0
million), representing an increase of 120% from 2015.

The increase in profit for the year was the result of:

(1) a gain of HK$3,937.7 million on disposal of subsidiaries
carrying non-core assets. In 2015, similar disposals resulted in
a gain of HK$3,012.8 million; and

(2) a gain of HK$1,588.6 million on purchase of approximately
90.65% interest in a listed subsidiary.

Earnings per share amounted to HK$3.79 (2015: HK$1.73), while the
net asset value per share attributable to owners of the Company was
HK$14.28 at the end of 2016 (2015: HK$11.37).

DIVIDEND

The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) has declared a
special dividend in form of distribution in specie of 195,880,034
shares (“Dan Form Shares”) in Dan Form Holdings Company Limited
(“Dan Form”) to the shareholder(s) of the Company (“Shareholder(s)”)
whose name(s) appear(s) on the register of members of the Company
as at the close of business on Friday, 28th April, 2017, other than
certain non-qualifying overseas shareholders of the Company, on the
basis of 13 Dan Form Shares for every 100 shares of the Company
(“Distribution in Specie”) and the relevant Dan Form Shares are
expected to be despatched by the Company on or around Wednesday,
10th May, 2017. Announcement(s) containing further information
on the Distribution in Specie will be made by the Company in due
course.

Based on the price of HK$2.5 per Dan Form Share (being the price
of HK$2.75 per Dan Form Share at which the Company acquired
the Dan Form Shares in 2016 and adjusted by the special dividend
of HK25 cents per Dan Form Share declared by Dan Form on
Wednesday, 25th January, 2017), the aggregate value of the Dan
Form Shares to be distributed under the Distribution in Specie is
approximately HK$489.7 million, which represents a distribution of
approximately HK32.5 cents per share.

For the year ended 31st December, 2015, the Board declared an
interim dividend of HK15 cents per share (in lieu of a final dividend).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(1) For determining the entitlement to the special dividend in
form of Distribution in Specie

For determining the entitlement to the special dividend in form of
Distribution in Specie, the register of members of the Company
will be closed on Thursday, 27th April, 2017 and Friday, 28th
April, 2017, during which period no transfer of shares of the
Company will be registered. In order for a Shareholder to qualify
for the special dividend in form of Distribution in Specie, all
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor
Secretaries Limited of Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 26th April, 2017.

(2) For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(“2017 AGM”)

The 2017 AGM is scheduled to be held on Wednesday, 24th
May, 2017. For determining the entitlement to attend and vote
at the 2017 AGM, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from Friday, 19th May, 2017 to Wednesday, 24th May,
2017 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer
of shares of the Company will be registered. In order for a
Shareholder to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2017 AGM, all
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Secretaries
Limited of Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday,
18th May, 2017.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is engaged principally in the development of apartments,
villas, office buildings and commercial properties, property
investment and property management in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC"), and property investment and property management in
Hong Kong.

An outline of our achievements in 2016 is described below:

(1) We have continued to dispose of non-core assets.
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(2)

We have purchased a controlling interest in a Hong Kong listed
company, Dan Form, which mainly holds investment properties in
Hong Kong.

Total attributable registered sales (including sales from joint
ventures and pre-sales of properties under construction) of the
Group amounted to 365,100 m? in 2016 (2015: 154,200 m?), an
increase of 137%. A total attributable gross floor area (“GFA”) of
approximately 250,400 m? (2015: 364,100 m?) was completed, a
decrease of 31% from last year.

Rental income was down by 12% as compared with 2015, due
mainly to the Renminbi currency depreciation and a softer rental
market.

Cyberpark: The overall contribution of our cyberpark unit has
been low. The slowing Chinese economy has affected sales and
leasing of the commercial components of our cyberparks but sales
of the residential component has been quite brisk, especially the
smaller sized apartments.

Where necessary, we have slowed down construction of future
phases to alleviate pressure on sales and leasing of current
phases. By focusing on sales of existing stock, we have been
improving the cashflow of our cyberpark unit.

Our cyberparks on the Pearl River Delta have been the exception
and we will concentrate on developing new cyberparks and urban
renewal projects in this region where we have ample manpower
and marketing resources.

Tian An’s urban renewal project, Tian An Cloud Park, in Huawei
New City Area in the Longgang District of Shenzhen has
commenced leasing and pre-sales of Phase 1 since November
2014. Clearance of land for future phases is ongoing and
although this means an increased outlay of resources either
through capital injection or loans, it is expected to reduce
complications when we start developing these phases. Sales and
leasing for Phase 1 have been encouraging and this project has
continued to contribute to our performance. Phase 2 with GFA of
approximately 582,600 m? is under construction and expected to
be completed in 2018.
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PLANS FOR 2017
Objectives for 2017 are as follows:

(1) We will continue to adjust the quality of our landbank through
acquisitions and disposals and sale of our end products to
balance the demands of short term returns and long term capital
appreciation.

(2) We will adjust our products and pricing as well as the speed of
construction where necessary to assist the sale of our products in
the current environment.

(3) We hope to responsibly gear up our projects rather than over-
utilising equity in order to increase our return on equity.

(4) We will review our management and cost structure so as to
improve efficiency and reduce expenses where possible.

LONG TERM CORPORATE STRATEGIES

(1) The Group will retain certain development properties for
investment where we believe these properties will provide
increasing rental streams and corresponding increases in capital
value.

(2) We will concentrate our effort on developing our cyberpark and
urban renewal units where we believe our products are welcomed
by the government and the local market.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

The Group’s main business market is mainland China, where there
have been various measures by the authorities to regulate the high
housing demand and cool down the overheated property market, so as
to restore a healthy and stable property market. In Hong Kong, where
there is a shortage in the supply of land causing record land prices,
the Group’s newly acquired controlling interest in Dan Form will
help to mitigate the effect of Renminbi currency fluctuations. We are
confident of the long term prospects of the property market both in
mainland China and Hong Kong.
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) APPRECIATION

RAAZFRROBRHDZEERETINBE—FE | would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Directors and

BRBEZBNOREAEE 2GR WEHIER  the staff for their diligence and contributions to the Group in the past

ROV N F5 ARERP ZEE- year, to the Shareholders for their understanding and support, and to
the customers for their trust.

~ ~
EFRATE Patrick Lee Seng Wei
FHE Managing Director

FE _T—+F=HA++tH Hong Kong, 17th March, 2017
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW
1. INCOME SOURCES

Income derived from operations in property development, property
investment, associate and joint venture investments in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC") constituted the most significant source of
revenue to the Group. An analysis is as follows:

(1) Property developments

Revenue derived from property development of the Group (including
subsidiaries but excluding associates and joint ventures) increased
from HK$446.6 million to HK$1,362.2 million compared with
2015. Projects offered for sale during the year mainly consisted of
Changzhou Tian An Villa (Phase 2), Nantong Tian An Garden (Phase
5), Wuxi The Manhattan (Phases 1 and 2) and Changchun Tian An City
One (Phase 4 Part 1)

(2) Property investments

During the year, Shanghai Tian An Centre, Shanghai Racquet Club &
Apartments, Nanjing Tian An International Building, Dalian Tian An
International Tower and Beijing Park Apartments had a slight softening
leasing result and led to rental income of the Group decrease from
HK$448.7 million to HK$396.7 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 11.6%.

(3) Associate and joint venture investments

2016 2015
FERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000

in | B=Y Contribution to profit:
FEAG B & N B )5k Share of profit of associates 12,169 6,226
JEfh & & 10 %R A Share of profit of joint ventures 89,984 110,055
102,153 116,281
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2. MAJOR SALES

For the year ended 31st December, 2016, the Group’s sales activities
were concentrated principally on the following projects:

PE1E
HEREER
Attributable
GFA sold
HE Project R Use F 75 Km?
RENKRZEA (—H) Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park (Phase 1) [EES Commercial 22,500
BEMEGRZENES Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Lift City F=x Residential 49,100
(—8r=H) (Phases 1 & 2)
EESEN= PN 4P Dongguan Fenggang Tian An Cyber Park [EES Commercial 24,600
(—H#) (Phase 1)
REXTHIEH Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park (Phases 3 to 5) %,/ Commercial/ 12,000
(ZHZETH) F=x Residential
BMARLZEBEEREE  Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech EEY Commercial/ 13,400
(REENH) Ecological Park (Phases 6 to 8) F=x Residential
B R8BI Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park GES Commercial 9,900
(REAREE) (Phases 6 & 7)
EIRSRTE (—H X =8) Wuxi The Manhanttan (Phases 1 & 2) = Residential 40,800
BINR 2 BB B Changzhou Tian An International Plaza [EES Commercial 25,600
BINR 2 B Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park HE/ Commercial/ 18,200
(—HE=8H) (Phases 1 & 2) T= Residential
M@ ALEE (MA & A H) Nantong Tian An Garden (Phases 4 & 5) [Ees Residential 8,600
EEERZHIGH Chongging Tian An Cyber Park EEY Commercial/ 21,000
(—HR=8) (Phases 1 & 2) T=® Residential
RERRE M Changchun Tian An City One F=x Residential 68,200
(HE—#tZ==4t) (Phase 4 Parts 1 to 3)
BEERTEIEH (—H) Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1) mE/ Commercial/ 13,300
= Residential
RERZHEW (ZH)  Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 3) F=E Residential 23,700
Hih1A R Other projects CEYE Commercial/ 14,200
F=x Residential
365,100
3. rT#AE 3. LAND PORTFOLIO

AN E Bk A 498,685,400 F ARk REEE A
MEIEHE(AEERGAEERENA
6,100,700 F 5 K BEEERTIREMED
586,700 F A RKMEREFEGFEEWELD
5,514,000 75 K) » E BN 8 &I E
MM R -HBL EF BB EH 7
M-Ik - mR RE RE RE-SERE
ok

The Group currently has a landbank of total GFA of approximately
8,685,400 m? (total GFA attributable to the Group is approximately
6,100,700 m?, consisting of approximately 586,700 m? of
completed investment properties and approximately 5,514,000 m?
of properties under development and for development), located
mainly in Shanghai, Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Huizhou, Dongguan,
Foshan, Chongqing, Nantong, Wuxi, Changzhou, Jiangyin, Nanjing,
Changchun, Dalian, Tianjin, Qingdao and Hong Kong.
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As at 31st December, 2016, the Group’s land portfolio principally

consisted of the following:

(1) Properties under development and for development

[ S

Commercial

=

Residential

REMELNS
R H R
GFA
attributable
to the Group

i & Region F 5K m? F 75K m? F 75K m?

#=ip Northern China 1,450,000 738,100 2,188,100

ER Eastern China 1,153,200 501,000 1,654,200

Escgeg) Southern China 941,200 730,500 1,671,700

et Total 3,544,400 1,969,600 5,514,000
2 ERTIREYH (2) Completed investment properties

REBEESL

EHEE

GFA

[EES = attributable

Commercial Residential ~ to the Group

& Region FEHK m? F 77K m? 75K m?

B Hong Kong 45,200 7,800 53,000

#ip Northern China 90,400 23,000 113,400

B Eastern China 233,200 73,000 306,200

= Southern China 90,100 24,000 114,100

@t Total 458,900 127,800 586,700
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Financing

The Group always maintained its liquidity at a healthy level with
a balanced portfolio of financial resources. As at 31st December,
2016, the total bank balances and cash reserves of the Group were
approximately HK$4,330.1 million (2015: HK$4,134.8 million),
providing sufficient working capital for the daily operations of the
Group.

As at 31st December, 2016, the total borrowings of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$3,736.0 million (2015: HK$5,576.4
million), including current liabilities of HK$1,284.7 million (2015:
HK$2,674.5 million) and non-current liabilities of HK$2,451.3 million
(2015: HK$2,901.9 million). The gearing ratio (net debt over total
equity) of the Group was negative of 4% (2015: 8%). The borrowings
were mainly used to finance the properties for development and
properties under construction. Decrease in finance costs is mainly due
to the decrease in borrowings and the increase in amount capitalised
on property under development.

Approximately 45% of the Group’s outstanding borrowings will
mature within 2 years. Since most of the investments and operation of
the Group are carried out in the PRC, most of the bank borrowings are
denominated in Renminbi which will be repaid in the same currency.
Around 92% of the Group’s borrowings bear interest at fixed rates
while the remainders are at floating rates.

Due to maintaining flexible and sufficient cashflow for acquiring
the potential quality landbank and accelerating construction works
for our development projects, the Group intends to obtain proper
bank borrowings with reasonable pricing terms. The management
continuously monitors its gearing ratio and raises new external
borrowings when necessary.

Risk of Foreign Exchange Fluctuation

The Group is required to maintain foreign currency exposure to
cater for its recurring operating activities and present and potential
investment activities, meaning it will be subject to reasonable
exchange rate exposure. However, the Group will closely monitor this

risk exposure as required.
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Pledge on Assets

As at 31st December, 2016, bank deposits of HK$269.8 million,
aggregate carrying values of property, plant and equipment,
development properties and investment properties of approximately
HK$155.6 million, HK$4,678.7 million and HK$6,888.1 million
respectively, were pledged for banking facilities granted to the Group
and mortgage loans granted to property purchasers.

Contingent Liabilities

A portion of a property for development that is held by a joint venture
with carrying value of approximately HK$2.5 million is under idle
land investigation by the local authority. The piece of land owned by
the joint venture was held under several land use right certificates.
The development of more than half of the piece of land was either
completed or under development, except for a portion which is
retained for the remaining development of the whole project. Another
property for development that is held by a subsidiary of the Group
with carrying value of approximately HK$38.8 million is under idle
land investigation by the local authority. This piece of land owned
by the subsidiary has been developed by several phases and more
than half was completed, except the last portion which is under
the planning approval by the local authority. Further, property for
development that is held by another subsidiary of the Group with
carrying value of approximately HK$470.6 million had been identified
as idle land by the local authority. The Group has invited another
investor to develop this land site jointly. The construction works for
the first phase of development is in progress. The Group is currently
working diligently to prevent the possible classification as idle land,
including negotiating the feasibility of development plans with local
authorities. Based on legal advices, the Group has assessed the issue
and considers that the idle land confiscation may not materialise.

As at 31st December, 2016, guarantees given to banks in respect of
mortgage loans granted to property purchasers and bank facilities
granted or utilised by the joint ventures amounted to approximately
HK$1,360.7 million. All the guarantees provided by the Group were
requested by banks and under normal commercial terms. No legal
action was taken against the Group for material claim.
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PROJECT REVIEW

1. MAJOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENTS
Southern China

Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

Located at the heart of Shenzhen and adjacent to Shenzhen Golf
Club, this large-scale project occupies a site area of approximately
273,500 m? with a total GFA of approximately 787,700 m?. The Cyber
Park consists of industrial buildings, office and commercial buildings,
cyber technology buildings, deluxe residential apartments and
multifunction clubhouse in an “Urban Industrial Complex”.

The lettable commercial GFA is 48,810 m?, including remaining areas
of Shenzhen Cyber Times Building, Shenzhen Tian An Innovation
Science and Technology Plaza (Phases 1 and 2) and Shenzhen Futian
Tian An Hi-Tech Venture Park.

Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park has expanded its successful pattern to
other cities, including Guangzhou Panyu, Foshan Nanhai, Dongguan,
Shenzhen Longgang, Changzhou, Jiangyin, Tianjin, Chongging and
Qingdao, so as to develop into a group company.

For accomplishing the upgrade industries transformation and urban
renewal of Shenzhen, Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park plans to have area
upgrade and redevelopment. The total GFA of the Park will increase
accordingly.

Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park (50%)

Located in the core area of Longgang in Shenzhen, this project has a
site area of approximately 118,850 m? and total GFA of approximately
356,500 m% The model of Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park is used to
develop this project. Phase 4 with GFA of approximately 44,500 m? is
under construction and expected to be completed in 2017.

Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park (50%)

This project is a “Model project of urban renewal” and located in
Huawei New City Area, Longgang District, Shenzhen. Shenzhen Tian
An Cloud Park will have a site area of approximately 760,000 m? and
plan to have a total GFA of approximately 2,800,000 m?. The project
is planned to be developed into a combination of new technology
and a modern city complex, including industrial R&D, commercial,
residential and apartments properties. Construction work for Phase 1
with a GFA of approximately 531,600 m? (including basement) was
completed, Phase 2 with GFA of approximately 582,600 m? is under
construction and expected to be completed in 2018.
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Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park (39%)

Situated right at the new city central area — Nancheng District of
Dongguan. Upon acquiring the land nearby the project in 2012,
it covers land area of approximately 278,987 m? with total GFA of
approximately 823,100 m?. The project is planned to be developed
into an integrated business park with comprehensive science and
technology buildings, commercial and residential composite.

Dongguan Fenggang Tian An Cyber Park (45.05%)

Located in Fenggang Town of Dongguan, this project has a site area of
approximately 172,796 m? and total GFA of approximately 518,400
m?. The project is planned to be developed into a comprehensive
commercial/industrial composite. Phase | with GFA of approximately
102,300 m? is under construction and expected to be completed in
2017.

Dongguan Coolpad Tian An Cloud Park (25 %)

Located in Songshan Lake of Dongguan, with a site area of approximately
98,158 m? and a total GFA of approximately 176,700 m*. The project is
planned to be developed into a comprehensive commercial/Industrial
composite.

Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Park (50%)

Located in the central district of Panyu in Guangzhou, this large
scale project has a site area of 513,088 m? and a total GFA of
approximately 712,500 m?. The park development consists of
industrial/office buildings, science and technology buildings,
highclass residential buildings and multi-function clubhouse.

Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park (45 %)

Located in Guicheng of Nanhai. Upon acquiring the land nearby the
project in 2012, it covers site area of approximately 165,252 m? and
total GFA of approximately 472,900 m?. This project is developing
with the similar pattern as Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park and planned
to develop into a business district with hotel/office buildings. Phases 8
and 9 with GFA of approximately 127,000 m? are under construction
and expected to be completed in 2017 and 2018 respectively.
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Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City (100%)

Located in Huiyang of Huizhou and lying by both sides of Danshui
River, this project has a site area of approximately 393,570 m? and
total GFA of approximately 783,000 m?. The project is planned to be
developed into a comprehensive commercial/residential composite.
Since the local government had modified the surrounding planning
of the land, the master planning for property development had
been modified accordingly. Phase 1 Part 2 and Phase 2 with GFA of
approximately 157,300 m? are under construction and expected to be
completed in 2017.

Eastern China
Shanghai Tian An Place (99.99%)

This project is situated at the Golden Honggiao District where the oriental
and international residents like to reside and adjacent to the entrance of
the transit station of Subway No. 9. The project will be developed to a
deluxe residential district with a site area of approximately 338,113 m?
and a total GFA of approximately 470,000 m?. Construction work of
Phase 1 with total GFA of approximately 167,500 m? was completed.

Shanghai Tian An Sunshine Peninsula (100%)

Located in the Putuo District of Shanghai, this project is to be
built along the 1,100 m bank of Suzhou River with a site area of
approximately 58,930 m?. This project has been re-planned as
a commercial and entertainment complex. Design planning has
been approved. Construction work of Phase 1 with total GFA of
approximately 65,100 m? have been started since 2016 and is
expected to be completed in 2018.

Wauxi Tian An Intelligent Park (100%)

This project is located in Wuxi New District, with a site area of
approximately 118,330 m? and a total GFA of approximately
236,100 m?. The project is planned to be developed into integrated
business park with comprehensive science and technology buildings,
commercial and residential composite. The construction of Phase 1
Part 1 with a GFA of approximately 107,200 m? was completed and
under leasing and sales.
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Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Changzhou Wujin Hi-Tech Industrial Zone,
with a site area of approximately 203,061 m? and a total GFA of
approximately 578,700 m?. The project is planned to be developed
into comprehensive science and technology buildings, commercial
and residential composite. Construction work of Phase 2 Part 2 with
a residential GFA of approximately 55,400 m? is expected to be
completed in 2018.

Changzhou Tian An Villa (100%)

This project is located in the Wujin District, the planning and
development focus of the Changzhou government. With a favorable
location, it is one of the largest deluxe villa districts in Changzhou.
The project occupies a site of 473,335 m?.

Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park (100%)

This project is located in Nanjing Baixia Hi-Technology Industrial
Development Area with a site area of approximately 92,766 m? and
a total GFA of approximately 210,100 m?. The project is planned to
be developed into comprehensive science and technology buildings,
commercial and residential composite. Construction work of Phase 3
with a GFA of approximately 25,000 m? is expected to be completed
in 2017.

Nanjing La Vita (60%)

This project is located at Xinjiekou of Nanjing central district, with a
site area of approximately 5,012 m? and a total GFA of approximately
19,200 m?, the project is planned to be developed a commercial
building.

Nantong Tian An Cyber Park (100%)

This project is located in Nantong Gangzha Economic Development
Zone, with a site area of approximately 160,367 m? and a total GFA
of approximately 398,200 m?. The project is planned to be developed
into integrated business park with comprehensive science and
technology buildings and commercial composite. Construction work
of Phase 1 Part 2 with a GFA of approximately 23,900 m? is expected
to be completed in 2017.
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Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Jiangyin Economic Development Zone,
Jiangsu, with a site area of approximately 173,200 m? and a total GFA
of approximately 363,700 m?. The project is planned to be developed
into integrated business park with comprehensive science and
technology buildings, commercial and residential composite. Phase
1 office and residential with a GFA of approximately 145,600 m* was
completed and under leasing and sales.

Chongging Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

Chongqing Tian An Cyber Park is located in commercial centre area
of Dadukou District, Chongging, with a site area of approximately
357,800 m? and a total GFA of approximately 894,900 m2. The
project is planned to be developed into integrated business park with
comprehensive science and technology buildings, commercial and
residential composite. Phase 3 of office and commercial buildings
with a GFA of approximately 44,000 m? is under construction and
expected to be completed in 2017.

Northern China
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden (60%)

This project for high-class residential development is located in the
Dalian Economic & Technology Development Zone. Phases 1 and 2
with a total GFA of approximately 84,100 m? have been completed.
Master plan for Phase 3 is waiting for approval.

Changchun Tian An City One (100%)

This high-class residential project is situated within the Changchun
High-Tech Industrial Development Zone. Erected on a site of
approximately 414,954 m?, the project with a total GFA of
approximately 413,100 m? is being developed by stages. Construction
work for Phase 4, Part 2 and Part 3 with a total GFA of 97,800 m? are
expected to be completed in 2017.

Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Zhangjiawo Industrial Zone, Xiqging District,
Tianjin, with a site area of approximately 588,075 m? and a total
GFA of approximately 1,216,100 m?. The project is planned to be
developed into integrated business park with comprehensive science
and technology buildings, commercial and residential composite.
Phases 2 and 4 with a GFA of approximately 96,300 m? are under
construction and expected to be completed in 2017.
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Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port (100%)

This project is located in Dongli District, Tianjin, with a site area
of approximately 582,000 m? and a total GFA of approximately
1,319,400 m?. The project is planned to be developed into urban
integrated business complex with Grade A office buildings,
comprehensive science and technology park, commercial and
residential composite. Construction work for Phase 1 with a GFA of
approximately 185,800 m? is expected to be completed in 2017.

Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Chengyang District, Qingdao, with a site
area of approximately 313,466 m?* and a total GFA of approximately
522,900 m2. The project is planned to be developed into urban
integrated business complex with Grade A office buildings,
comprehensive science and technology park, commercial and
residential composite. Construction work for Phase 2 with a GFA of
approximately 24,300 m* was completed in 2016.

2. MAJOR PROPERTY INVESTMENTS
Shanghai Tian An Centre (98%)

The office building is situated at the hub of Shanghai central business
district of Nanjing Road West and People’s Square, adjacent to
the entrances to the transit platforms of Subway Nos. 1 and 2. It
is a 30-storey Grade A commercial building with a total GFA of
48,910 m?. 24,940 m? were sold, 1,620 m? were self-occupied and
the remaining GFA of 22,350 m? have been transferred to property
investment. Most of the tenants are multinational companies. The
occupancy rate is more than 80%.

Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments (100%)

This project is located in the Minhang District, Shanghai, and adjacent
to the Honggiao International Airport, Honggiao Transport Hub and 6
International Schools. The properties include (1) 262 apartments with
68,660 m? (2) a clubhouse with 10,600 m? and ancillary facilities;
(3) 116 car parking spaces with 2,510 m? and (4) 218 storage rooms
with 979 m?. This project is leased property. Most of the tenants are
overseas top management from multinational companies.
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Nanjing Tian An International Building (100%)

The project is located at Xinjiekou of Nanjing central district, the most
flourishing shopping district in Nanjing City. The building links up to
the subway station. The shopping arcades with a GFA of 66,400 m?
have been leased to a department store. The office building with a
GFA of approximately 10,700 m? have been transferred to property
investment.

Dalian Tian An International Tower (100%)

This Grade A office building is situated in the Zhongshan Road central
business district and faces the Victory Square in Dalian City. The total
GFA is 67,210 m2. This 52-storey building is the tallest landmark
building of Dalian. 14,790 m? were sold, the remaining GFA have
been transferred to property investment.

Beijing Park Apartments (100%)

This premium residential project is located at the Beijing Chaoyang
District to the west of Chaoyang Park and adjacent to the Embassy
area. The project has a total GFA of approximately 42,100 m?.
Approximately half of the total number of units have been sold and
the remaining units kept for leasing purpose.

Harbour Crystal Centre (90.65%/72.52%/36.26%)

Located at Tsimshatsui East, the heart of Kowloon, the shopping
arcade of approximately 13,700 m? as an investment property
recorded an average occupancy of 99.27% and the performance of
the rental income was satisfactory.

The Redhill Peninsula (30.21%)

It was built at a round-shaped peninsula situated in Southern District
of Hong Kong towards Tai Tam Harbour and Turtle Cove comprising of
townhouses and apartments.

During 2015 and 2016, 3 houses, 117 apartments and 156 carparking
spaces were successfully sold out. Remaining stocks of 45 houses will
be launched for sales in batches in 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Harbour Industrial Centre and Oceanic Industrial Centre (30.21%)

The two industrial buildings with total GFA of approximately
93,630 m? located at Ap Lei Chau recorded an average occupancy
rate of 82.76%. With the opening of South Island Line of MTR, it is
expected the region become more accessible.

Queen’s Centre (45.33%)

Located at Wanchai, a prime district of Hong Kong Island, the total
retail and office spaces of approximately 2,550 m? recorded an
average occupancy of 94.42%.

Wah Shun Industrial Building (45.33%)

An industrial building located at Yau Tong with total GFA of
approximately 12,470 m? recorded an average occupancy of 99.20%.

3. OTHER INVESTMENTS
Dongguan Long Island Golf & Country Club (75 %)
Bulit on a site area of approximately 999,990 m?. having a 27-hole

golf, driving range, club houses, members’ lodge and other amenity
facilities. The golf course and club are currently in operation.
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MEZREHR
PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT
ERH EEIR &8
TEEEAR BEER BEER Frib s
Buildable EEEE Completed  Gross Floor Interest
BHEER wEHE AR Gross Floor  Project Gross  Area under Held by
Project Name Site Area  Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction the Group
TR ARm? T Rm? FAHKm? FHAm?
RYRE A EAH ek 7 HiE TR E
AT EEE 2EILR 118,850 Commercial 356,500  Phased 269,300 44,500 50%
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Construction
Cyber Park Stage
Huangge Road North,
Longgang District, Shenzhen
RIXZER (-BR=H) Bk 7 B TR
AT EEE - RE 134,547 Commercial 866,400  Phased 414,100 452,300 50%
Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park Construction
(Phases 1 and 2) Dormitory 130,400  Stage - 130,400 50%
Bantian, Longgang District, Shenzhen -
996,800 414,100 582,700
REXRZHEH Bk 7 B TR E
RED BHE B2BI% 278,987 Commercial 739,000 Phased 240,700 95,200 39%
Dongguan Tian An T=x Construction
Cyber Park Residential 84,100  Stage 84,100 - 39%
No.1, Huangjin Road,
Nancheng DlStr[Ct, Dongguan 823,] 00 324,800 95,200
REBEAZYBA [GES 7 HiE TR E
REm BEE EEA 172,796 Commercial 518,400 Phased - 102,300 45.05%
Dongguan Fenggang Tian An Construction
Cyber Park Stage
Yan Tian Village,
Fenggang Town, Dongguan
REBRAREAESRE EES 7 B TR E
R B IER T ES KA 98,158 Commercial 176,700 Phased - 5,300 25%
Dongguan Coolpad Tian An Cloud Park Construction
North of South Industrial Road, Stage
Songshan Lake North Industrial City,
Dongguan
BENRZERHENKE EE3 7 Hiie TR E
BT EER DER730% 513,088 Commercial 667,200  Phased 571,500 - 50%
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu £ Construction
Hi-Tech Ecological Park Residential 45300  Stage 45,300 - 50%
No. 730, Yingbin Road,
Panyu DiStI’iCt, GUangZhOU 712,500 61 6/800 _
BUREREHES A% 7 Hie TR E
eI BgE - BFRIR 165,252 Commercial 472,900 Phased 336,700 127,000 45%
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park Construction
No.1, Jianping Road, Stage
Nanhai District, Foshan
ENERXRETES BERETE PEEIRR
M BEE KR 393,570 Commercial & 783,000  Phased 27,500 157,300 100%
Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City Residential Construction

Danshui Town, Huiyang District,
Huizhou

Stage
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

ERH EREIR 58
TEEAHE BEER BEER PR
Buildable ~EEEE Completed  Gross Floor Interest
BHEER wEHE AR Gross Floor  Project Gross  Area under Held by
Project Name Site Area  Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction the Group
THKm? FHAKm FhHRm FhHRm
LERZRE FE PEEIREER
e BE EER 338,113 Residential 405,800 Phased 140,600 - 99.99%
TEEDF I hEREE Construction
Shanghai Tian An Place Ancillary & 64,200  Stage 26,900 - 99.99%
Lot No. 52, Qibao Town, Commercial
Caobao Road,
Minhang DiStI’iCt, Shanghai 470,000 ]67,500 _
IBRRBAES G PEBTIREER
FiEm LR SR 58,930  Commercial 178,000  Phased - 65,100 100%
Shanghai Tian An Sunshine —— Construction
Peninsula Stage
Changhua Road, Putuo District,
Shanghai
LBRZTER (ZHCS) = &R
FiET - BHR10285 3,600 Residential 500 B - - 100%
Shanghai Central Garden ——  Planning &
(Phase 3 GS) Design Stage
No. 1028, Jinxiu Road, Shanghai
BHEXZEEH G PEmTIIRR
&HT BHNE 118,330 Commercial 236,100 Phased 107,200 - 100%
ERE2285 — Construction
Wauxi Tian An Intelligent Park Stage
No. 228, Linghu Road,
Wuxi New District, Wuxi
ENXRBIESE [GES DEBIRER
BNE RERFRMEXRER 203,061 Commercial 338,800  Phased 164,300 - 50%
HEK588%% FE Construction
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park Residential 239,900 Stage 132,400 55,400 50%
No. 588, Wunan Road, -
WUJIn Hi-Tech Industrial ZOne, 578.700 296,700 55 400
Changzhou ' ' '
ENRZRE € PHETRE
M RERE - BB 473,335 Residential 137,900 Phased 93,000 - 100%
Changzhou Tian An Villa ——0 Construction
No. 2, Fengyuan Road, Stage
Wajin District, Changzhou
BRAZHEH G PEBIRER
ARTRER 92,766 Commercial 210,100 Phased 86,600 25,000 100%
Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park —— Construction
Guanghua Road, Nanjing Stage
BRRIE [GE IR
AR ZRE KR 5012 Commercial 19,200 Construction = 19,200 60%
Nanjing La Vita —_—  Stage
Changjiang Road, Xuanwu District, Nanjing
BRXZYEH GRS PEEIREER
AT AEERA 160,367 Commercial 398,200  Phased 89,700 23,900 100%
=THEH — Construction
Nantong Tian An Cyber Park Stage

South of Changping Road and East of
Yongtong Road, Nantong
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TEEEAR BEER BEER Frib s
Buildable EEEE Completed  Gross Floor Interest
BHEER wEHE AR Gross Floor  Project Gross  Area under Held by
Project Name Site Area Use _Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction the Group
TR ARm? T Rm? FAHKm? FHAm?
IRRRUEH Gk 7 HiE TR E
T RILAESSH 173,200  Commercial 228,700 Phased 81,000 - 50%
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park Tz Construction
No. 55, Changshan Road, Jiangyin Residential 135,000  Stage 64,600 - 50%
363,700 145,600 145,600 -
EERENES GES SIS
BEM AEORE FER 357,800 Commercial 586,100  Phased 145,400 44,000 50%
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park =x Construction
Chunhui Road, Dadukou District, Residential 308,800 Stage 85,600 - 50%
Chongging
894,900 231,000 44,000
RBRZBRTEE FE 7 B TRE
AEm BERRMAER 58,650 Residential 122,100 Phased 84,100 - 60%
BAAER Construction
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden Stage
Liaohe Road West, Economic & Technical
Development Zone, Dalian
RERRE-4 BEREE 7 B TR E
EEM EAKE6615 414954 Commercial & 413,100 Phased 238,600 97,800 100%
Changchun Tian An City One Residential Construction
No. 661, Guigu Street, Changchun Stage
REXZBEH EE3 2 B T
REm BEE ARBEIR 588,075  Commercial 918,100  Phased 119,600 96,300 50%
Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park =z Construction
No.1 Tianan Road, Xiging District, Tianjin Residential 298,000  Stage 98,800 - 50%
1,216,100 218,400 96,300
REXRZEZR BE DEEIER
REM RER 582,000  Commercial 934,400 Phased - 185,800 100%
Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port" tx Construction
Dongli District, Tianjin Residential 385,000  Stage - - 100%
1,319,400 - 185,800
BEEXZBEY A% 7 HiE TRE
BEM WG E - &5 HE805H 313,466 Commercial 328,000  Phased 93,900 - 50%
Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park FE Construction
No. 88, Chunyang Road, Residential 194,900 Stage 83,700 - 50%
Chengyang District,
Qingdao 522,900 177,600 S
ez Notes:

(1 BEFHE50%E 17 # -

2 LERBRE-Z-R"EF+-A=1t-RZEHREH-

(1) Agreement for disposal of 50% interests was signed.

(2) The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2016.
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RRPUWEEHN
PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES UNDER CONSTRUCTION

SEES
BHEE
Gross FEEIFH
BEEE SEfGER Floor Area Estimated
HE AW Gross Interest Held Attributable Completion
Project Name Floor Area by the Group  to the Group Year
1. RNRZEA (ZH) 582,700 50% 291,300 2018
Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park (Phase 2)
2. RINRLZREMEIEH (M) 44,500 50% 22,200 2017
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park (Phase 4)
3. BILRZEGEER (AR AH) 127,000 45% 57,200 2017/2018
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park (Phases 8 and 9)
4, BEMEGRZENES (—H_#tR_H) 157,300 100% 157,300 2017
Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City
(Phase 1 Part 2 and Phase 2)
5. RERREMWEH (RH) 95,200 39% 37,100 2017
Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 5)
6. REBRRTHEHN (—H) 102,300 45.05% 46,100 2017
Dongguan Fenggang Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1)
7. REBEALZEAEXE (—H—#t) 5,300 25% 1,300 2017
Dongguan Coolpad Tian An Cloud Park
(Phase 1 Part 1)
8. FBRZEXFE (FBR) 65,100 100% 65,100 2018
Shanghai Tian An Sunshine Peninsula
(Western Phase)
9. MRARIE 19,200 60% 11,500 2018
Nanjing La Vita
10.  FRAREWM (MH) 25,000 100% 25,000 2017
Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 4)
1. EBRRREWN (—HH#) 23,900 100% 23,900 2017
Nantong Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1 Part 2)
12 EMRZEWM (ZH ) 55,400 50% 27,700 2018
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 2 Part 2)
13, BERREWM(=H) 44,000 50% 22,000 2017
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 3)
4. RERZEW(EH_R=4) 97,800 100% 97,800 2017
Changchun Tian An City One
(Phase 4 Parts 2 and 3)
15, RERREWM (ZHKMHA) 96,300 50% 48,200 2017
Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park (Phases 2 and 4)
16. RERREEZHE(—H) 185,800 100% 185,800 2017
Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port (Phase 1)
mE
Total: 1,726,800

Wit ERBREBE-Z-R"EF+-_A=T—"RZEHR

#lo

1,119,500

Note: The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2016
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PROPERTY
SEEL
L/ES BHE &8 BEEE
BEER R E R Frit ez GFA
MELR Property Car Parking  Interest Held  Attributable A%
Property Name GFA Space GFA by the Group  to the Group ~ Use
75 Kkm? 75 Rkm? FHAKm?
R YIIK &2 205
Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park 10,540 - 50% 5270 REENMRAR
—FIKRZEF BB ES 8 Commercial and office
Shenzhen Tian An Innovation Science and
Technology Plaza, Phase 1
—RYIRZBIF R S — 58 4,400 - 50% 2,200 @EERBAE
Shenzhen Tian An Innovation Science and Commercial and office
Technology Plaza, Phase 2
—RINEHRRKRE 20,530 - 50% 10260 EERMPQE
Shenzhen Cyber Times Building Commercial and office
—RIBERRRRAERKRE 13,340 - 50% 6,670 EERNNE
Shenzhen Futian Tian An Hi-Tech Commercial and office
Venture Park
RIS R K E2612 900 - 100% 900 AR
26/F, Shenzhen Cyber Times Building Office
RINRZ B K E2018 850 - 100% 850 AR
20/F, Shenzhen Tian An International Building Office
RINE R 1,760 - 100% 1,760 ¥
Shenzhen Jin An Garden Residential
RINRLHER 22,200 - 100% 22,200 =
Shenzhen Tian An Park Place Residential
RINREZEA—H 60,880 - 50% 30,440 PEHERBAE
Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park Phase 1 Commercial and office
RINK %88 i BB 26,300 - 50% 13,200 PEERBDE
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park Commercial and office
RERTHHN 4,430 = 39% 1,730 HE
Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
BMRZEBOMEERRE 20,880 = 50% 10,440 EE
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Commercial
Ecological Park
IR % #8 B 18,260 = 45% 8,220 WE
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park Commercial
EBXRZHL 22,350 = 98% 21,900 EERBOE
Shanghai Tian An Centre Commercial and office
EBRZHLE 8 11 168 R19E 6,620 = 100% 6,620 PRE
5/F, 8/F, 11/F, 16/F and 19/F, Office

Shanghai Tian An Centre
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MERBEREESR
PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS

SEEY
M BE £ BEER
BEER BEER Fiif 32 GFA
MELR Property Car Parking  Interest Held  Attributable ~ Fi%
Property Name GFA Space GFA by the Group  to the Group ~ Use
F 73 Km? F 73 Km? I3 Km?
LERERREZEBNLE 68,660 - 100% 68,660 I%E
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments Residential
LETERE 1,520 - 99% 1,500 X
Shanghai The Riverside Commercial
LBHRGERE 2,800 - 100% 2,800 fE%E
Shanghai Elegant Garden Residential
BHRTKE 1,420 - 95% 1,350 A
Wuxi Tian An Building Office
EHIILLES 2,830 - 95% 2,690 EX
Wuxi Redhill Peninsula Commercial
BHRAREEN 21,880 - 100% 21,880 A%
Wuxi Tian An Intelligent Park Commercial
HRAZERAE 77,100 - 100% 77,100  BAREHDE
Nanjing Tian An International Building Commercial and office
HRAZHER 30,060 - 100% 30,060 FEE
Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
BN E 9,090 - 100% 9,090 EX
Changzhou New City Garden Commercial
BNK 2 B 35,930 - 50% 17,960  HE
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
MBRRERAEME 720 - 100% 720 A
4/F, Nantong Sun Hai Tung Building Office
RRSA 7 EE 1,300 - 100% 1,300 X
2/F, Block 17, Nantong Jin Xiu Court Commercial
HBARIEE 4,600 - 100% 4,600 FEX
Nantong Tian An Garden Commercial
HRXTHEN 21,580 - 100% 21,580  AE
Nantong Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
TRRZHE 22,300 - 50% 1,150 HE
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
TRRZHE 2,100 - 50% 1,050 %
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park Residential
ERRZHEN 7,400 - 50% 3,700 HE
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
ERRZHBR 1,050 - 50% 520 %

Chonggqing Tian An Cyber Park Residential
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MERBEREESR
SRS
/S BE &H BEER
1R R 12 [ [E 7R i R GFA
MEER Property Car Parking  Interest Held  Attributable %%
Property Name GFA Space GFA by the Group  to the Group ~ Use
¥ Km? 75 Km? 7 Km?
LRIMHTLAE 50 - 90.65% 40 HEE
Beijing Wangfujing Century Square Commercial
I FB A 560 - 100% 560 £
Beijing Lakeside Garden Residential
ERRLZRE 22,170 - 100% 22,170 =%
Beijing Park Apartments Residential
RERZBRILE 290 - 60% 170 =
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden Residential
RERRERKE 52,420 - 100% 52,420 AR
Dalian Tian An International Tower Office
EERRE N 14,460 - 100% 14,460 HE
Changchun Tian An City One Commercial
RERZHHBR 30,470 - 50% 15230 B
Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
BEERLHHH 16,630 - 50% 8310 X
Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
BERBET D 12,880 - 72.52% 9,340 HE
Hong Kong Harbour Crystal Centre Commercial
ERBETL 820 - 36.26% 300 EE
Hong Kong Harbour Crystal Centre Commercial
BEBETIEDRDL 24,720 - 30.21% 7,460 L
Hong Kong Harbour Industrial Centre Industrial
BEREBEIEDD 68,910 - 30.21% 20,820 I¥
Hong Kong Oceanic Industrial Centre Industrial
ERTRBETL 2,550 - 45.32% 1,160  HE
Hong Kong Queen’s Centre Commercial
BEREIRTZH D 12,470 - 45.32% 5650 T
Hong Kong Wah Shun Industrial Centre Industrial
BERALFS 24,800 - 30.21% 7,490  fEE
Hong Kong Redhill Peninsula Residential
EBERFL 500 - 90.65% 460  EE
Hong Kong Billion Centre Commercial
ER%E 220 - 90.65% 200 fEE
Hong Kong Fortar Residential
ERBGTE 100 - 90.65% 90 =
Hong Kong South Horizons Residential
831,600 586,700
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS

SEEY
LES BE £ BEER
BEER BEER P4t e GFA
MEELR Property Car Parking  Interest Held  Attributable ~ Fi%
Property Name GFA Space GFA by the Group  to the Group ~ Use
F 75 Km? F 73 Km? I3 Km?
LRRZPL-EE - 7,770 98% 7,610  EE
Shanghai Tian An Centre, Car Parking Space Car Parking Space
LRRRER-E& - 3,180 100% 3,180 HE
Shanghai Central Garden, Car Parking Space Car Parking Space
LERERFARBNAE-BE - 2,510 100% 2,510 HE
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments, Car Parking Space
Car Parking Space
EEERTL-ERE - 2,340 90.65% 2,120 EE
Hong Kong Harbour Crystal Centre, Car Parking Space
Car Parking Space
LRRERRARENAE -8 M 10,600 - 100% 10,600  &Fff
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments, Clubhouse
Clubhouse
BHERE-8M 3,670 - 100% 3,670 EAT
Wauxi The Manhattan, Clubhouse Clubhouse
14,270 15,800 29,690
Bt - Note:

FERBEZZ—AFF+_A=t+—BHZERREE- The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2016.
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance within a sensible framework with an emphasis
on the principles of transparency, accountability and independence.
The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) believes that good
corporate governance is essential to the success of the Company and
to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT

In the light of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”), the Board has reviewed the
corporate governance practices of the Company with the adoption of
the various enhanced procedures which are detailed in this report.
The Company has applied the principles of, and complied with, the
applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the year ended
31st December, 2016, except for certain deviations as specified
with considered reasons for such deviations as explained below. The
Board will review the current practices at least annually, and make
appropriate changes if considered necessary.
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THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises twelve directors (“Directors”) in total,
with five Executive Directors, three Non-Executive Directors and four
Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs”). The composition of
the Board during the year and up to the date of this report is set out as
follows:

Executive Directors:

Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman)

Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director)
Ma Sun (Deputy Managing Director)
Edwin Lo King Yau

Tao Tsan Sang

Non-Executive Directors:
Lee Seng Hui (Chairman)
Moses Cheng Mo Chi

Lee Shu Yin

INEDs:

Francis J. Chang Chu Fai
Jin Hui Zhi

Ngai Wah Sang

Lisa Yang Lai Sum

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” section in
the Directors’ Report on pages 68 to 73. Other than that Mr. Lee Seng
Hui, the Chairman of the Board, is a cousin of Mr. Patrick Lee Seng
Wei, the Managing Director of the Company, there are no family or
other material relationships among members of the Board.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Process

During the year, the Non-Executive Directors (a majority of whom are
independent) provided the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
“Group”) with a wide range of expertise and experience. Their
active participation in the Board and committee meetings brought
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group’s strategy,
performance and management process, taking into account the
interests of all shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the Company
has had four INEDs representing one-third of the Board. At least
one of the INEDs has the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise under Rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Board has received from each INED an
annual confirmation of his/her independence and considers that all
the INEDs are independent under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Group, and to review
and approve the Group’s annual and interim results and other ad
hoc matters which need to be dealt with. During the year, six Board
meetings were held and the individual attendance records of each
Director at the meetings of the Board, Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and general meetings during the year ended 31st
December, 2016 are set out below:
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

REPORT

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Board Process (continued)

HE/ BTeaREZRY
Number of meetings attended/held

FHZES

Remuneration

ENRZEES
Audit
Committee

E N
General

Committee Meetings

HiTES: Executive Directors:

REW (5/E/E) Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman) 1/6 0/3
TR (EFELE) Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director) 6/6 0/3
S (5/#3) Ma Sun (Deputy Managing Director) 5/6 0/3
HR Edwin Lo King Yau 6/6 3/3
g4 Tao Tsan Sang 6/6 3/3
FHTES: Non-Executive Directors:

FHE(LE) Lee Seng Hui (Chairman) 6/6 3/3
gRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi 5/6 23 0/3
FHIE Lee Shu Yin 6/6 23
BUNHTES: INEDs:

HE Francis ). Chang Chu Fai 6/6 1/1 3/3 13
EBS Jin Hui Zhi 4/6 11 313 03
mEL Ngai Wah Sang 6/6 11 33 13
BB% Lisa Yang Lai Sum 6/6 11 3/3 213

REFSRTAER L EFEIRZBRASEERE
Rig 2FELERE 2FRTPHER EFZ
EREFRE2E (REERZEQZER
BERANRRZS EER ANEMBERBER
M BEEE - BEEGCHAERERRTT
BEBAE YHWTEZES (HARRKEER
BREEE)ET S -EERRARFERE
BRI AEmSIE  WARKHRE
EeEdtas MER UREREBEEERITR
USSR R

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual operating budget,
annual and interim results, approval of Directors’ appointment
or re-appointment (based on the recommendations made by the
Nomination Committee), material contracts and transactions,
corporate governance as well as other significant policy and financial
matters. The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to
the executive management under the instruction/supervision of
the Executive Committee which has its specific written terms of
reference. The respective functions of the Board and management of
the Company have been formalised and set out in writing and will be
reviewed and updated by the Board from time to time to ensure that
they are consistent with the existing rules and regulations.



TEERBE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

BEEg )
EEERF(A)
EEerMeanBTANNEFRERT

NEEZEEHFEER - AHEFTEERE R
SRTEREFEDTORZBH UERE
EAREREBIERMIAGHHERERN K
RAZARWE (RRAWE]) HHEZTEER
mEEZHE UREREETHAEARA
KiRpl- B LN EFE XM —RERTT
EREEEEE (KIATERT  TMERARE
MEEEEH)NEL=—REXTERES &
NEZFERACHRZNBNER T —RESS
SHRELN AHEREFEMNARLER A
EERCHEOBHARMERT LHEFMES
REBEHAIEBAE  WMEMAEREANER-

REEEGRTEN HWEIBRRAEETHEE
ZERTERZEETHFREZSAREENXN
ZHm@ER AAREHRENEAAHZIES
SR LRE -ARF ZAEMERMAA (THEH
BRRAA) TRARE - BRE R ATt 2 GISMERSN -
EETEMMLERRESHEEMETHEA
BAEEANZ 2 EMANRLHFZEETERE
RETRR AT ERAERZFTEH LD
B2 EENBA -

BRESERESHESTS XM REBER &
ARAARMESKERLRE EFEMRE
EMAMER KB EEARR 2 B REEA
B-BEMERHERHLITRAEEBERE
ERMEZBMERNERZER UERESE
TRRFEFLEERES WM EEEFD
R-ZFZRAFAAHE BRESERITER
B AEEEZBER TS RBUEEER A
FAEEERAARAEE-

REHPEKREBRAR
2016 F iR

35

REPORT

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Process (continued)

Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in advance to
facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14 days’ notice
of a Board meeting is normally given to all Directors who are given
an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda. The
company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) assists
the Chairman of the Board in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are complied
with. The agenda and the accompanying Board papers are normally
sent to all Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a
regular Board meeting (and so far as practicable for such other Board
meetings). Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to
all Directors for their comment before being tabled at the following
Board meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the Company
Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

According to the current Board practice, if a substantial Shareholder
or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by
the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter
will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting.
The articles of association of the Company (“Articles of Association”)
also stipulate that save for the exceptions as provided therein, a
Director shall abstain from voting on any Board resolution and not
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving any contract or
arrangement in which such Director or any of his/her close associates
has a material interest.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related
materials and has access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management. Directors
will be continuously updated on the major development of the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance practices. In
addition, a written procedure has been established since June 2005 to
enable the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost
to be borne by the Company.
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EECREEERRE Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

FRESXREFE ESHELFEHEKLEN  For continuous professional development, in addition to Directors’

MARRERER N2 X MEEIN EEL attendance at meetings and review of papers and circulars sent by the

B2 REBENT management of the Company, Directors participated in the activities
including the following:

SEBAEXBEEY
Participation in Continuous
Professional Development Activities
HERESEEEH
a1 Ve Tin-v4
HE/ 83
RREREH Attending trainings/
Reading briefings/seminars/
Regulatory BH#ER  conference relevant
Name of Directors Updates Site Visit  to Directors’ duties
HTES: Executive Directors:
REW (AIZ/E) Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman) v /
FHE(EELLE) Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director) / v/
S0 (FEz) Ma Sun (Deputy Managing Director) / / v/
BRHh Edwin Lo King Yau v/ v/
&4 Tao Tsan Sang v v/
FUTES: Non-Executive Directors:
FHE () Lee Seng Hui (Chairman) / v/
BRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi 7 /
FHE Lee Shu Yin / v/ v/
BUFHTES: INEDs:
B Francis J. Chang Chu Fai / v/
TES Jin Hui Zhi / /
REL Ngai Wah Sang / / v/
BRB% Lisa Yang Lai Sum / / /
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Diversity

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy in December
2013 which sets out the objectives and principles regarding board
diversity for the purpose of achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives of balanced diversity at the Board as far as practicable.
Board appointments will be based on merit and candidates will be
considered against measurable objectives, taking into account the
Company’s business and needs.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity criteria,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, knowledge, professional experience and skills. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and the contribution that the
selected candidates may bring to the Board.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive (“CE”) should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Lee Seng Hui, being the
Chairman of the Board, is primarily responsible for the leadership of
the Board, ensuring that (i) all significant policy issues are discussed
by the Board in a timely and constructive manner; (ii) all Directors
are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings; and (iii)
the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information. The
functions of the CE are performed by Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei, the
Managing Director of the Company, who is responsible for the day-
to-day management of the Group’s business. Their responsibilities are
clearly segregated and have been set out in writing and approved by
the Board in June 2005, and subsequently updated in April 2012.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee include the
nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria for the
selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship of the
Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package
from the Company Secretary on the first occasion of his/her
appointment. This induction package is a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the responsibilities and on-going obligations
to be observed by a director pursuant to the Companies Ordinance,
Listing Rules and Securities and Futures Ordinance. In addition, this
induction package includes materials briefly describing the operations
and business of the Company, the latest published financial reports
of the Company and the documentation for the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Board. Directors will be continuously
updated on any major developments of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep
of good corporate governance practices.

All Non-Executive Directors (including INEDs) of the Company were
appointed for a specific term, but subject to the relevant provisions
of the Articles of Association or any other applicable laws whereby
the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office but eligible
for re-election. The term of appointment of the Non-Executive
Directors (including INEDs) has been renewed for further two years
commencing from Tst January, 2017.

According to the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting of the Company (“AGM”), one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation. Further, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the next following general meeting
of the Company whilst for those appointed as an addition to the Board
shall hold office until the next following AGM and in both cases,
those Directors shall then be eligible for re-election at the relevant
meeting. Every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.



ﬁ%ﬁ/ﬂ#ﬁ

REHPEKREBRAR
2016 F iR

39

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EERBRE

EFE2RARTEEE
FOAREEEE AR

El, \EE I[EBA
%%%iﬁﬁmml

(i) HIEMBEHARRZEEEABRNLER

(i) B MEREENSRERABZEIR

BEEEERE.
(i) M RERARBIEETEEREERTE

TEZERRER:
(iv) BT B REREBREFZRTEIR
BRFM (B K

v) BEARBEETEREAR
EEEEABRENIKE -

ST RIZ IR K
R-B-RERBEARERHL EFECE
REBEEBEREETEREABAE-
EEZET

EFxeCIZERES" &%k%§AE %

MEZEe BRZEEANTRES £FL8E
MAEmARIAERERE -ZBEG 2 MA

E

EFCHIRBROBAAWERT  LWIRMH
BIATE2REZTENEEN MEZEQER
EEQERARATEERE (HER) EEEE

FIEFRLY (RARE [EFE] —HRR
M RAIITIERA T HMEERANEEESH -

HE B

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties
and has adopted the written terms of reference on its corporate
governance functions in April 2012.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance
functions include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

In 2016 and up to the date of this report, the Board has performed the
corporate governance duties in accordance with its terms of reference.
BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including a
Nomination Committee, a Remuneration Committee, an Audit
Committee and an Executive Committee, each of which has
its specific written terms of reference. Copies of minutes of all
meetings and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by
the Company Secretary, are circulated to all Board members and
the committees are required to report back to the Board on their
decisions and recommendations where appropriate. The procedures
and arrangements for a Board meeting, as mentioned in the section
headed “The Board” of this report, have been adopted for the
committee meetings so far as practicable.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since March 2012
and is chaired by an INED and comprises a majority of INEDs.
Currently, the Nomination Committee consists of five members,
including Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee), Mr. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Mr. Jin Hui Zhi and Mr.
Ngai Wah Sang, all being the INEDs, and Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau,
being an Executive Director. The Nomination Committee is provided
with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access
to independent professional advice according to the Company’s
policy if considered necessary. The major roles and functions of the
Nomination Committee are included in its terms of reference, which
are available on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the Company.

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when necessary in
accordance with its terms of reference and may also deal with matters
by way of circulation. In 2016, no Nomination Committee meeting
was held while the Nomination Committee dealt with matters by
way of circulation. In 2016 and up to the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
proposed resolutions for re-election of the retiring Directors at
2016 AGM and 2017 AGM;

(ii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the renewal
of the terms of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors
(including the INEDs) for two years commencing from 1st January,
2017;

(iii

=

reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board and assessed the independence of each INED; and

(iv) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
extension of the retirement age under the employment contract of
the Managing Director.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established since June 2005
and currently consists of four members, including Mr. Francis J. Chang
Chu Fai (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Jin Hui Zhi,
Mr. Ngai Wah Sang and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum, all being the INEDs.
The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties and has access to independent professional advice
according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary. The major
roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are included in its
terms of reference, which are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are in
compliance with the code provision B.1.2 of the CG Code, but with a
deviation from the code provision that the Remuneration Committee
shall make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors only and not senior management
(as opposed to executive directors and senior management under the
code provision). The reasons for the above derivation are summarised
as below:

(i) the Board believes that the Remuneration Committee is not
properly in a position to evaluate the performance of senior
management and that this evaluation process is more effectively
carried out by the Executive Directors;

(ii) the Executive Directors must be in a position to supervise and
control senior management and thus must be able to control their
compensation; and

(iii) there is no reason for Executive Directors to pay senior
management more than industry standards and thus Shareholders
will benefit by reducing costs in the fixing of such compensation
packages.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. One Remuneration Committee
meeting was held in 2016 and the attendance of each member is set
out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

In addition to the Remuneration Committee meeting, the
Remuneration Committee also dealt with matters by way of
circulation during 2016. In 2016 and up to the date of this report, the
Remuneration Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the existing
policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors;

(ii) reviewed the remuneration packages of all the Executive and
Non-Executive Directors (including the INEDs) for the year ended

31st December, 2015;

(iii

=

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the bonus
for the year ended 31st December, 2015, the increment in salary
for the year 2016 of the Executive Directors and the increment in
service fees of the INEDs from the year 2017 onwards;

(iv) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
Directors’ fee for the year 2016 onwards; and

(v) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the renewal
of the employment contract of the Chairman of the Board.

Each Director will be entitled to a Director’s fee. Further remuneration
payable to Directors (including any service fees of the INEDs) for
their additional responsibilities and services will depend on their
respective contractual terms under their employment contracts or
service contracts as approved by the Board on the recommendation of
the Remuneration Committee. Details of the Directors’ remuneration
are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements whereas
detailed changes in the emoluments of certain Directors during the
interim period and up to the date of the Interim Report were also
disclosed in the Interim Report of the Company dated 19th August,
2016. Details of the remuneration policy of the Group are also set out
in the “Employee and Training” section contained in the Directors’
Report on page 87.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since November 1999 and
currently consists of five Non-Executive Directors, four of whom are
INEDs. To retain independence and objectivity, the Audit Committee
is chaired by an INED with appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The current
members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Ngai Wah Sang (Chairman
of the Audit Committee), Mr. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Dr. Moses
Cheng Mo Chi, Mr. Jin Hui Zhi and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum. The Audit
Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its
duties and has access to independent professional advice according
to the Company’s policy if considered necessary. The major roles
and functions of the Audit Committee are included in its terms of
reference, which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are revised from time
to time to comply with the code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code,
but with deviations from the code provision of the audit committee’s
responsibility to:

(i) implement policy on the engagement of the external auditors to
supply non-audit services;

(ii) ensure the management has performed its duty to have effective
risk management and internal control systems; and

(iii) ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors,
and ensure that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the listed
company.

The Board considers that the Audit Committee shall recommend (as
opposed to implement under the code provision) the policy on the
engagement of the external auditors to supply non-audit services for
the following reasons:

(i) it is proper and appropriate for the Board and its committees to
develop policy and make appropriate recommendations;

(ii) the proper and appropriate mechanism for implementation of
such policy and recommendations is through the Executive
Directors and management; and

(iii) INEDs are not in an effective position to implement policy and
follow up the same on a day-to-day basis.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee (continued)

Further, the Board considers that the Audit Committee only possesses
the effective ability to scrutinise (as opposed to ensure under the
code provision) whether management has performed its duty to have
effective risk management and internal control systems. The Audit
Committee is not equipped to ensure that the same is in place as
this would involve day-to-day supervision and the employment of
permanent experts. The Audit Committee is not in a position either
to ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors
but it can promote the same. Similarly, the Audit Committee is not
in a position to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced but it can check whether it is adequately resourced.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in accordance
with its terms of reference. Three Audit Committee meetings were held
in 2016 and the attendance of each member is set out in the section
headed “The Board” of this report.

In addition to the Audit Committee meetings, the Audit Committee
also dealt with matters by way of circulation during 2016. In 2016
and up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee performed the
works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees proposed by the
external auditor in respect of the interim results review for the six
months ended 30th June, 2016 (“2016 Interim Review”) and the
final audit for the year ended 31st December, 2016 (“2016 Final
Audit”) of the Group;

(ii) reviewed the independent review report/audit completion report
from the external auditor and the management’s response in
relation to the final audit for the year ended 31st December,
2015, 2016 Interim Review and 2016 Final Audit;

(iii

=

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
financial reports for the year ended 31st December, 2015, for
the six months ended 30th June, 2016 and for the year ended
31st December, 2016 together with the relevant management
representation letters and announcements;

(iv) reviewed the internal audit review reports prepared by the
Internal Audit Function of the Group (“IA Function”);
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee (continued)

(v) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the updated
reports on substantiation of the resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget;

(vi) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the revised
Related Party Transaction Policies and Procedures;

(vii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the
Procedures for the Identification and Monitoring of Connected
Transactions, Whistle Blower Policy, Policy on the Disclosure of
Inside Information and Policy on Risk Management, Compliance
and Internal Control Procedures; and

(viiiyreviewed the Audit Planning Report for the year ended 3Tst
December, 2016 and the Proforma Independent Auditor’s Report
pursuant to the new and revised Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since February 2004
and currently consists of four Executive Directors, being Messrs.
Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Chairman of the Executive Committee), Ma
Sun, Edwin Lo King Yau and Tao Tsan Sang. The Executive Committee
is vested with all the general powers of management and control of
the activities of the Group as are vested in the Board, save for those
matters which are reserved for the Board’s decision and approval
pursuant to the written terms of reference of the Executive Committee.
The terms of reference of the Executive Committee were revised in
March 2008 following the adoption of the Whistle Blower Policy by
the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Executive Committee (continued)

The Executive Committee will meet as and when necessary to discuss
the operating affairs of the Group and may also deal with matters by
way of circulation. The Executive Committee is mainly responsible
for undertaking and supervising the day-to-day management and is
empowered:

(i) to formulate and implement policies for the business activities,
internal control and administration of the Group; and

(ii) to plan and decide on strategies to be adopted for the business
activities of the Group within the overall strategy of the Group as
determined by the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Cindy Yung Yee Mei is the Company Secretary of the Company.
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on board
governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and for facilitating communications among
Directors as well as with the Shareholders and management.

Ms. Yung is an associate of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries.
During the year, Ms. Yung undertook over 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update her skills and knowledge.

CODES FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following
a specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code as the Code for
Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees to regulate dealings in
the securities of the Company by certain employees of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries who are considered to be likely in possession
of inside information in relation to the Company or its securities.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing,
with the support from the Finance Department, the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31st December, 2016, the
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong have been
adopted and the requirements of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance were complied with. The Directors believe
that they have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, and made judgements and estimates that are prudent
and reasonable and have ensured that the consolidated financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor,
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, are set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 89 to 99.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has the responsibility to review annually the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems covering
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
In 2016, the Board, through the Audit Committee, had
reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, and their training programmes and budget.

controls.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss; to manage rather than completely
eliminate the risk of system failure; and to assist in the achievement
of the Group’s agreed objectives and goals. They have a key role
in the management of risks that are significant to the fulfilment of
business objectives. In addition, they should provide a basis for
the maintenance of proper accounting records and assist in the
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (CONTINUED)
Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)

Systems and procedures are put in place to identify, evaluate and
manage the risks of different businesses and activities. The annual
assessment is performed through the completion by the relevant
business units and department heads of their respective responsibility
statements as co-ordinated by the IA Function. The result and findings
are reported to the Chairman of Executive Committee who puts
forward the same to the Audit Committee and the Board for review on
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems,
which have been considered effective and adequate.

A discussion of the policies and procedures on the management of
each of the major types of risk which the Group is facing is included
in note 47b to the consolidated financial statements.

Internal Audit

The Head of the Group’s Internal Audit reports to the Chairman of
the Board and the Audit Committee. The IA Function generally carries
out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems.

The Board, through the Audit Committee and with the assistance
of the IA Function, conducted the risk management and internal
control reviews of the property development and property investment
group for the year ended 31st December, 2016. The IA Reports were
distributed to the Audit Committee and the Board for their review. The
IA Function monitored that the issues raised in the IA Reports would
be addressed and managed promptly by the management.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (CONTINUED)
External Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid to the Group's external auditor
is set out as follows:

THET

Services rendered for the Group
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HK$’000

Audit services 3,900
Non-audit services (including review of

compliance of Occupational Retirement

Scheme Ordinance and review of interim

results, continuing connected transactions,

working capital forecasts and proforma

financial information) 2,043

Total 5,943

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is disseminated
to Shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal
channels, which include interim and annual reports, announcements
and circulars. Such published documents together with the latest
corporate information and news are also made available on the
website of the Company.

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to
communicate directly with Shareholders. The Chairman actively
participates at the AGM and personally chairs the meeting to
answer any questions from Shareholders. The chairmen of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
or in their absence, another member of the respective committees
or failing that their respective duly appointed delegate, are also
available to answer questions at the AGM. The chairman of any
independent board committee formed as necessary or pursuant to the
Listing Rules (or if no such chairman is appointed, at least a member
of the independent board committee) should also be available to
answer questions at any general meeting of Shareholders to approve
a connected transaction or any other transaction that is subject to
independent Shareholders’ approval.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(CONTINUED)

During the year, the 2016 AGM was held on 20th May, 2016.
The attendance record of the Directors at the 2016 AGM and the
extraordinary general meetings held on 8th September, 2016 and 16th
November, 2016 is set out in the section headed “The Board” of this
report.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for each
substantial issue, including the re-election of retiring Directors.

The notice to Shareholders is to be sent in the case of AGM at least 20
clear business days before the meeting and to be sent at least 10 clear
business days in case of all other general meetings. An explanation
of the detailed procedures of conducting a poll is provided to the
Shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairman
answers questions from Shareholders regarding voting by way of a
poll. The poll results are published in the manner prescribed under the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings as at the date
of deposit of the requisition can request the Directors to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) by sending a written request
to the registered office of the Company (“Registered Office”). Such
requisition must state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the EGM and must be authenticated by the person or persons
making it. Besides, Shareholders may make a proposal (“Proposal”) at
a Shareholders” meeting by submitting it in written form to the Board
at the Registered Office in accordance with the Companies Ordinance
and the Articles of Association where applicable. The Proposal shall
be in the form of a proposed resolution, which shall clearly and
concisely set out the Proposal for discussion and be relevant to the
Company’s business scope.



TEERBRE

i?Wﬁ&ﬁﬁ@ﬁﬂ\\\ 51
2016 3R

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRR2BE (#)

EEZeER T —FNUASTE—EREREM
BEREER-Z—AF+-AELEFH K
RAKEREFSRI 2 EANEME AN KE
AEMRER AR EFHERZEE RIEHE
2 B o LA - AR ER IR A] BL AR B B AR AR
BERARFRGDBEECEEENERTER
ANREH

BRI DEEAKT

RAGEE QK FLIER BIERKE T
ZERERTH MAKSREVERERS
ZEEXE  BEFHHERNLIRER BEE
BRER NEERRNERTER - ARFIN
ECOR R R AR E R RS A RS M ER
NAZBERE-

EEFEE®

fuogivo-

-—

FRE
FTRIE

FE —T—tF=At+tH

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(CONTINUED)

The Board has established a shareholders’” communication policy
in April 2012, and subsequently updated in December 2015. A
Shareholder may serve an enquiry to the Board at the Registered
Office for the attention of the Board in written form, which shall
state the nature of the enquiry and the reason for making the enquiry.
In addition, Shareholders can contact Tricor Secretaries Limited,
the share registrar of the Company, for any questions about their
shareholdings.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ENHANCEMENT

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying
and complying with the CG Code of the Stock Exchange but also
about promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate
culture. We will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve
our current practices on the basis of our experience, regulatory
changes and developments. Any views and suggestions from our
Shareholders to promote and improve our transparency are also
welcome.

On behalf of the Board

oo

-—

Lee Seng Hui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17th March, 2017
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APPROACH AND STRATEGY

Tian An China Investments Company Limited believes in delivering
long term, sustainable value creation to our shareholders. In doing
so, we recognise that the choices we make will have an impact on
the communities in which we carry on our business and we should
ensure such impact a positive one. We are committed to contributing
to the sustainable development of society and the environment, and
endeavour to embrace these principles as part of our practice and
governance. The Company has adopted a Sustainability Policy in
December 2016 and subsequently updated in March 2017 which
covers our principles in the area of employment and labour practices,
business integrity, the environment and the community.

This report outlines the Group’s sustainability initiatives and selected
Key Performance Indicators (“KP1”) that are material to the Group
and its stakeholders on Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG”) issues for the year ended 31st December, 2016. This report
supplements information disclosed in this annual report.

REPORTING SCOPE

The subject areas and aspects are presented based on the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (“ESG
Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”).

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT AND STAKEHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT

Amongst various environmental and social issues based on the
ESG Guide within the scope of sustainability, the below are the list
of issues that are considered to be material and significant to the
Group. The priorities are set based on management view as well as
conclusions from stakeholders’ engagement. We regularly engage key
stakeholders in daily operations through meetings, events, and other
communications and feedback channels. A survey was conducted
with a sampling of staff selected from various departments and
project managers to understand their specific views on the relevance
and materiality of various ESG aspects. Based on management view
as well as the survey results, the aspects and KPIs relevant for this
report’s disclosure is set as follows:
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT AND STAKEHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Material and relevant issues

Supply chain management (Aspect B5) general disclosure, KPl B5.2
Product responsibility (Aspect B6) general disclosure, KPI B6.2, B6.4,
B6.5

Anti-corruption (Aspect B7) general disclosure, KPI B7.2

Other relevant issues

Emissions (Aspect A1) general disclosure, KPI A1.1, A1.5, A1.6

Use of resources (Aspect A2) general disclosure, KPI A2.1, A2.3

The environment and natural resources (Aspect A3) general disclosure,
KPI'A3.1

Employment (Aspect B1) general disclosure, KPI B1.1

Health and safety (Aspect B2) general disclosure, KPI B2.3
Development and training (Aspect B3) general disclosure

Labour standards (Aspect B4) general disclosure
Community investment (Aspect B8) general disclosure, KPI B8.1, B8.2

All other aspects of KPI not mentioned above were concluded to be
not relevant for disclosure.

The following ESG issues are presented based on the classification of
provisions by the Stock Exchange’s ESG Guide.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Group's Sustainability Policy encompasses our general approach
towards environmental issues. We endeavour to:

observe relevant laws and regulations and aim to go beyond
minimum requirements;

— prevent/minimise air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste;

- make efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other
raw materials;
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

— minimise the impact of the Group’s activities on the environment
and natural resources; and

- engage our staff, customers and partners to promote
environmentally sustainable business practices and constantly re-
assess our processes to minimise environmental impact.

The Group’s principal business activities are the development of
apartments, villas, office buildings and commercial properties,
property investment and property management in Mainland China,
and property investment and property management in Hong Kong.
The construction-related works for our property development projects
are outsourced to independent contractors who are subject to various
relevant environmental laws and regulations, including those relating
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, efficient use of
energy, water and other raw materials, noise pollution control, air
pollution control, water pollution control, sewage drainage system
and waste treatment. We work closely with our contractors to achieve
creative, elegant and green designs while being compatible and
sensitive to our environmental and social responsibilities.

Emissions (Aspect A1)

The Group is not involved in any manufacturing activities and direct
participating in construction works. Emissions produced directly by
the Group only related to the 61 executive passenger vehicles in
Hong Kong and Mainland China. These are used for senior staff’s
local travel only as well as for entertainment. The scale and usage is
immaterial given the size of the Group’s assets and staff.

Other emissions produced are mostly on a “second degree” basis as
incurred during occasional business travels which is infrequent.

For the property development business, we keep track of the relevant
national and regional laws and regulations, such as the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China (H#E A RHEMER
BAR#EE) |, the Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People’s
Republic of China (P EARKXMBREZ EF(EL) , the Ambient
Air Quality Standards of the People’s Republic of China (HZE A
REMBIREZEZREZIZ%E) , the Environmental Quality Standard
for Noise of the People’s Republic of China (F#E AR ZLMEIEIR
BEEEIZAE) , etc. The Group strictly monitors and supervises our
contractors to go beyond the minimum requirements of the relevant
laws and regulations and avoid the violation made in our projects.
During 2016, the Company has no violation of the relevant laws and
regulations in relation to above environmental aspect.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)
Emissions (Aspect A1) (continued)

The activities of the property investment and property management
businesses are mostly carried out locally in project offices in
Mainland China and Hong Kong. In line with our policy to minimise
air and greenhouse gas emissions, the offices in most cities are
equipped with video conferencing facilities to minimise the need for
face to face meetings and keep business travelling to a minimum.
Only a small percentage of employees travel for business is noted.
There are no relevant laws and regulations applicable to our business
on this aspect.

Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and
The Environment and Natural Resources (Aspect A3)

We place a high priority on the efficient use of resources. With
2,113 staff across the Group, we consume considerable amounts
of electricity and paper and with the efficient use of such, we hope
to minimise our impact on the environment whilst we grow our
businesses. Water consumption is not relevant to our business as it
relates only to the personal consumption of our staff for their personal
hygiene.

Since December 2014, electronic board paper systems have been
promoted and implemented throughout the Group, allowing our
directors of the Company to access meeting papers online anytime,
anywhere with the use of portable electronic devices, improving
Board efficiency whilst saving papers.

Environmental protection guidelines in relation to energy savings and
reduction in paper consumption are circulated to all staff at head
office and project offices. For instance, staff are reminded to switch
off lights and equipment after work, during lunch break or during
the time working outside the office and wherever possible. Energy
efficient office equipment is always preferred in making purchase
decisions. During 2016, the Group’s total electricity consumption was
approximately 110.3 million kWh.

Throughout the Group, the following business processes were
implemented to improve efficiency and to reduce paper usage:

— electronic bank statements;

- recycling schemes of office equipments and supplies; and

internal electronic administration and communication platform.
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and
The Environment and Natural Resources (Aspect A3)
(continued)

For the property development business, the Group encourages and
implements the green design by strictly control the contractors to
implement various environmental protection management measures.

The contractors are requested to comply with the relevant laws and

regulations and are required to:

sprinkle the construction sites regularly to reduce the dust raising;
wash the cars and trucks when entry in and out the sites;

install temporary noise barriers and strictly follow operation
hours;

build waste water collection pipes and pools to collect household
and construction waste water and ensure that hazardous waste
water is properly discharged;

separate recyclable and non-recyclable construction wastes and
ensure they are properly treated; and

request to use energy saving systems and facilities, such as
solar panel, LED light, electric sensor system, double layer glass
window, external wall with thermal insulating material and
natural lighting concept, etc, in order to meet our green design
idea.

For the property investment and property management businesses,

eco-friendly options are often considered and where possible/

appropriate are implemented in operations and maintenance works.

These include:

use of solar panels on the roof top to generate clean energy in
supporting operation;

install sensors to turn off lighting and air-conditioning
automatically when not in use;

replace energy wasting lights with LED lights;
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and
The Environment and Natural Resources (Aspect A3)
(continued)

— use of double layer glass window for better thermos-insulating
effects to reduce energy consumption;

— use of reclaimed water for toilet flushing where appropriate;

— place the recycling bins in the prominent place to encourage
waste separation awareness amongst our staff and customer; and

— check the lighting, air-conditioning and water pipe systems
regularly to prevent the lost of natural resources.

Except for the abovementioned, the Group’s business has no direct
impact on the environment and natural resources.

B. SOCIAL ISSUES

The Company is substantially an investment holding company and
with subsidiaries involve in the development of apartments, villas,
office buildings and commercial properties, property investment and
property management in Mainland China, and property investment
and property management in Hong Kong. Our people are our
most important assets that drive the long term development of the
Company. The Group’s policy on employment is as follows:

— observing relevant laws and regulations;

— being an equal-opportunity employer, implement fair practices
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare for
our staff;

providing a safe, healthy and quality workplace and protecting
employees from occupational hazards;

promoting a good work-life balance for staff;
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

— investing in training and professional development of our staff
for the purpose of improving their knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work;

- maintaining an open dialogue with our staff, facilitating a
transparent two-way communication; and

- preventing child and forced labour.

Employment, Health and Safety and Labour Standards
(Aspects B1, B2, B4)

In Mainland China, staff employment is subject to the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China (R #E AR KXME L &)%) and
the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China (/%
ARFZMEIZEERE) . In Hong Kong, the Group’s employment
of staff is subject to the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum Wage
Ordinance, as well as the Employee’s Compensation Ordinance.
The Group has no known non-compliance with the above relevant
regulations.

Our compensation and benefits (including working hours,
rest periods, welfare) need to be competitive with other peers in the
similar sectors and in general exceeds the minimum as required by
the relevant regulations. Owing to the nature of our businesses, work
related injuries, occupational health issues and the incurrence of child
labour are not significant risk factors.

Further information on the Group’s human resources are also detailed
in the section headed “Directors” Report” on page 87 of this annual
report.

The Group endeavours to provide a safe and pleasant working
environment for our staff. On top of this, well-being programs such
as those promoting a good work-life balance are offered regularly to
staff.

As at 3Tst December, 2016, the Group employs a total of 2,113 staff
in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Employment, Health and Safety and Labour Standards
(Aspects B1, B2, B4) (continued)
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Development and Training (Aspect B3)

The Group is committed to fostering a culture of continuous learning
in our organisation. Emphasis is placed on staff training which is
tailored to equip our workforce with the necessary knowledge and
skills relevant for their work, as well as to build our talent pool.
Management is involved, together with professional trainers, in
designing training programmes to meet the demands of the work
place environment. Training content and topics are set to cover the
key aspects of our operations. Management development initiatives
currently include courses on the second language training, prevention
of bribery, bankruptcy laws, data privacy, technical skills, debt
collection skills, product knowledge, computer skills, customer
service techniques, communication and complaints handling.
Workshops for managerial and supervisory staff are provided and
are intended to enhance our employees’ career development.
There are also workshops specifically for managerial staff on career
development, team building and people management skills.

During 2016, the Group organised a seminar in relation to taxation
aspect in Nanjing and recorded around 80 staff participation. On top
of internal training, the Group also provides a study subsidy for staff to
advance their education after office works.
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)
Supply Chain Management (Aspect B5)

The Group’s main business suppliers include designers, contractors,
constructors, construction material suppliers, sales and leasing
agent, services providers, providers of information technology and
communication, legal and other business services as well as vendors
for office supplies. Their prices, suitability and reputation are the main
factors in engagement and procurement decision making.

The Group only engages local contractors with possession of relevant
qualification in relevant aspect and level of the construction works.
At least three contractors would make or be invited to make the
tender for a site project and we conduct tendering procedures on
the assessment and selection. We have well defined policies on
selecting of suitable contractors by checking their registered licenses,
qualification level, relevant experience and our project size. Those
contractors are selected carefully based on track record of good
practices, reputation and are subject to benchmarking, audits and
rotation. The contractors are also responsible to supervise and
monitor the construction works seriously. Our engineering department
regulates and monitors the cost control and construction progress
closely during construction with periodic on-site inspection and
stringent quality control procedures. We also set out provisions to the
contractors for occupational safety, good environmental practices and
social responsibility and ensure they have no violation of the relevant
laws and regulations of the Mainland China.

Product Responsibility (Aspect B6)

For the property development business in Mainland China, our
projects follow the relevant guidelines, laws and regulations
on property quality announced by the provincial and Central
governments. Our project engineers regularly inspect the building
materials and construction works so as to ensure the constructors
strictly abide by the relevant national laws and regulations to
construct reasonable quality and safety building and meet the
acceptable reliability level. During 2016, there were no known cases
of non-compliance with the above laws or regulations.

For the property rental and management services, the Group enhances
our facilities and equipment to improve service quality. We endeavour
to maintain a close relationship with our customer and pursue
customer satisfaction.
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)
Product Responsibility (Aspect B6) (continued)

Owing to the nature of the property development business where
a high price product is involved, reputational risk monitoring and
preventions are of utmost importance. We have various measures
in place to minimise risks. Results and response to property quality
are monitored on a timely basis. The Group provides comprehensive
after-sale services including handling customer complaints and
supervising the repair and ongoing maintenance of the properties
developed. During the defect liability period, we forward the defect
to our engineering department or contractors to follow up all the
substandard works reported by the purchasers. Contractors engaged
for construction are tightly monitored as discussed above.

For the business of property rental and management services, we have
a reception desk in property management office for each project. We
pay close attention to the customer dissatisfaction and forward the
complaint to relevant departments for follow-up. During 2016, the
complaint rate is low and most of the complainants accepted or were
satisfied with our replies. The Group put the best effort to response
instantly to the problem and complaint submitted by the tenant.

Servicing the property purchaser and tenant in Mainland China and
Hong Kong, we place a very high priority to uphold the customer
data privacy. Measures and clear guidelines are in place to ensure
customer’s personal data are protected against unauthorised or
accidental access, processing or erasure. Appropriate levels of security
protection were implemented by appropriate physical, electronic and
managerial measures to safeguard and secure customer’s personal
data. In addition, our Employee Manual requires employees to keep
confidential of the information which includes customer information
and states the proper procedures of handling customer data.

Anti-Corruption (Aspect B7)

A Whistle Blower Policy has been established to facilitate employees’
direct reporting of any unlawful conduct, any incident of corruption,
avoidance of internal controls, incorrect or improper financial or other
reporting to senior management. This policy is either circulated to
employees periodically or included in the Employee Manual of the
Group to facilitate employees’ easy access and refresh employees’
awareness of reporting.
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)
Community Investment (Aspect B8)

We strive to excel for our customers and undertake the responsibility
of a good corporate citizen contributing to the community by
encouraging our staff to enroll in charity and social services.

In Hong Kong, we participated in the activity of Hong Kong &
Kowloon Walk for Millions in January 2017 and recorded 16
staff participated in volunteering activities. We hope that through
the volunteer activities, we can help the underprivileged in the
community, like low-income senior citizens, senior citizens living
alone, children education, etc, by offering our care and concern.

Total donations of HK$1,163,000 were paid to a charitable institution
in Mainland China during 2016.

Apart from charitable activities, the Group is also involved in the
community via as an Ordinary Member of City University of Hong
Kong Foundation. We aim to contribute to the long term development
of the communities we operate in.
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) presents its annual
report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “Group”) for the year
ended 31st December, 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities and details of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures as at 31st December, 2016 are set out in notes 49, 50 and 51
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

The Group’s revenue for the year was derived mainly from activities
carried out in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). The breakdown
by principal activities of the Group’s revenue and the contribution to
profit before taxation for the year ended 31st December, 2016 is set
out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Detailed review of the Group’s business is set out in the Managing
Director’s Statement (“MDS”) on pages 5 and 6. Particulars of
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of the financial year are provided in note 48 “Events after the
Reporting Period” to the consolidated financial statements. Future
development of the Company’s business is set out in the MDS on
page 7. An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators is provided in the MDS and
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 to 14.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management framework.
Risk management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed
and updated to react to changes in market conditions and the
Group’s business strategy. The audit committee of the Company
(“Audit Committee”) reviews risk-related policies and scrutinises that
management has performed its duty to have effective risk management
and internal control systems necessary for monitoring and controlling
major risks arising from the Group’s business activities, changing
external risks and the regulatory environment, and reports to the
Board on the above.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)
Financial Risk

Financial risk includes market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
Market risk concerns that the value of an investment will change due
to movements in market factors and which can be further divided
into interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk. Credit
risk is the risk of losses arising from clients or counterparties failing
to make payments as contracted. Liquidity risk concerns that a given
security or asset cannot be traded readily in the market to prevent a
loss or make the required profit. Further discussion on financial risk
management is outlined in note 47b “Financial Risk Management
Objective and Policies” to the consolidated financial statements.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is concerned with possible losses caused by
inadequate or failed internal processes, people, systems or external
events. Operational risk is mitigated and controlled through
establishing robust internal controls, setting out clear lines of
responsibility, proper segregation of duties and effective internal
reporting and contingency planning. It is our corporate culture that
the business and operating line management are fully aware of, and
responsible for, managing the operational risks of their business
units on a day-to-day basis. Independent monitoring and reviews are
conducted by the Internal Audit Function of the Group which reports

regularly to the Chairman of the Board and the Audit Committee.
Uncertainties

The Group’s business and profitability growth in the year under
review are affected by the volatility and uncertainty of macro-
economic conditions in China. The policy change, interest rate
change, reserve requirement ratio change, demand-supply imbalance,
house price indexes and the overall economic conditions may induce
a material adjustment on the Group’s business, financial position and

results.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to
comply with the laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection legislated by the local government for developing and
managing the properties. The Group meets the criteria and standard
of noise pollution control, air pollution control, sewage drainage
system and construction waste treatment for construction as well as
encourages to make green in our projects.

The Group is also committed to building an eco-friendly corporation.
It is the Group’s aim to reduce the impacts of its operations on
the environment. The environmental policies of the Group include
minimizing consumption of paper and electricity, reducing waste and
promoting the use of electronic communication and storage.

Further information on the Group’s environmental issues also detailed
in the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
on pages 52 to 62 of this annual report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the year, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss on page 100 and in the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Board has declared a special dividend in form of distribution
in specie of 195,880,034 shares in Dan Form Holdings Company
Limited (“Dan Form Shares”) to the shareholder(s) of the Company
(“Shareholder(s)”) whose name(s) appear(s) on the register of members
of the Company as at the close of business on Friday, 28th April,
2017, other than certain non-qualifying overseas shareholders of the
Company, on the basis of 13 Dan Form Shares for every 100 shares
of the Company. Details are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the year, the Group acquired investment properties totalling
approximately HK$27,255,000 in value and certain inventories of
completed properties to a value of HK$190,890,000 were transferred
to investment properties. The Group revalued all of its investment
properties as at the year end date. The surplus arising on the
revaluation amounted to HK$118,092,000 and has been recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Details of these and other movements in the investment properties of
the Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
totalling approximately HK$12,445,000.

Details of these and other movements in property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTIES

Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31st December,
2016 are set out on pages 23 to 30.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURES
The Group has not issued any debentures during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares were
entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of
the year.

BORROWINGS

Bank loans and other borrowings which are repayable within one year
or on demand are classified as current liabilities. Repayment analysis
of interest-bearing and interest-free borrowings are set out in notes 34
and 35 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Song Zengbin
Patrick Lee Seng Wei
Ma Sun

Edwin Lo King Yau
Tao Tsan Sang

Non-Executive Directors:
Lee Seng Hui

Moses Cheng Mo Chi
Lee Shu Yin

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Francis J. Chang Chu Fai

Jin Hui Zhi

Ngai Wah Sang

Lisa Yang Lai Sum

In accordance with Article 105(A) of the articles of association of the
Company (“Articles of Association”), Messrs. Ma Sun, Edwin Lo King
Yau, Francis J. Chang Chu Fai and Ngai Wah Sang shall retire from
office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

A list of names of all the directors who have served on the boards
of the Company’s subsidiaries during the year are available on the
website of the Company under the “Corporate Governance” section.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Song Zengbin, aged 62, was appointed the Deputy Chairman and a
Non-Executive Director of the Company in June 2008 and was re-
designated as an Executive Director of the Company in April 2010.
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Song
graduated from the Civil Engineering Department of Dalian University
of Technology with a Master’s Degree in Engineering and is a state
registered construction engineer. He has more than thirty years of
experience in the fields of engineering and management by serving in
various senior roles in a design institute, several large state companies
and municipal government. Mr. Song has also been invited as a guest
professor for Dalian University of Technology since 2003.

Patrick Lee Seng Wei, aged 65, was appointed an Executive Director
of the Company in June 1996 and became the Chairman and
the Acting Managing Director of the Company in February 2004
and December 2005 respectively. He relinquished his role as the
Chairman and was re-designated from the Acting Managing Director
to the Managing Director of the Company in April 2007. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Being an architect,
he worked for IBM Australia before becoming involved in property
development in Malaysia and Hong Kong more than thirty years
ago. He has extensive experience in the property field. Mr. Lee was
appointed the chief executive and an executive director of Dan Form
Holdings Company Limited (“Dan Form”), a non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, in December 2016 and November 2016
respectively. He is a cousin of Mr. Lee Seng Hui (the Chairman of the
Company).

Ma Sun, aged 76, was appointed an Executive Director of the
Company in April 2003 and became an additional Deputy Managing
Director of the Company responsible for organising the investment
and development of the cyberpark projects of the Company in April
2009. Mr. Ma joined Sun Hung Kai Securities Limited (now known
as Sun Hung Kai Financial Limited) in 1984 and was then transferred
to the Group in 1985. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Besides holding a Bachelor’s Degree in Electrical
Engineering, he has extensive experience in electrical engineering
and over thirty years of experience in China commercial business,
financial investment and property development.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Executive Directors (continued)

Edwin Lo King Yau, aged 56, was appointed an Executive Director
of the Company in August 1999. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lo holds a Master’s Degree in
Applied Finance from Macquarie University, Australia and is a
chartered company secretary. He had served various executive roles in
several companies in Hong Kong including as company secretary for
public listed companies. Mr. Lo is also an executive director of Allied
Group Limited (“AGL”), a substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr.
Lo was appointed an executive director of Dan Form in November
2016.

Tao Tsan Sang, aged 52, was appointed an Executive Director of
the Company in October 2009. He is also the Financial Controller
and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He joined the
Company in May 1994. Mr. Tao holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is an
associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants. He has
extensive experience in accounting, financial management and China
business field. Mr. Tao was appointed an executive director of Dan
Form in November 2016.

Non-Executive Directors

Lee Seng Hui, aged 47, was appointed the Chairman and a Non-
Executive Director of the Company in April 2007. He is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lee graduated from the
Law School of the University of Sydney with Honours. Previously, he
worked with Baker & McKenzie and N M Rothschild & Sons (Hong
Kong) Limited. Mr. Lee is also the chief executive and an executive
director of each of AGL and Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited, both
are substantial shareholders of the Company. He is a non-executive
director of APAC Resources Limited (“APAC Resources”) and the non-
executive chairman of Mount Gibson Iron Limited (“Mount Gibson”).
Mount Gibson is a company listed on the Australian Securities
Exchange. Mr. Lee was appointed the chairman and a non-executive
director of Dan Form in December 2016 and November 2016
respectively. He is a cousin of Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei (the Managing
Director of the Company).
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Moses Cheng Mo Chi, aged 67, was appointed an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in May 1997 and was re-
designated as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2004. He is a practising solicitor and the consultant of P. C. Woo &
Co., a Hong Kong firm of solicitors after serving as its Senior Partner
from 1994 to 2015. Dr. Cheng is currently the chairman of the
Insurance Authority and chairman of the Process Review Panel for
the Securities and Futures Commission. He is also a member of the
Aviation Development and Three-runway System Advisory Committee
and a member of the Steering Committee on Strategic Review on
Healthcare Manpower Planning and Professional Development. Dr.
Cheng was the founding chairman of the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors of which he is now the Honorary President and Chairman
Emeritus. He was a member of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong
and the chairman of the Main Board Listing Committee and the
Growth Enterprise Market Listing Committee of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and a remuneration committee member of the
Financial Reporting Council in Hong Kong. He was also the chairman
of the Education Commission, the Free Kindergarten Education
Committee, the Advisory Committee on Post-office Employment for
former Chief Executives and Politically Appointment Officials, the
Advisory Committee on Post-service Employment on Civil Servants.
He also serves on the boards of various listed companies in Hong
Kong and overseas, both as independent non-executive director and
non-executive director, including ARA Asset Management Limited
(which is a listed company in Singapore), China Mobile Limited,
China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited, Guangdong
Investment Limited, K. Wah International Holdings Limited, Kader
Holdings Company Limited, Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited and
Towngas China Company Limited. He was previously a non-executive
director of Hong Kong Television Network Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Lee Shu Yin, aged 50, was appointed a Non-Executive Director
of the Company in March 2011. He holds a Master’s Degree in
Finance from the London Business School, and Bachelor of Arts and
Bachelor of Science Degrees from Stanford University. Mr. Lee is a
Chartered Financial Analyst charterholder. He has over twenty years
of experience in corporate finance, investment and management. Mr.
Lee is currently the chief investment officer of Grand River Properties
(China) Ltd., a Shanghai-based real estate investment consulting
company that he co-founded in 2003, and also an executive of PGR
Asian RE Fund GP, Ltd. which managed a property-related investment
account of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He previously
held various positions as a vice president and director in the Asian
Equities division of JP Morgan Securities Limited/Robert Fleming
Securities while based in London, New York and Boston and as an
executive director of Goldman Sachs International in Hong Kong. Mr.
Lee was appointed an independent non-executive director of Altus
Holdings Limited in September 2016.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, aged 62, was appointed an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in September 2004. He
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from Concordia University
in Montreal, Canada since 1976 and a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from York University in Toronto, Canada since
1977. He has over thirty-nine years of experience in banking,
corporate finance, investment and management and has held various
executive positions at financial institutions and directorships of listed
companies. Mr. Chang is currently the managing director of Ceres
Consultancy Limited and an independent non-executive director
of APAC Resources. He was previously the vice chairman and an
executive director of Royale Furniture Holdings Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Jin Hui Zhi, aged 56, was appointed an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in April 2010. He holds a Master’s Degree in
Business Administration. He has extensive experience in the business
market. Mr. Jin is currently the chairman of Shanghai Horizon
Investment Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai Horizon”) and the deputy president
of the Youth Entrepreneur Association of Shanghai. Shanghai Horizon
is a company principally engaged in the investment of three major
industries, namely bio-engineering, environmental protection and
energy-saving and medical. Mr. Jin was formerly chief member of
Youth Work Ministry, chief member and deputy director of Research
Department, member of Standing Committee and minister of
Youth Work Ministry of China Communist Youth League Shanghai
Committee. He was previously an independent non-executive director
of ChinaVision Media Group Limited (now known as Alibaba Pictures
Group Limited), a former non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

Ngai Wah Sang, aged 58, was appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in September 2004. He holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Science from the University of London in United
Kingdom and is a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in Hong Kong respectively. He has broad experience in auditing,
accounting, financial management and dealing with business
development and investments and previously worked for international
accounting firms and listed companies in Hong Kong and overseas.
Mr. Ngai was previously the deputy chairman and the chief executive
officer of Earnest Investments Holdings Limited.

Lisa Yang Lai Sum, aged 50, was appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in November 1999 and was re-
designated as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2004. She was re-designated from a Non-Executive Director to an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in July 2007.
She graduated from the University of Sydney with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Law and Economics and is also qualified as a solicitor in
Australia and England. She is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong and
a consultant of ONC Lawyers. Ms. Yang is also an independent non-
executive director of AGL, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Senior Management

Chew Chee Choong, aged 45, is the General Manager of the Group.
He joined the Group in October 2005. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chew has over twenty years of
experience in the fields of property construction and development.

Chen Saifang, aged 65, is the Vice General Manager of the Southern
China Region. She joined the Group in April 2004. She is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Chen was
graduated with specialization in finance. She worked at the provincial
level institutions and listed companies in the mainland and Hong
Kong for more than forty years. She has extensive exposure and
working experience in finance, investment, project and corporate
management.

Song Zhu Feng, aged 56, is the General Manager of the Contracts
Department of the Group. He joined the Group in December 2003.
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Song graduated from The Civil Engineering Department of Tsing Hua
University in Beijing with a Bachelor's Degree in Engineering. He
has over twenty years of experience in the fields of engineering and
property development.

Zhou Zhimin, aged 56, is the General Manager of the Property
Management Department of the Group. He joined the Group in April
1998. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Zhou graduated from the University of Mannheim in Germany with a
Licentiate’s Degree in International Economic Relations. He has over
twenty years of experience in the fields of real estate development and
property management.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (“AGM”) has an unexpired service contract
with the Group which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

All the Non-Executive Directors (including the Independent Non-
Executive Directors (“INEDs”)) were appointed for a specific term of
two years which shall continue until 31st December, 2018 but subject
to the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their
office.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

At 31st December, 2016, Messrs. Lee Seng Hui and Ma Sun,
Directors, had the following interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”):

EEns

Name of Directors

BEE BT
&4 & EEE R 5
2% H

Number of
issued shares

and

underlying shares
interested

HEREBRTREG
BB ZBHNBD

Approximate %

of the relevant
total number of
issued shares

EEME

Nature of interests

2K 948,655,096 62.95% H s
Lee Seng Hui (Ktat1) Other interests
(Note 1)
5= 47,945 0.003% &l A 2
Ma Sun Personal interests
(NE=HEBEATHOER)
(held as beneficial owner)
Kzt - Notes:
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W mEEEBARERREMB AR B25&>)
HAT74.99% % 2 MBAABEmwE (B45) AR
DA ([BEE])  R(i)EA56.24%E s 2 KB
ANRFNVEEFR AR ([FBE]) RARA R KD
AR

2. LuiFTAEEmBEBIFR-

BREXHEEEN RZE—RF+-A=1—
B ARBZREZRETRASHRENK
NEIREEMEREE (BE R ES PR K
FIEEXVER) Z AR B An - #RRERR D kB RERE T
BIRRSFNIRIEE 77 R HIE 1B B 352164 7 A
FEZELCH REFEHEXHMERA
A EmARA ([ EMARRA) ekt PrElz &
METAEFETESFRZNFELETAASRTT
HERNRAREEHARIMARAR (B
B 1) 2 (AR SRR ©

1. Mr. Lee Seng Hui together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng Huang
are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust. The Lee
and Lee Trust controls approximately 74.49% of the total number of issued
shares of Allied Group Limited (“AGL”) (inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s
personal interests) and were therefore deemed to be interested in the shares
of the Company in which AGL was deemed to be interested through the
subsidiaries of AGL, including (i) Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL"), its
74.99%-owned subsidiary; and (i) Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (“SHK"), its
56.24%-owned subsidiary.

2. All interests stated above represent long positions.

Save as disclosed above, at 31st December, 2016, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations, within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the year and up to the date of this report, the following
Directors (not being the INEDs) are considered to have interests in the
businesses listed below which compete or are likely to compete with
the businesses of the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules as set out
below:

1. Messrs. Lee Seng Hui, Patrick Lee Seng Wei, Edwin Lo King Yau
and Tao Tsan Sang are directors of Dan Form (appointed with
effect from 18th November, 2016) which, through certain of
its subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the businesses of property
investment and property management;

2. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is a director of APL which, through certain of its
subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the businesses of money lending,
property development and investment and property management;

3. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is a director of APAC Resources which, through
its subsidiary, is partly engaged in the business of money lending;

4. Messrs. Lee Seng Hui and Edwin Lo King Yau are directors of
AGL which, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged
in the businesses of money lending, property development and
investment and property management. Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau is
a director of AG Capital Limited (a subsidiary of AGL) which is
partly engaged in the business of money lending; and

5. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is one of the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust which
is a deemed substantial shareholder of each of AGL, APL, SHK,
APAC Resources and Dan Form. AGL, APL and SHK through
their subsidiaries, are partly engaged in the businesses of money
lending, property development and investment and property
management. APAC Resources, through its subsidiary, is partly
engaged in the business of money lending. Dan Form, through
certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the businesses of
property investment and property management.

Although the above-mentioned Directors have competing interests in
other companies by virtue of their respective common directorship or
shareholding, they will fulfil their fiduciary duties in order to ensure
that they will act in the best interests of the Shareholders and the
Company as a whole at all times. Hence, the Group is capable of
carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from,
the businesses of such companies.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which the
Directors or an entity connected with the Directors had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts and the agreements relating to the
sharing of administrative services and management services as
detailed in the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”
on pages 80 to 85, no other contracts, relating to the management
and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or subsisted during the
year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provides that every Director or other
officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she
may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/
her office or otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company
has maintained appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in
respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors.
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RZZE—ARF+ZA=+—H BEFEHLI At 31st December, 2016, the following Shareholders had interests in

E{%T I5E336IKREAMTFE 2 ERLMATE #A  the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
KR EIRD HABBERAD 2 2 IRER AN T register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:
BERGREBRAZHE
Number of shares and underlying shares interested
1I)\$§ﬁ EE
aEAA £l HEBE
%ﬁﬁ“ﬁ’) Zﬁéé) BITROAY
Personal Corporate ZBRES L
Interests Interests Approximate %
(held as (interest of HiER BRMEE  of the relevant
BRERE beneficial controlled Other Total total number of
Name of Shareholders owner) corporation) Interests Interests issued shares
HEEBRAR ([FEE]) - 215,386,000 - 215,386,000 14.29%
Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (“SHK") (Hat1)
(Note 1)
setE (88)ARAR ([HEHE]) - 948,655,096 = 948,655,096 62.95%
Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL") (Hiiz2) (H1i23)
(Note 2) (Note 3)
e EBARAA ([HEEE]) - 948,655,096 = 948,655,096 62.95%
Allied Group Limited (“AGL") (Hizt4) (Hi3t3)
(Note 4) (Note 3)
Lee and Lee Trust - 948,655,096 - 948,655,096 62.95%
(H#E5) (Bi#3)
(Note 5) (Note 3)
Penta Investment Advisers Limited (“Penta”) - = 345,358,570 345,358,570 22.92%
(MREBEEA (Hizt6)
FHhHEE) (Note 6)
(held as
investment
manager)
Penta Master Fund, Limited 89,740,440 - - 89,740,440 5.96%
(H1t7)
(Note 7)
REREEERAR ([R]) - 167,542,800 - 167,542,800 11.12%
The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. (f1iz8)

(“Goldman Sachs”) (Note 8)
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EEROREBRG 2HE
Number of shares and underlying shares interested
fBAER = EER
©5 §:3/2-PN (2% E EEHE
BH%RAR) L) BORGEH
Personal Corporate ZBREA L
Interests Interests Approximate%
(held as (interest of Hitt BHBHE  of the relevant
RREM beneficial controlled Other Total total number of
Name of Shareholders owner) corporation) Interests Interests issued shares
SKK Special Situation Fund (“SKK”) 77,420,000 = - 77,420,000 5.14 %
Argyle Street Management Limited - - 93,868,000 93,868,000 6.23%
(“Argyle Street Management”) (MREBEEA (Hi#t9)
FNEE) (Note 9)
(held as
investment
manager)
Argyle Street Management Holdings Limited - 93,868,000 - 93,868,000 6.23%
(“Argyle Street Holdings”) (Haz10)
(Note 10)
Rz - 93,868,000 - 93,868,000 6.23%
Chan Kin (Hrsz1)
(Note 11)
=2 Notes:

1. ABEEEANEE 22 ENME R Shipshape 1.
Investments LimitedZ 2 & [ff /& A Alltso Limited
(Iitso ) K Scienter Investments Limited ([ Scienter
Investments | ) A @RFBEASTH HAFE
128,177,0008% B& 17 % 87,209,0008% A% 15 - & #7 %
W18 EHE A Itso K Scienter InvestmentsFTH5 8 2
ARz 4w o

2. BREZEENEBAMEZZEWERQRFine 2.
Class Holdings Limitedz 2 & [ & A &]China
Elite Holdings Limited ([China Elite |) 5 2
733,269,096 f% 15 : R (ii)#T & £ 2 215,386,0000%
A&1D 2 s - B A HE B B E 2 A E R FAP Jade
Limited &2 AP Emerald Limited# & #7176 H 2 217X
19 48 B 4756.24% * MUEE & b ZE 4% 1% {E % B China
Elite R¥TBEFTIHF A 2D 2 xS o

The interests include 128,177,000 shares and 87,209,000 shares held as
holders of securities by Itso Limited (“Itso”) and Scienter Investments Limited
(“Scienter Investments”) respectively, both wholly-owned subsidiaries of
Shipshape Investments Limited which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
SHK. SHK was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares which Itso
and Scienter Investments were interested.

The interests include (i) 733,269,096 shares held by China Elite Holdings
Limited (“China Elite”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fine Class Holdings
Limited which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of APL; and (ii) the interests
of SHK in 215,386,000 shares. APL, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries AP
Jade Limited and AP Emerald Limited, owned approximately 56.24% of the
total number of issued shares of SHK. APL was therefore deemed to have an
interest in the shares which China Elite and SHK were interested.
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105,142,800/ #% {7 + (i) 48 & 531,200,0000% A% 17
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RRA SKKAT A 2 fefn) 2 i -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS” AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

3.

The figure refers to the same interests of APL in 948,655,096 shares.

AGL owned approximately 74.99% of the total number of issued shares of APL
and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which APL was
interested.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, a Director, together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee
Seng Huang are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust.
The Lee and Lee Trust controls approximately 74.49% of the total number of
issued shares of AGL (inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s personal interests) and
were therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which AGL was
interested.

These include (i) an interest in 322,047,570 shares; and (ii) an interest in
unlisted cash settled derivatives of the Company equivalent to 23,311,000
underlying shares of the Company.

These duplicated parts of the interests of Penta.

Goldman Sachs (through various of its affiliates including Sky (Delaware) LLC,
Sky (Cayman) Ltd. and Elevatech Limited) was deemed to be economically
interested in (i) 105,142,800 shares;
31,200,000 shares; and (iii) unlisted cash settled derivatives of the Company
equivalent to 31,200,000 underlying shares of the Company as at 31st
December, 2016.

(ii) security interest equivalent to

Argyle Street Management is the manager of SKK and was therefore deemed to
have an interest in the shares in which SKK was invested.

. Argyle Street Holdings owned the entire issued share capital of Argyle Street

Management and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in
which Argyle Street Management was interested.

. Mr. Chan Kin owned approximately 50.94% interests in the issued share

capital of Argyle Street Holdings and was therefore deemed to have an interest
in the shares in which Argyle Street Holdings was interested.

. All interests stated above as at 31st December, 2016 represent long positions as

recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 28th
January, 2014 and the 2015 Annual Report of the Company,
the Company entered into a renewed sharing of administrative
services and management services agreement (“Services
Agreement”) with AGL on 28th January, 2014, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to reimburse AGL the actual costs
incurred in respect of (i) the administrative services, including
the corporate secretarial services,
office address, office space, utilities services including water,

provision of registered

electricity, telephone (including international telephone services)
and internet, photocopying, postal, courier, delivery and other
services ancillary to the day-to-day administration and operation
of the Group provided by AGL (“Administrative Services”)
and (ii) the management services, including the management,
consultancy, strategic and business advice services provided by
the senior management and the selected staff of AGL to the Group
(“Management Services”) for a period of three years commencing
from 1st January, 2014 to 31st December 2016.

During the year ended 31st December, 2016, the actual costs
incurred by AGL by reference to the specified percentage of the
remuneration of the management staff providing the Management
Services to the Group was HK$33,927,000, which has exceeded
the agreed fees payable by the Group to AGL of HK$27,120,000
for the year ended 31st December, 2016 in respect of the
Management Services.

The aggregate annual cap amount payable by the Group to AGL in
respect of the Management Services for the financial year ended
31st December, 2016 (“2016 Annual Cap”) has been exceeded
mainly because of the increase in the actual costs of the services
provided to the affairs of the Group during the year ended
31st December, 2016. The remuneration of certain members
of the management staff was increased for the year ended 31st
December, 2016 when compared to the projection made in
January 2014.
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Following the supplemental agreement dated 7th February,
2017 entered into between the Company and AGL in respect
of the amendments to the terms of the Services Agreement
(“Supplemental Services Agreement”), there is an update on
the 2016 Annual Cap as compared to that disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 28th January, 2014 and the
2015 Annual Report, pursuant to Rule 14A.54 of the Listing Rules,
the Company had re-complied with Rule 14A.53 of the Listing
Rules.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7th
February, 2017 (“Announcement”), subsequent to the year end
date, the Company and AGL entered into a renewed sharing
of administrative services and management services agreement
(“Renewed Services Agreement”) on 7th February, 2017, pursuant
to which the Company agreed to renew and extend the terms of
the Services Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental
Services Agreement) for a period of three years commencing
from Tst January, 2017 to 31st December, 2019 and to reimburse
AGL the costs incurred in respect to the Administrative Services
and the Management Services. The relevant annual cap for
each of the financial years ended 31st December, 2019 shall
be HK$85,000,000, HK$94,000,000 and HK$103,000,000. In
accordance with the requirements of Rule 14A.71 of the Listing
Rules, details of the continuing connected transactions will
be included in the next published annual report and financial
statements of the Company.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, by being the Chairman and a Non-Executive
Director of the Company, a member of the management staff
providing the Management Services and also one of the trustees
of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust which, together
with his personal interests, indirectly owned approximately
74.49% interests in the total number of issued shares of AGL
as at 31st December, 2016, is deemed to be interested in the
Services Agreement, the Supplemental Services Agreement and
the Renewed Services Agreement (collectively “Agreements”).
Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau, by being an Executive Director of the
Company and a member of the management staff providing
the Management Services, is deemed to be interested in the
Agreements.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

2. As disclosed in the joint announcements dated 29th January,
2014 and 23rd May, 2014 of the Company and SHK, the
announcements dated 26th June, 2015, 30th May, 2016 and 28th
December, 2016 and the 2015 Annual Report of the Company
(where applicable):

(i)

(if)

a leasing agreement (“Leasing Agreement VII”) was entered
into between Hing Yip Holdings Limited (“Hing Yip”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as lessor
and Sun Hung Kai Investment Services Limited (Shanghai
Representative Office) (“SHKIS”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of an associate of SHK, as lessee on 30th May, 2016, in
relation to the leasing of office premises located in Tian
An Centre, Shanghai, the PRC for a term commenced
from 1st June, 2016 to 31st December, 2016 at a monthly
consideration of RMB13,030.80. The consideration paid
under the Leasing Agreement VII for the year ended 37st
December, 2016 was RMB91,215.60.

On 28th December, 2016, the Company entered into a
leasing agreement (“2017 Leasing Agreement VII”) with SHKIS
to renew the Leasing Agreement VIl for a term commenced
from 1st January, 2017 to 30th June, 2017. In accordance
with the requirements of Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules,
details of the continuing connected transactions will be
included in the next published annual report and financial
statements of the Company; and

four leasing agreements were entered into between Dalian
Tian An Tower Co., Ltd., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, as lessor and United Asia Finance (Free
Trade Zone Dalian) Limited (“Dalian UAF”), an indirect non
wholly-owned subsidiary of SHK, as lessee in relation to the
leasing of premises in Dalian Tian An International Building,
No. 88 Zhongshan Road, Zhongshan District,
Liaoning Province, PRC with details set out below:

Dalian,

(@) a leasing agreement (“Leasing Agreement V") dated 29th
January, 2014 for a term commenced from 1st January,
2014 to 30th June, 2016 at a total consideration over the
lease term of RMB7,357,588.78;
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b BRA-ZT—MNMFRA-_+=H (b) two leasing agreements (“Leasing Agreement |” and
zmhEEAR ([HEERI & “Leasing Agreement 1I”) dated 23rd May, 2014 both for
[FEARN])  HEHYHE Ty a term commenced from 1st August, 2014 to 30th June,
FNANRA—BRE_Z—RFRA 2016 at the monthly considerations of RMB24,003.12
=+tHLE BARESBABAR and RMB32,525.83, respectively; and
#24,003.1270 2 AR #32,525.83
R4

© BHAZZ—ARFRAZT+RAZ (c) a leasing agreement (“Leasing Agreement VI”) dated
HEAR([HEARVI])  HE 26th June, 2015 for a term commenced from 1st June,
BH_ZE-—hHFA-HRE_ZF 2015 to 30th June, 2016 at a monthly consideration of
—REXNA=ZTRLE - 8ARER RMB17,854.46.

AR #17,854.467T °

RZE-RFRA=+H  LlRETL On 30th May, 2016, the same parties entered into four
FAZHAMEESR ([ZZ—XRFH leasing agreements (“2016 Leasing Agreement V", “2016
EE6RAV] - [ZF— /\ETEE\:'HIJ Leasing Agreement 1”, “2016 Leasing Agreement 1I” and
[T XRFHESRN] R[ZF—X “2016 Leasing Agreement VI”) to renew Leasing Agreement
ETHE/\HVIJ)MEJTH&/\HV‘%H V, Leasing Agreement |, Leasing Agreement Il and Leasing
E&5RA-HEERIKREESRVIEE Agreement VI all for a term commenced from T1st July,
HEZE-—RFLtA-ABE=Z-N 2016 to 30th June, 2018 at the monthly considerations
FAA=THIL BAREDFIAAR of RMB212,239.34, RMB24,003.12, RMB32,525.83 and
#212,239.347 - AR #24,003.127T RMB15,977.17, respectively.

AR ¥32,525.8370 X AR #15,977.17

TG e
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

The considerations paid under the Leasing Agreement V, Leasing
Agreement |, Leasing Agreement I, Leasing Agreement VI, 2016
Leasing Agreement V, 2016 Leasing Agreement I, 2016 Leasing
Agreement I, 2016 Leasing Agreement VI and Leasing Agreement
VII (collectively “Leasing Agreements”) for the year ended 31st
December, 2016 were RMB1,362,516.45, RMB144,018.72,
RMB195,154.98, RMB107,126.76, RMB1,273,436.04,
RMB144,018.72, RMB195,154.98, RMB95,863.02 and
RMB91,215.60 respectively. The aggregate consideration paid
under the Leasing Agreements for the year ended 31st December,
2016 was RMB3,608,505.27.

Considerations of the Leasing Agreements are inclusive of rental
and management fee.

AGL is the holding company and hence an associate of APL (which
is a substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company). Dalian UAF is a subsidiary of SHK, which in turn is
a subsidiary of APL, and hence an associate of APL. SHKIS is a
subsidiary of an associate of SHK, and hence also an associate of
APL. Therefore, AGL, APL, SHK, Dalian UAF and SHKIS are regarded
as connected persons of the Company. Accordingly, the entering
into of the Agreements, the Leasing Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder as well as the relevant annual caps (if
applicable) constituted continuing connected transactions for the
Company under Rule 14A.31 of the Listing Rules. The transaction
regarding the sharing of the Administrative Services under each of
the Agreements is fully exempt under Rules 14A.73(8) and 14A.98 of
the Listing Rules. The transactions contemplated under the Leasing
Agreements and the Management Services under each of the Services
Agreement and the Supplemental Services Agreement and the
relevant annual caps are subject to the reporting, annual review and
announcement requirements but are exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. Whereas,
the transaction regarding the sharing of the Management Services
under the Renewed Services Agreement and the relevant annual
caps are subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions regarding (i) the
sharing of the Management Services; and (ii) the transactions
contemplated under the Leasing Agreements, and have confirmed that
the transactions were entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) according to the respective agreements governing the transactions
on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the continuing
connected transaction regarding the sharing of the Management
Services and the continuing connected transactions contemplated
under the Leasing Agreements in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified letter confirming
that nothing has come to his attention that cause him to bring to the
attention of the Board pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A
copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the
Stock Exchange.
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1. MO AQRFREFIEERHRA T — K F
AARNBZBAERAM([ZT— NFH
A fl) FTEE - Boneast Assets Limited
([Boneast]) (iBEZEEZENE
~AE) (fEAER) - Shine Star Properties
Limited ([Shine Star]) (ARFzEZEEE
MEAeE) (ERER)REZE (IBAEE
ReHE2ENBAR RS — FAaA
ANBFIVEEHG® ([EEBEERE]) B
It * (i) Boneast[& & 1 & * ifi Shine StarRIJ[F] &
BEEERDDEITRA: RFTEERE
#2752 K Shine Star[E] B Ui FTi2g v B &
MHBERRERES BREAARE
23,106,6007T °

MBI —E—RFHERMITERE 1%
% +Boneast ({EAEZK) ~Shine Star (1EAE
R)RBEFEEBRAR ([HE]) (%
AEEBCAE2EWNBAR) N2 —F
AARNBILE— W EERE ([HEEE
skl ) BB - (i) Boneast/A & & - i1 Shine
StarBII[F) 208 B L 2 P2 BT AR AN « I (i)
¥R A R B 885E K Shine Star[F) = Uk B preg
B BRI R E R BRE
ABAR61,179,3007T °

2. BWARARAMAZZ—RERA=1TMA
Z A+ Oasis Star Limited ([FREBA]) (K
RAlZEZEAMEBRAR)RE  MSun Hung
Kai & Co. (BVI) Limited ([Z£7TA) (¥77%
A7 2BEWBNAF)) BRNETAZERE
HERETTE TRIBEABERITE —HE
BAESEAICASERL SR ([RE
ESERPI

HRBAEARNRRZ EBRE  MIFEE
BBAEZHNBAR BT EERENB A
7] (‘B 1EBoneast X 1T A ) BANAR ZBEA L
(EEALMHRA - Bt MEEE W - B
BEMBERAEB T 2RXS (5 [%EXS])
NEREEEERN AT RRAZBERS HEIA
ZEXRGRRBEEME ARAZEABRD
b (Fx R EWHA]) BiE0.1%EER5% 1R
BEMHRA ZEXHRRESFHEAELETH
WMERAMGHETE HEERGEETE N ERELE
ZHTE °

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1. As disclosed in the joint announcement dated 6th May, 2016
of the Company and SHK (“2016 Joint Announcement”), SHK,
Boneast Assets Limited (“Boneast”), a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of SHK, as vendor, Shine Star Properties Limited
(“Shine Star”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, as purchaser and Hing Yip, a then indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of SHK entered into a sale and purchase
agreement on 6th May, 2016 (“HY Sale and Purchase Agreement”)
pursuant to which (i) Boneast agreed to sell and Shine Star
agreed to purchase the entire issued share capital of Hing Yip;
and (ii) SHK agreed to assign and Shine Star agreed to take as an
assignment of the benefits of a shareholder’s loan due from Hing
Yip to SHK, at the aggregate consideration of RMB23,106,600.

As also disclosed in the 2016 Joint Announcement, SHK, Boneast
as vendor, Shine Star as purchaser and Sing Hing Investment
Limited (“Sing Hing”), a then indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of SHK entered into another sale and purchase agreement on
6th May, 2016 (“SH Sale and Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to
which (i) Boneast agreed to sell and Shine Star agreed to purchase
the entire issued share capital of Sing Hing; and (ii) SHK agreed
to assign and Shine Star agreed to take as an assignment of the
benefits of a shareholder’s loan due from Sing Hing to SHK, at the
aggregate consideration of RMB61,179,300.

2. As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 24th
May, 2016, Oasis Star Limited (“Subscriber”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, subscribed for and Sun Hung Kai
& Co. (BVI) Limited (“Issuer”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
SHK, confirmed the allocation amount to the Subscriber of the
first tranche notes in the principal amount of US$15 million
under a guaranteed medium term note programme of the Issuer
(“Subscription”).

As APL is a substantial shareholder of the Company and SHK is a
subsidiary of APL, SHK and its subsidiaries (including Boneast and
the Issuer) are connected persons of the Company within the meaning
of the Listing Rules. As a result, the transactions contemplated under
the HY Sale and Purchase Agreement, the SH Sale and Purchase
Agreement (collectively “Transactions”) and the Subscription
constitute connected transactions of the Company. As the applicable
percentage ratio(s) (as defined in the Listing Rules) for the Company in
respect of each of the Transactions and the Subscription exceed 0.1%
but are less than 5%, the Transactions and the Subscription are only
subject to the reporting and announcement requirements but exempt
from the circular and the shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.
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EMPLOYEE AND TRAINING

As at 3Tst December, 2016, the Group including its subsidiaries
but excluding associates and joint ventures, employed 2,113 (31st
December, 2015: 1,867) persons. The Group maintains a policy of
paying competitive remuneration packages and employees are also
rewarded on performance related basis including salary and bonus.
The Group recognises the importance of continuing professional
education and development, and appropriate courses are arranged on
a periodical basis as well as subsidies are granted to employees who
take job-related courses.

The profile of the Group’s management staff as at 31st December,
2016 is listed below:

REEXE
50853 L
Age 50 or Below

505 A £
Age Over 50

University

Graduates

B0
Hong Kong

#=Ap
Northern China

=35
Eastern China

Southern China

Wit BINABRFREBAENS R 2B -

ERBEETNASE AR BV EE
RERNFEBHEBITIIRE  BOEFATRE TH
MSEENEHETHNAEZ - TE2EEA
BB R Mg mRmME12 - 135045

FREFEFREER

RER REBSRARUEP 2 HERBRLA
SESRARUHERZHKBAED A ARNEE
SHE B MR B ARERH18% 5 38% ©

28 (85%)

26 (84%)

79 (70%)

22 (42%)

29 (88%) 14 (42%) 19 (58%)

29 (94%) 21 (68%) 10 (32%)

90 (80%) 86 (76%) 27 (24%)

37 (70%) 49 (92%) 4 (8%)

Note: The numbers in bracket show the percentage of management staff in the
region.

Quality staff has always been the Group’s indispensable intangible
asset. Training programmes were organised during the year to ensure
that both the market sensitivity of the front line people and the cost
consciousness of the back office staff were well maintained. The
emoluments of key management personnel can be seen by reference
to notes 12, 13 and 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five
largest customers and the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers were approximately 8% and 38% of the
Group's sales and purchases respectively.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS (CONTINUED)

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders,
which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares, had a beneficial interest in
any of the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

During the year ended 31st December, 2016, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.

DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations of HK$1,163,000 during the
year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the

corporate governance practices.

Corporate Governance Report on pages 31 to 51.
SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the AGM to re-appoint Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

luSnghie

-

Lee Seng Hui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17th March, 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte
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TO THE MEMBERS OF
TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tian
An China Investments Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
100 to 247, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31st December, 2016, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
December, 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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HEBNER-

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

HEELSEHE

Key audit matter

BEMREBRTEEBRERSHZL &

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRREVE BRETYEFEURCRIVEFE ZMGE
Valuation of properties for development, inventories

of properties under development and inventories of
completed properties

B BEREZHFERDE ([FRERVE])  BRTY
X(#RPYE 2FEREXRINERE (HEED
R ZEEREREREZZE AREERBERYEZ
AREeRRBERTYERMHEDE 2 TREFE ([F]
BHFEDSRERAGT - R_T—RF+_A=1+—
B BESEEAFHEEYR,999,170,000/ T & &
T ¥%1,890,234,00078 7T & 5 & ¥ 53,557,606,00078
o EMERANRAPEARLME (THE]) REB-
We identified the valuation of the Group’s properties for
development (“PFD”), inventories of properties under
development (“PUD”) and inventories of completed
properties (“PFS”) as a key audit matter due to the
significant judgments involved in the determination of
the recoverable amount of PFD and net realisable value
(“NRV”) of PUD and PFS. As at 31st December, 2016,
the Group had PFD of HK$1,999,170,000, PUD of
HK$1,890,234,000 and PFS of HK$3,557,606,000, all of
which are situated in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) and Hong Kong.

BMAREEENEGERDE BRTDERBHEEYD
R BEZMEEFERE:

Our procedures in relation to evaluating management’s
assessment of the valuation of PFD, PUD and PFS
included:

o FMEFIMEEDZBSES BENRFEIM:
e Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuers;

s BEUBERFEEMLTSEE FHMAHEETER
ERHABE (BEMETE BRAE RERHD
MEEEERFEMRAZIRE) 2 5%

e Evaluating the reasonableness of the valuation
techniques and the significant inputs including
properties market price, gross development value,
developer’s profit and discount rate adopted by
management and the Valuers by comparing to entity-
specific information and market data;

o BBHBRERFERMENBRFTMEZIGARTK

A BEEERUMEZERFAERAN Mg EZ
RAZ GBI

e Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future
cost to completion of PFD and PUD, on a sample
basis, by comparing them to actual development
costs of similar properties of the Group;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

BMRBRTEEBRERSEHZILE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRENX BRETYXFEURCRINEFE ZMGE
(%)

Valuation of properties for development, properties
under development and inventories of completed
properties (continued)

BEEERBEELAERERF(GE ([FHEE])ET 2
BEETHRERDEZ2ARCOSBERERTYEZAEZE
FE-HEXRKBRILEREHB cETERHARE
BRERGE FAEBIENRMBAR - HIN EEEZ
Z BEEEDRIEBRZERMABRAMEFEXRFERY
RERBERTYMEZRRAAR

Management determined the recoverable amount of PFD
and the NRV of PUD based on valuations performed
by the independent and qualified professional valuers
(the “Valuers”). The valuations are dependent on certain
significant inputs that involve management’s judgments,
including gross development value, developer’s profit and
discount rate. In addition, management estimated future
cost to completion of PFD and PUD with reference to
the actual development cost of the Group’s completed
projects.

EEEEZREETHRER BRETERBEZHERER ZHE
DMERESBUNDEMRS OHER C2EHEEY
ReEatmEBTHEENR cIERFE
Management determined the NRV of PFS with reference
to the estimated market prices of PFS, which takes into
account a number of factors including recent prices
achieved for similar property types in the same project or
by similar properties in the PRC and Hong Kong.

ERNEEE 2 HHEME 2 FEMI2,526,000/8 7T
PR 1B a8 R

Based on management’s assessment, the write-down of
inventories of PFS of HK$2,526,000 was recognised in
profit or loss.

BB2LERRER AR EMS ZAHHEFGE
TEEEMAHEENECEAEEZERNE B8R
BEHRMAY BESEXGRTEEFEEMEDSZE
oA EEEMAZA BB R BRI
Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated selling
prices of PFS used by management with reference to
recent market prices achieved in the same projects
or by comparable properties, including an evaluation
of the appropriateness of the comparable properties
used by management based on our knowledge of the
Group's businesses and the real estate markets in the
PRC and Hong Kong.
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HEELSEHE

Key audit matter

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

BEMRERTEEBRERSHZL &

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HEMEZBWAER

Revenue recognised from sales of properties

BFERRARRSEREZSTH ASEYGRAEAR
EEECTEHREEEREEERRLENEBAZEE
o B I B e

We identified revenue recognition as a key audit matter
as it is quantitatively significant to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and there are judgments
involved in determining the appropriate point at which to
recognise revenue from sales of properties.

RYEZN T E T Rfiir & M RERMES [WARER ] I
BEERERE  HERPEYEZ WAKERER - BN
HEVBRAMESABRE B2 T R"Ft+-_A=1t—
AIEFE. BREEILEMEIKAL362,183,000%
T o

Revenue from sales of properties in the PRC is recognised
upon delivery of the properties to buyers and when the
criteria as disclosed in note 3 “Revenue recognition” to
the consolidated financial statements are satisfied. The
Group recognised revenue of HK$1,362,183,000 from
sales of properties for the year ended 31st December,
2016 as disclosed in note 5 in the consolidated financial
statements.

BPHBERLENEZMARRZEFERE:
Our procedures in relation to revenue recognised from
sales of properties included:

o HEEEBERELESMEINTEL K
e Assessing management’s process and control over the
delivery of properties to buyers; and

e AEEEBEWMZMEGT UHERERE MK A
LRESMEZAERRIZER ERERERZELZ
RBEAM A EMRABEZEXRERRERES
BETEX-

e Investigating the terms set out in the sales and
purchase agreements, and checking the payment of
sales, on a sample basis, and obtaining the relevant
completion certificate of the properties and the
delivery notices issued by the Group to buyers, to
assess whether the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the properties have been transferred to
buyers.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

BEMREBRTEEBRERSHZL L

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REME 2 fHE

Valuation of investment properties

BFERRENEZHEREREZER RARSGEERM
BRECBEBGEHRERNEE AN EERBCERHEBA
FEZE-

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the significance of the balance
to the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
combined with the significant judgments associated with
determining the fair value.

HAARA M EMRME17ARE BEEZREMER
NRPERBEZHAE B FESRETEM R
—E-AFTZA=1+—H5ER10,862,281,000/& T °
RBE_Z-—R"F+_A=+—HILFE BRIV%XZ
FREERZREMR 2 A NEERE16,257,0007% 7T &
KREME 2 AABEEM, 8350008 TREEBERA
As disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s investment properties which
represent office buildings, shops, car parking spaces
and residential units located in the PRC and Hong Kong
carried at HK$10,862,281,000 as at 31st December,
2016. During the year ended 31st December 2016, the
fair value gain on transfer of inventories of completed
properties to investment properties of HK$116,257,000
and the increase in fair value of investment properties
of HK$1,835,000 were recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

BFBARTERENEZIAEEZEFBRE:
Our procedures in relation to evaluating the valuation of
investment properties included:

o FfERFMEENZBSES BENRFEIE:
e Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuers;

o ERFHMZEEBERIE MEMHIRER f
BMRAZEZ/R  HEM A B RN RE
RHABE:

e Understanding the Valuers’ valuation process and
methodologies, the performance of the property
markets, significant assumptions adopted, critical
judgmental areas and key inputs used in the
valuations;
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REME 2 hE (&)

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

BERBCMARBMEDSEFNEMETZHEERAR
BEETE HENE REMAZERERIREIRHAH
BZABREAMBHRRMFT1I7HE -RERKERSLE
BEAH < ETEZRRAIZRAEE  BEFHER
X -EREHE EREMCzMSEMES HHEM G
EMEREFAERZ R RERFIER-

All of the Group’s investment properties are measured
at fair value with reference to the valuations performed
by the Valuers. Details of the valuation techniques,
significant assumptions and key inputs used in the
valuations are disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements. The valuations are dependent on
certain significant assumptions and key inputs that
involve management’s judgments, including term yield,
reversionary yield, market unit rent of individual unit,
market unit sales rate and developer’s profit and risk rate.

WEAEZERERAE

Acquisition of Dan Form Holdings Company Limited

BAEREB IR AR AT 2 ZERBE NG SERE
ZEE RASZERENGEMBBRZIEZE IR
SEEE Y IR E H A E Al B 2 T IRE B E K
FrAEREZ RAR(BIE - BUANAR & B 7% 5% MY 5E8(a) PT B
B-REE_T—ARF+_A=t—HLFE- EEH
TRWEAAZERERARREMB AR ([HAEE])
Z#390.65%P54E » X8 %3,096,495,000/& T - BB
Y #51,588,570,00078 7T B 1A 5E A IR BB IR RERR

We identified gain on bargain purchase on acquisition
of Dan Form Holdings Company Limited as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the amount to the
consolidated financial statements and the nature of
transaction that involves management’s judgments in
determining the fair value of identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date. As
disclosed in note 8(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, during the year ended 31st December, 2016,
the Group completed the acquisition of approximately
90.65% equity interest in Dan Form Holdings Company
Limited and its subsidiaries (“Dan Form Group”) at a
consideration amounting to HK$3,096,495,000. Gain on
bargain purchase of HK$1,588,570,000 was recognised
upon completion of the acquisition.

o FHRBTERBZHERBRZIAENE K
e Evaluating the reasonableness of the methodologies
and assumptions to industry norms; and

s FENBERBKELEMALDSHE FHEEEEBL
AHEEIFTER A TR A BB 2 BB

e Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs
adopted by management and the Valuers by
comparing to entity-specific information and market
data.

BPEREBAAZERERAR CREFEE:
Our procedures in relation to the acquisition of Dan Form
Holdings Company Limited included:

s HEEEERBEMUEAMSEREBEARZE
ENBBEZARBEMBZINEZBEREREEZRRK
ZEEE BREERZAREEAER:

e Assessing the appropriateness of methodology and
reasonableness of significant assumptions used
by management in determining the fair value of
assets and liabilities acquired on Dan Form Group
and its associates including fair value adjustments
recognised;
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BB AEEZERERQR (&)
Acquisition of Dan Form Holdings Company Limited
(continued)

REER - BESEARBEEBVEREEREIN XK
et BEMASERBRZMKBEERMARZREZ
AREE REEMMEEREBERRZYE  BE &R
W THEREBNEERARKREMEZ AAEE
EEERENGMETIHE LEREBEXSFEEZR
REERRERBATEBHFELERALE  WRER/RET
ENTRBABEBERAERAE REEEEZFE B
BYE BELRE TERBEZANEERREER
BEEEHARBERE-

On the acquisition date, the Group was required to
determine the fair value of identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed in Dan Form Group in accordance
with HKFRS 3 “Business Combination”. In determining
the fair value of property, plant and equipment, prepaid
lease payments on land use rights and investment
properties of Dan Form Group and its associates,
management relied on the valuations performed by
the Valuers. In particular, the determination of the fair
value of these assets can be complex and requires
significant judgments by management to ensure the
valuation techniques and inputs used are reasonable
and supportable. Based on management’s assessment,
fair value adjustments were made to property, plant and
equipment, prepaid lease payments on land use rights and
deferred taxation.

o THMEE 2 EBERRET A AAEEREBED
BlZYE BER&E THEREZBNEER &’
BYERZAEMRAEERKRNATA 2B HER
HREREABE:

e Understanding the Valuers’ valuation process and
methodology, significant assumptions adopted and
key inputs used in the valuations of property, plant
and equipment, prepaid lease payments on land use
rights, investment properties of Dan Form Group and
its associate;

s ZEBUEBEBRFEMEMSEE FHEEEE LT
BiFTERM 2 T BB ABURZ A IR

e Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs
adopted by management and the Valuers by
comparing to entity-specific information and market
data;

o MEETIHREEURREEREER S AR AHE
BZYEMBENREMNSAE B RE R E
o AT RS R

e Performing land search, on a sample basis, to ensure
the ownership of the properties owned by Dan
Form Group and its associates as well as performing
litigation search on Dan Form Group and its
associates for any contingent liabilities; and

o FEEMNFZEZRABEUEAMEBEMRMA 2 SBER
B OEREZEFTEE B

e Evaluating any adjustments are required to align the
accounting policies used by Dan Form Group and its
associates with the Group’s accounting policies.
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BT E A BB B R A A &SR o

RRMBAGREYBHRERME  RANEER
BEEMEMN RMEEEMCENSDERE
MHRERBMEFHERTETNENFE
EAM AR EFHEERERRAL - W FIE
REETHTERREMERHREXHRR
i ZAIABREEREE 5Ll HAIBAED
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EEREREMAREMBHRRAREN

BfE

EXRREREHEESHNASRM 2ER
MBBEEREFERRIGIIGRREEMT S
B MR WHERREREM B REK
YR BN A R ARF SRR RR T B BN A 38 AR IR
AFAFREAEE S B & -

RiRBUREMEHRE  EFR AL E5E
TREKENEN YHEEERR T WERRE
REENEANEE RIFEFHEH E5HE
BRYFILRE KR 2N EE B A
TR E RRARBURERSE RER S
e

BEEENMBHREBIE-

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.



B Z B RS

REHPEKREBRAR
2016 F iR

\\\

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BRBEARELREMBERRAERENE
E

W B RRIRIBEE B R REHIF405 6L 4R &
MBHRBEBREE N FHEBRRRFRERME
M EARERBMERGEBRE  YHAHER
MERNZEMBE RATERARENA
BAEMEFEMALTE ESAEEREE 4
RERBKTHRE  ETRERERR (BEE
FHEAD EITHER AR EXERRATE
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MREEEHEMEBREARER AT ER
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BRTERAE REFREEREE R

o BRIEFABERHFFRFERMEBSFE Y
MR FAEE AR AR - Rt R
TR FAREZERR A RERTTR
MEENETERE (ERRFERER-
RRIRGFRIRE S R BRR - B B RER
FE R 5% B BRI B RO B - It ARBE
IR AMRFFME R B A RRA AR
=R RBE IR AR M B A B A RR
AR

o THREBHAMOMIBEE - URHER
ERRF LIS EY B EE A
AR RER -

o HMEEEERASHABENREMEREL
SRt AFT MR R EN AN -

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Directors.
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o HEERARELLSHEMNIREMIE o
4R - WARBRFIER M BIZORE TR
BFEEREABEREGRHEATHEN
tmAEERY SRENFELEEN
EEEAREE - HEMRSFEERTEE
1% BBV EERBEN RSP RBERET
BARAVBRRTOEAKE - HWABRE
T ARMAREAFEREER - 1M
i DENBEZBENRE B HILAEUS
MBRIZRE - AT - RIRBRL BN AL
B BEEEEARERLE-

o HEREMBHMRAOBEIIHmI BBM .
AR BREERE ARG EMBEREEET
BRREARXZMER -

o B EXERNEBXEXHEINUBEE o
ERRR BENBRREE NEHREY
BHRERBERER -BMARAKERZNT
[ EEE AT RIPIABTERAERE
Bff-

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Wong Kuen.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 17th March, 2017
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PROFIT OR LOSS

2016 2015
M 5 TET T T
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
WA Revenue 5 1,894,465 1,029,359
5 & A Cost of sales (1,228,083) (583,432)
EH Gross profit 666,382 445,927
H A WA K gk Other income and gains 6 598,314 114,480
miERkoHER Marketing and distribution expenses (76,949) (52,800)
THER Administrative expenses (295,985) (303,620)
Hib&iEE A Other operating expenses (100,903) (189,830)
RIEEBEREANEE Net (decrease) increase in fair value of
20 CRL) & an held-for-trading investments (245) 42,270
ERIMEFEERE Fair value gain on transfer of inventories
REWMEZ A AEE of completed properties to investment
W& properties 17 116,257 396,063
WEMEAARBEZ Increase (decrease) in fair value of
1840 R 4>) investment properties 17 1,835 (80,831)
ERIMEFEZ Write-down of inventories of
VERIE] completed properties (2,526) (52,290)
FE U E OB E B8 Impairment loss on loans receivable - (6,523)
SR EY/ES 35 Amortisation of properties for development (54,857) (71,611)
k=L V=N e Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 7 3,937,675 3,012,763
=EBUWHEMNE QR 2WE  Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries 8 1,588,570 =
b & B AR Finance costs 9 (179,817) (263,349)
FE G Bt & 2 B i A Share of profit of associates 12,169 6,226
EIE & E R FERM Share of profit of joint ventures 89,984 110,055
B 354 Al g A Profit before tax 6,299,904 3,106,930
B8 Taxation 10 (591,656) (511,461)
N [ E A Profit for the year 11 5,708,248 2,595,469
REZHRM (FR) Profit (loss) for the year
FE(R T attributable to:
ZAN/NE 85 Owners of the Company 5,712,954 2,600,020
FEFE AR RE o Non-controlling interests (4,706) (4,551)
5,708,248 2,595,469
BT BT
HK$ HK$
BREN Earnings per share 14
BN Basic 3.79 1.73
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HE_Z—RF+_A=+—BIFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2016

2016 2015
FTER FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RNEFE A Profit for the year 5,708,248 2,595,469
Hib2HE (EH) W Other comprehensive (expense) income
TEERSRERRN Items that will not be reclassified to
HH: profit or loss:
BRERZINEEHRESE Exchange differences arising on translation to
CER=R presentation currency (768,864) (781,683)
EIHBERAREE Share of other comprehensive expense of
TrEZEMEEER associates and joint ventures (99,623) (96,363)
(868,487) (878,046)
BERRAIEEN AR Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
BEAIER profit or loss:
AHEEREQR Change in fair value of available-for-sale
BEEzZ investments (61,313) 156,809
REEAMHfHERER Revaluation reserves released upon disposal of
FEREBDZ available-for-sales investments to
B profit or loss (202,667) (36,039)
AR HEERE Deferred tax effect on share of change in

ARBEZESHZ fair value of available-for-sale
EXERBZTZE investments 19,167 (1,125)
REBEEREMERZ Surplus on revaluation properties upon transfer to

MEE LB investment properties 66 =
(244,747) 119,645
AEFHMEEER Other comprehensive expense for the year (1,113,234) (758,401)
AEE2MHKEEE Total comprehensive income for the year 4,595,014 1,837,068
2HEWE (BH)REE Total comprehensive income (expense)
e attributable to:
ZAN/NEI )3 Owners of the Company 4,600,896 1,843,836
IEERR RE = Non-controlling interests (5,882) (6,768)
4,595,014 1,837,068
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RZZE—RF+=ZA=+—H
At 31st December, 2016

2016 2015
H 5 FTET FHT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
FREBEE Non-current assets
E NG Property, plant and equipment 16 399,357 398,115
WY BB X Deposits for acquisition of property,

R IER plant and equipment - 22
WEME Investment properties 17 10,862,281 10,037,160
HERERYE Properties for development 18 1,999,170 4,358,872
WEFERMEZ Deposits for acquisition of properties

bid for development 165,862 172,789
T E AR 2 FERNEEK  Prepaid lease payments on land use rights 19 78,678 54,162
HihEE - kR Other assets — properties interests 17,815 19,440
N AN X Interests in associates 20 3,565,352 234,210
REELHEZHER Interests in joint ventures 21 2,167,330 1,909,229
U E K Loans receivable 28 116,250 412,703
AHEERE Available-for-sale investments 22 371,553 869,411
EIERI IR E EE Deferred tax assets 39 72,736 74,822

19,816,384 18,540,935
mEEE Current assets
MEFE Inventories of properties 23

—BEH — under development 1,890,234 3,120,427

—B%T — completed 3,557,606 3,404,316
HEtFEE Other inventories 24 686 1,682
RN Amounts due from associates 25 6,488 2,563
aaEERK Amounts due from joint ventures 26 994,782 893,511
FERE IR IR R Amounts due from non-controlling

KRR shareholders 27 17,986 19,093
R E R Loans receivable 28 406,813 381,866
B 5 K E A e U BR R - Trade and other receivables,

Ze RIERHK deposits and prepayments 29 394,934 923,649
TR A TN E  Prepaid lease payments on land use rights 19 886 1,541
RIEEERE Held-for-trading investments 30 98,217 99,369
TABAIE Prepaid tax 52,175 37,351
FREE R 2 IRITER Pledged bank deposits 46 269,786 131
WITHFRIRS Bank balances and cash 4,330,115 4,134,708

12,020,708 13,020,207
NEAGEERE Assets classified as held for sale 31 1,854,742 =
13,875,450 13,020,207
nEEE Current liabilities

2 5 Kk H At TR K Trade and other payables 32 1,472,025 4,205,274
BEEE Pre-sale deposits 1,681,943 1,351,307
HIEEE Tax liabilities 1,030,401 977,884
SREER Membership debentures 33 - 41,303
M B e R Interest-bearing borrowings 34 1,064,869 2,184,237
% BB Interest-free borrowings 35 219,895 490,254
5,469,133 9,250,259

PRRHFEEEZ Liabilities associated with assets classified
EEEE as held for sale 31 1,382,110 =
6,851,243 9,250,259
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZE—R"E+_A=+—H
At 31st December, 2016

2016 2015
Fff & FHET FHETT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
REBEEFE Net current assets 7,024,207 3,769,948
HEERARBER Total assets less current liabilities 26,840,591 22,310,883
IR ik Capital and reserves
f& 7 Share capital 36 3,788,814 3,788,814
(e Reserves 37 17,724,397 13,349,516
RABIRREEZ Equity attributable to owners of the
- Fa Company 21,513,211 17,138,330
FEFE R HE = Non-controlling interests 538,184 16,008
ERERE Total equity 22,051,395 17,154,338
FREBEE Non-current liabilities
LA EN Interest-bearing borrowings 34 2,451,281 2,901,939
—ZFE ZEIEFRE WA Deferred rental income from a tenant 38 40,405 51,495
MEzHeke Rental deposits from tenants 25,813 28,557
SEEERER Membership debentures 33 - 11,060
BEEFIRBE Deferred tax liabilities 39 2,271,697 2,163,494
4,789,196 5,156,545
26,840,591 22,310,883

HIENE100E EF2478 2 F A MEIHRKRER The consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 247 were
T tEF A+ EHEESSBBANIEERE  approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 17th

F UHTYEERREE: March, 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:
Patrick Lee Seng Wei Edwin Lo King Yau
TR BR
Director Director

EF EF
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ARARRES
Attributable to owners of the Company
B 5
AABE  RIREE FERES
RE  Special  Exchange  EftEE  AtER  ZitEA Non-  BHEE
Share capital ~ translation  Revaluation Other  Retained &3t controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserves  reserves - eamings Total  interests Equity
Tér TEn  TEx  TExr  TEr  TEx  TExr  TEn  TEn
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
RZE-15-f-A At Tst January, 2015 3,788,814 1417,609 2,044,132 223,087 (46,053) 8,017,522 15,445,171 32,633 15,477,804
MEAZFIGHAMEL,  Exchange differences arising on
Eiz2 translation to presentation currency = - (779,466) = = - (779,466) 2217)  (781,683)
EEBERARAEREZ  Share of other comprehensive expense
Et2EER of associates and joint ventures = - (96,363) = - - (9363) - (96,363)
AHERENAERE Change in fair value of
VA 1] available-for-sale investments - - - 156,809 = - 156,809 - 156,809
RHEA L ERER Released upon disposal of available-for-
ERZEE sale investments to profit or loss - - - (36,039 = - (36,039 - (36,039
EhAfHERE Deferred tax effect on change in
MEEZESZ fair value of available-for-sale
ELHAZYE investments - - ) - - 1) - 1)
TEEEH (B8) Profit (loss) for the year - - - - - 2600020 2600020 (4551) 2,595,469
AER2ANE Total comprehensive income
(#R)88 (expense) for the year : e 11966 2600000 18386 (6768 1,837,068
REEMBRAREE Transfer upon disposal of subsidaries
(Hit7) (note 7) - - @891 - - 9 - - -
ek Dividend recognised as distribution
(Hi1s) (note 15) - - - - - (150677)  (150,677) - (150,677)
REARTHEER Dividend distributed to non-controlling
Ex interests - - - - - - = (9,857) (9,857)
RZF-REFZA=F—H At31st December, 2015 3,788,814 1417,669 1,119,389 342,732 (46,053) 10,515,779 17,138,330 16,008 17,154,338
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HE_T—AF+-A=+—BILEFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2016
ARERFRE
Attributable to owners of the Company
Bk E}
EXfik SRR FERESR
BA  Special  Ewchange  EfiRE  HtRE  RiER Non-  BEEE
Share capital translation  Revaluation Other  Retained &3t controlling Total
capital reserve reserve  reserves  reserves  earnings Total interests Equity
Tér fAr TEx TR TEr TEx  TER  TEr  TEn
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
RZE-7~5-A-A At Tst January, 2016 3,788,814  1417,669 1,119,389 342,732 (46,053) 10,515,779 17,138,330 16,008 17,154,338
MEARZFIGHAMAELLZ  Exchange differences arising on
EiZE translation to presentation currency - - (767,680) - - - (767688)  (1,176)  (768,864)
EEBERARAERES  Share of other comprehensive expense
Eh2EER of associates and joint ventures - - (99,623 - - - (99,623 - (99,623
THHERE Change in fair value of
MEEZEY available-for-sale investments - - - (61,313 - - (61313 - (61313
REA L ERER Released upon disposal of available-for-
ERZEA sale investments to profit or loss - - - (202,667) - - (202,667) - (202,667)
EhAfLERE Deferred tax effect on change in
MEEZESZ fair value of available-for-sale
ERpEs 7E investments - - - 19167 - - 19,167 - 19,167
RERZRENER Surplus on revaluation of properties
NEERRR upon transfer to investment properties - - - 8 - - 8 - 8
RERZRENZR L Deferred tax effect on surplus on
NEERRRL revaluation of properties upon
EttE 72 transfer to investment properties - - - 22) - - 22) - )
AEERH (BB Profit (loss) for the year - - - - - 5712954 5,712,954 (4706) 5,708,248
AEEREYE Total comprehensive income
(BR) 8% (expense) for the year - - (867,311) (244,747 - 5712954 4,600,896 (5,882 4,595,014
YEHBAT Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Hits) (note §) - - - - - - - 502398 502393
REENBRANEE Transfer upon disposal of subsidiaries
(Hi7) note ) - N Y S M8 (17,46 o Be65 25,665
REERERERER Transfer upon disposal of joint ventures - - 3,683 - - (B68) - - -
KE2k Dividend recognised as distribution
(#it1s) (note 15) - - - - - (226,015 (226,015) - (226,015)
RZB-AE+ZAZ+-B  At3ist December 2016 7881 1417660 DU 9985 (70) 15981789 20513211 538184 22,051,395
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE_Z—RFT_A=1+—BIFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2016

2016 2015
ot & FTHER FHET
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
BEXK OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B %t A1 4 ) Profit before taxation 6,299,904 3,106,930
R Adjustments for:
H At Y A R W 2 Other income and gains
— & 2 HA — Dividend income (6,277) (3,297)
— R Rl — Interest income on bank deposits and
B A B HBA loan receivables (108,680) (42,368)
—-RE—HEEhEZ — Interest income from
A 2 WA a joint venture (102,952) (5,718)
—RHERAMHEE — Revaluation reserves released upon
RARMERE disposal of available-for-sale
BRzEMHE investments (202,667) (36,039)
FHEEBERERAAREMELZ  Net decrease (increase) in fair value of
SFoR A (3E0) held-for-trading investments 245 (42,270)
—ZHE ZEIERE WA Deferred rental income from a tenant (8,081) (8,583)
BERTYEFEERS Fair value gain on transfer of inventories
RAYMRXZ AnEE of completed properties to investment
Wz properties (116,257) (396,063)
KEMEANEBEZ (Increase) decrease in fair value of
(#8hn) R A investment properties (1,835) 80,831
Eﬁﬁl%%ﬁ%’iz Write-down of inventories of
completed properties 2,526 52,290
JEJ%ZE O REY R~ Impairment loss on loan receivable - 6,523
JE ey Bt % NGIbET Share of profit of associates (12,169) (6,226)
EiEaEdRaM Share of profit of joint ventures (89,984) (110,055)
b & A Finance costs 179,817 263,349
& N 3 Depreciation and amortisation 82,170 104,682
HEMB A E 2 W Gain on disposals of subsidiaries 7 (3,937,675) (3,012,763)
HESERECEBHE Loss on disposal of joint ventures 696 =
ZEWE—HMEATZ  Gain on bargain purchase of
& a subsidiary 8 (1,588,570) =
& RFHEYZE BER  (Gain) loss on disposal and write-off of
iz (Wa) BE property, plant and equipment (120) 163
R EE R Impairment loss of goodwill - 640
LEEREHH 2 Operating cash inflows (outflows) before
2ERSMA R movements in working capital 390,091 (47,974)
EFEEM Increase in inventories of properties (938,863) (850,447)
FFERYE N WE Increase in properties for development
FBERERME and deposits for acquisition of
2R & 8 properties for development (149,357) (766,753)
HapirE (3h) m (Increase) decrease in other inventories (1,350) 7,748
25 &/HJ@JEHQ b Decrease (increase) in trade and
e KIEA R other receivables, deposits and
A (3E) prepayments 488,158 (562,679)
XRE 2 RITET (Increase) decrease in restricted bank
(38 hn) R deposits (632,311) 30,995
B 5 K E e BR K (Decrease) increase in trade and other
(R A) & payables (300,509) 318,425
BERTEM Increase in pre-sale deposits 439,918 668,311
HEzHeZse (Decrease) increase in rental deposits
R ) #2540 from tenants (1,076) 673
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-_T—AFt+-_A=t—HLEE
For the year ended 31st December, 2016

2016 2015

B 5 FERT FET

NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000

ARreEExBsie Cash used in operations (705,299) (1,201,701)
B AR B AR A B PRC income tax and Land

TR ER Appreciation Tax (“LAT”)

([t ER]) paid (411,782) (115,310)
F RS HRT PRC income tax refunded 148 2,974
RAREBXB BT NET CASH USED IN OPERATING

T {E ACTIVITIES (1,116,933)  (1,314,037)
REXK INVESTING ACTIVITIES
B HRLE Interest received 204,312 73,457
BKREEERENRE Dividends received from joint ventures 14,869 97,508
BUREHEMIRERNMKE  Dividends received from other investments 1,889 3,297
BEWXE MENEE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (12,621) (12,653)
HEWE  BE & Proceeds on disposal of property,

RGPS plant and equipment 235 1,080
BEREYE Purchase of investment properties (33,145) (7,629)
ST L R Payment of prepayment lease payments

AR ER on land use right 47) -
HEREYEMR Proceeds from disposal of investment

EEBRE properties, net of business tax 10,522 =
WHEHRBAREEZ Net cash outflow arising on acquisitions

ReFERTY of subsidiaries 8 (2,518,068) =
N NN /N Capital contribution to associates (197,647) (214,651)
Wig—fa &b Acquisition of a joint venture (148,169) -
BERIEEERE Purchase of held-for-trading investments (268) (125,271)
HERHEERE Proceeds from disposal of

Fri% available-for-sale investments 480,000 42,297
HERIEEERE Proceeds from disposal of

Fif% held-for-trading investments - 88,421
RELHEMBEARZ Net cash inflow from disposal of

BE&FERA subsidiaries 7 4,313,869 3,891,779
KELERLEREL Net cash outflow from disposal of

IREFER D joint ventures (9,502) =
BRLENBARZ Deposits received in relation to

B EE S disposal of subsidiaries 44,888 169,756
ERALENRBERARZ Deposits refunded in relation to

REZRE disposal of subsidiaries (325,000) =
BEDERER Advances to joint ventures (473,365) (356,050)
—HAEREEN Repayment from a joint venture 238,663 —
wmEE (B7) Repayment from (advances to)

JEIE PR 2 B K non-controlling shareholders 1,107 (4,991)
FEBEN Loans repaid 316,229 59,666
BTER Loans advanced (460,913) (17,900)
REER 2 Withdrawal of pledged bank

RITERZ I deposits 131 =
REER 2 Placement of pledged bank

RITERZFA deposits (269,786) =
RERELKE2HEHESEE NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 1,178,183 3,688,116
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FAERERD X
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-_ZT—AFt+-_A=+—HLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2016

2016 2015
B = FERT FHET
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
EE-E S FINANCING ACTIVITIES
ERAE Interest paid (259,465) (321,313)
B TR & Dividend paid (226,015) (150,677)
BN FIEERRR Dividends paid to non-controlling
iz 2 shareholders - (9,857)
FERITREMERK New bank and other loans raised 1,499,389 2,510,604
FEBRITREMER Repayment of bank and other loans (1,402,769) (1,617,613)
xB (FRE)BERQT Advances from (repayment to)

N associates 7,712 (169)
WE)REBAEREMBK  (Repayment to) advances from joint ventures (12) 111
55 B IE I IRAR R 5 K Repayment to non-controlling shareholders (9,382) (76,862)

RE—EeEhE Advance from
AN = a joint venture partner 70,588 —
BEGEGER Repayment of membership debentures (1,513) (1,038)
(AR)RBMEZEKZ  NET CASH (USED IN) FROM
HEFEE FINANCING ACTIVITIES (321,467) 333,186
ReRBELEHEER NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH
(R 2>) 18 hn 3 48 AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (260,217) 2,707,265
R—BA—BzZzEHE2K CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
REEERA 1ST JANUARY 3,971,950 1,320,997
SNER R E 2B Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (151,826) (56,312)
R+=—B=+—8H%2 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
ReRBREEHEER AT 31ST DECEMBER 3,559,907 3,971,950
RERBEEE ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH
BEEFEDIN AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
RITHEFERS Bank balances and cash 4,330,115 4,134,708
B XREZ Less: restricted bank
RITHETF (Hat) deposits (Note) (795,069) (162,758)
3,535,046 3,971,950
BREEDEAFTEBEL  Bank balances and cash included in
WITHEF RS assets classified as held for sale 24,861 =
3,559,907 3,971,950

Miet: SRBERTEGFEREMCBITEGFTRIES ZIE  Note:  The restricted bank deposits are included in bank balances and cash which
RITEFREANEENMEERER - can only be applied in the designated property development projects.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z—RF+_A=+—BIFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2016

1. #¥E

ARAR—RERBEMRILZ AR EMAR
NE EBRNEEEMERZAARAE (M5
) £ e RA B EMMEFERMU AR T
ZLEEMHBNAFR [ RAAER — P HE-

AEETBERENEBRENE  SBRIEE
B REBEERYEEERREER - ARAZ
DEEERARE (TARK]) BXRKEZX
MPEBGEDEARLXME ([HE])LE-
RAMBRRATEEE (DET)) 27 &8
ARBINEEER AR TE -ZBEEARFZ
Ems ARRZES ([BEF])RB/BTL

RRABZENEE-

2. BRI REETERMBRE
ZR (TERUBHRERED])

REAFERHER BBV BREER
LHES

RAFE AEEEEXRER T BB
fing ([EESEAE]) B2 B EMER
EERZAERTA

BEMBREENFIRETL KBAEEIFEENETRE

BBGIEREIRETA

BB QRS R
BB ERERIET A

BESHENER
BEGHENENFETA

WERBHEARITELRR

REEENEY

BRMBREEAF 0%
BEMBREEAR R
BB g ERBBRETA

e EREIHEN

REER: ER&AARL
BIsMER

FBREE=T -5 F
-3 MR EEUE

BT ATt ESN NEERBEEVBRE LR
ZERIAHAEENAFE L BEFE 2T

KRR, B

BEATE-

VR BMBERRZWEL

1. GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in Hong
Kong and its securities are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office which
is also principal place of business of the Company is disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section of the annual report.

The principal activities of the Group are property development and
investment, golf course operation, provision of hotel and property
management and investment holding. The functional currency of
the Company is Renminbi (“RMB”) as the Group conducts most
of its operations in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in the currency
of Hong Kong (“Hong Kong Dollars”) which is different from the
functional currency of the Company, as the directors of the Company
(“Directors”) consider that Hong Kong Dollars is the most appropriate
presentation currency in view of its place of listing.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)

for the first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interest in
Joint Operations

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS16 and Clarification of Acceptable Methods of

HKAS 38 Depreciation and Amortisation
Amendments to HKAS 16 and  Agriculture: Bearer Plants
HKAS 41

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2012 - 2014 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the Group's
financial performance and positions for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_ZT—AFt+-_A=+—HLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2016

2. ST REBTE SRS %
B) (BB EEEREER ) (@)

BRSHEAEIREILTHRE

AEERANFEERERTE G ERER
ERIAR TEBEE | - BAESHEAE1IRERTA
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BAEEND IR REREEMEEMH
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HIEE  RETERERTKEREEHRD
BEREREER -
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AEEDEYPRAZEFER -5 THENRE
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The Group has applied the amendments to HKAS 1 “Disclosure
Initiative” for the first time in the current year. The amendments to
HKAS 1 clarify that an entity need not provide a specific disclosure
required by an HKFRS if the information resulting from that disclosure
is not material, and give guidance on the bases of aggregating and
disaggregating information. However, the amendments reiterate that
an entity should consider providing additional disclosures when
compliance with the specific requirements in HKFRS is insufficient
to enable users of financial statements to understand the impact of
particular transactions, events and conditions on the entity’s financial
position and financial performance.

In addition, the amendments clarify that an entity’s share of the other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted
for using the equity method should be presented separately from
those arising from the Group, and should be separated into the
share of items that, in accordance with other HKFRSs: (i) will not be
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (ii) will be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met.

As regards the structure of the financial statements, the amendments
provide examples of systematic ordering or grouping of the notes.

The Group has applied these amendments retrospectively. The
grouping and ordering of certain notes have been revised to give
prominence to the areas of the Group’s activities that management
considers to be most relevant to an understanding of the Group’s
financial performance and financial position. Specifically, information
to financial instruments was reordered to note 47 while information
in relation to segment was reordered to note 5. Other than the
above presentation and disclosure changes, the application of the
amendments to HKAS 1 has not resulted in any impact on the
financial performance or financial position of the Group in these
consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION

REHPEKREBRAR
2016 F iR

111

OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28
Amendments to HKAS 7
Amendments to HKAS 12

Financial Instruments’

Revenue from Contracts with Customers' and
the related Amendments

Leases’

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions'

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts'

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?

Disclosure Initiative*

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2019

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2017
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, general hedge
accounting and impairment requirements for financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 that are relevant to the Group:

e All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKFRS
9 are required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost
or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within
a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within a
business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that have
contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, are generally measured at a ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ (“FVTOCI”). All other debt
investments and equity investments are measured at their fair
value at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition,
under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election
to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity
investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive
income, with only dividend income generally recognised in profit
or loss.

e In relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS 9 requires
an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit
loss model under HKAS 39. The expected credit loss model
requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and
changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In
other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have
occurred before credit losses are recognised.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Application of HKFRS 9 in the future may have a material impact on
the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets.
The Group’s available-for-sale investments will either be measured as
fair value through profit or loss or be designated as FVTOCI (subject to
fulfillment of the designation criteria). In addition, the expected credit
loss model may result in early provision of credit losses which are not
yet incurred in relation to the Group’s financial assets measured at
amortised cost. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable
estimation of the effect of HKFRS 9 until the Group performs a
detailed review.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS
11 “Construction Contracts” and the related Interpretations when it
becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

e Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

e Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a

performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control” of the goods
or services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been
added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore,
extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15 in relation to
the identification of performance obligations, principal versus agent
considerations, as well as licensing application guidance.

The Directors anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in the
future may have an impact on the timing and amounts of revenue
recognition in respect of the Group’s contracts with customers on
sales of properties. Specifically, HKFRS 15 requires the allocation of
total consideration to respective performance obligations based on
relative fair values. Furthermore, revenue on sales of properties will
be recognised when customers obtain control over the properties
under HKFRS 15 as compared to upon transfer of significant risks and
rewards of ownership under HKAS 18. However, it is not practicable
to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 until the
Group performs a detailed review. The application of HKFRS 15 in
the future may also result in more disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification
of lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors and
lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and the related
interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of
whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. Distinctions
of operating leases and finance leases are removed for lessee
accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by
lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently
measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement
of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date.
Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease
payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst
others. For the classification of cash flows, the Group currently
presents upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows
in relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those classified
as investment properties while other operating lease payments are
presented as operating cash flows. Under the HKFRS 16, lease
payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal
and an interest portion which will be presented as financing cash
flows.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised prepaid
lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is a lessee.
The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential changes in
classification of these assets depending on whether the Group
presents right-of-use assets separately or within the same line item at
which the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 December, 2016, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of HK$6,336,000 as disclosed in note 41. A
preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet
the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16, and hence the Group will
recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect
of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term
leases upon the application of HKFRS 16. In addition, the application
of new requirements may result changes in measurement, presentation
and disclosure as indicated above. However, it is not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of the financial effect until the Directors
complete a detailed review.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”
and HKAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” deal
with situations where there is a sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically, the
amendments state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control
of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a transaction with
an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method, are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint
venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement
of investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has become
an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method) to fair value are recognised in the former parent’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new
associate or joint venture.

The amendments are to be applied prospectively to transactions
occurring in annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined. The Directors anticipate that the application of these
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 may have an impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements in future periods should
such transactions arise.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments require an entity to provide disclosures that enable
users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities including both changes arising from cash
flows and non-cash changes. Specially, the amendments require the
following changes in liabilities arising from financing activities to be
disclosed: (i) changes from financing cash flows; (ii) changes arising
from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other businesses;
(iii) the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates; (iv) changes in fair
values; and (v) other changes.

The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning
on or after 1st January, 2017 with earlier application permitted. The
application of the amendments will result in additional disclosures on
the Group’s financing activities, specifically reconciliation between
the opening and closing balances in the consolidated statement of
financial position for liabilities arising from financing activities will be
provided on application.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain properties and financial
instruments, that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
“Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Inventories of properties

Inventory of completed properties held for sale and inventories
of properties under development for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises the cost of land,
development expenditure, other attributable costs and borrowing
costs capitalised. Net realisable value is determined by reference
to management estimates based on prevailing market conditions.
Inventories of properties are transferred to investment properties at fair
value when there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of
an operating lease. The difference between the carrying amount and
the fair value at the date of transfer is recognised directly in profit or
loss.

Properties for development

Properties for development is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any identified impairment loss. Cost comprises
the consideration for acquisition of land use rights and other costs
directly attributable to bringing the leasehold land to the condition
necessary for it to be capable of development of the properties. The
consideration for acquisition of land use rights represent leasehold
land held for future development. The costs that are directly
attributable to bringing the leasehold land to the condition necessary
for it to be capable of development of the properties are capitalised as
costs of properties for development.

Amortisation of properties for development are recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss because income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax is recognised to profit or loss, except when
it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in
the accounting for the business combination.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties which are held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation or both. Investment properties include
land held for undetermined future use, which is regarded as held for
capital appreciation purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair value. All of the
Group's property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation purposes are classified and accounted for
as investment properties and are measured using the fair value model.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

Transfer from investment property to property, plant and equipment
will be made when there is a change in use, evidenced by
commencement of owner occupation. Transfer from investment
property to property under development will be made where there is
a change in use, evidence by the commencement of construction for
property for sale. For a transfer from investment property carried at
fair value to owner-occupied property, the property’s deemed cost for
subsequent accounting are determined by reference to its fair value at
the date of change in use.

Inventory of properties is transferred to investment property when it
is evidenced by the commencement of an operating lease to another
party. The difference between the fair value and the carrying amount
at the date of transfer is recognised in profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property, calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the
year in which the item is derecognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment losses (other than goodwill)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold and
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group's activities, as described below.

Income from properties developed for sale is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the properties are
transferred to buyers, which is when the construction of relevant
properties has been completed and the properties have been
delivered to the purchasers and collectibility of related receivables is
reasonably assured. Profit or loss arising from the outright sale of an
entire development property prior to completion is recognised when
a binding sales contract becomes unconditional and the risks and
rewards of the ownership have been transferred to the buyer.

Deposits received from sales of properties prior to meeting the above
criteria for revenue recognition are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position under current liabilities.

Sales of other goods are recognised when goods are delivered and title
has passed.

Income from golf course operation and hotel and property
management is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to
that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Group's
rights to receive payment have been established.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in
an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size
and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or
other parties;

e rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholders” meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s relevant components of equity including reserves and
the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted after re-
attribution of the relevant equity component, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19
“Employee Benefits” respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” at the
acquisition date; and

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance with that
standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If,
after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations (continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on
a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
the corresponding adjustments made against goodwill. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations (continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to the financial assets and financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance of the
purchase price is then allocated to the other individual identifiable
assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the
date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
bargain purchase gain.

Interests in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Interests in associates and joint ventures (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting, except when the investment, or a
portion thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which case it is or
the portion so classified accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5
“Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”. Any
retained portion of an investment in an associate or a joint venture
that has not been classified as held for sale shall be accounted for
using the equity method. The financial statements of associates and
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Appropriate adjustments
have been made to conform the associate’s and the joint venture’s
accounting policies to those of the Group. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or joint venture
exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses
are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate
or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Interests in associates and joint ventures (continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets” as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently

increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the
retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKAS 39,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition
in accordance with HKAS 39. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture at the date the equity method
was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the associate
or joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on
the same basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate.
There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.



/

///

Annual Report 2016

REMB®RWME

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_ZT—AFt+-_A=t+—HLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2016

3. BEESRBE#)
RS NRREELRERE (8)

EAKEROERB L ARNAE LR -

BAEEERERRDER AEESKFA
Sh % TR A R AR EL A 2 T M s R HERR O IR
S BRBOENFEE RS AIRERZER
aXEEERREELRBEHER NS EMNR

o
i

EERAAEEREATRA BLLE
B« B 2 FIS BB R A R 2
BOR EREAEEEMNERT

T

ERMITH

EREEERKATASNMEMRZFTAIR
TREENEHMABESHER-

CREENERBERARBEARE
WEETEREELERBEMEREHRLZ
RPRACERBRRRANBEREZERE
EREBAERIN IR ERERRZERBR
MASIREZEREEXLTRABZANE
B-WEBERESRARNBEREZCREE
HEMABBMERBIEZXHRALEIN &R

EHEE

AEEZERMEERA T =R 2 HP—
@ BREERERANBERECEREE

BERRERSFERAIREEZEREE -5 1R
BFEMEENEE KRB OMIE - W5
RRET - MEEBLETABEXLESR
BENER 5 AEEEARBUBMER BB
BARETZBERLETIRMISR A KB
REZBKRERARNEEZ EMEERBE X
HE -

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Interests in associates and joint ventures (continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three
categories, including financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as at fair value through profit or loss
when the financial assets is (i) held for trading, or (ii) it is designated
as at fair value through profit or loss, or (iii) contingent consideration
that may be received by an acquirer as part of a business combination
to which HKFRS 3 applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near future; or

e it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that
the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading or
contingent consideration that may be received by an acquirer as part
of a business combination may be designated as at fair value through
profit or loss upon initial recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise

arise; or

e the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets
or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with
the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy,
and information about the grouping is provided internally on that
basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire combined contract
(asset or liability) to be designated as at fair value through profit
or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at
fair value, with changes in fair value arising from remeasurement
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, loans receivable, amounts due from
associates, amounts due from joint ventures, amounts due from non-
controlling shareholders, pledged bank deposits and bank balances
and cash) are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available for sales or are not classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or
held-to-maturity investments.

Equity securities held by the Group that are classified as available-
for-sale and are traded in an active market are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the carrying
amount of available-for-sale monetary financial assets relating to
interest income calculated using the effective interest method are
recognised in profit or loss. Dividends on available-for-sale equity
investments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s
right to receive the dividends is established. Other changes in the
carrying amount of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading
of revaluation reserves. When the investment is disposed of or is
determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss,
are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there
is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered
to be objective evidence of impairment.

For the other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could
include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

e breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organisation; or

e disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because
of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for indicators of impairment on a collective basis.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that
the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a
trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recovery of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
losses was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

In respect of available-for-sale equity investments, impairment losses
previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit
or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under
the heading of investment revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Equity Instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities that include interest-bearing and interest-
free borrowings, trade and other payables, dividend payable to
non-controlling shareholders and membership debentures are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying value on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it

incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL, are
subsequently measured at the higher of:

(i) the amount of obligation under the contract, as determined in
accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets”; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the assets expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised
directly in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated in the statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Land and buildings transferred from investment properties are stated
at deemed cost equal to its fair value at the date of change in use. The
transferred properties are depreciated over their unexpired lease term.

Depreciation is recognised to write off the cost of items of property,

plant and equipment less their residual value over their estimated

useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per

annum:

Land and buildings Over the unexpired lease term or
40 years, whichever is shorter

Over the expected unexpired
lease term

20% — 30% or over the lease
term, whichever is shorter

20% — 33%

Golf course
Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixture and equipment
and motor vehicles

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in the profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment
property because its use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-
occupation, any difference between the carrying amount and its
fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the relevant
revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained profits.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land held
under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land and buildings

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an operating
lease separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including
any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the
lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments on land
use rights” in the consolidated statement of financial position and
is amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for
those that are classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building elements, the entire
lease is generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as
property, plant and equipment, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases, in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise except for:

e exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to
assets under construction for future productive use, which are
included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an
adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

e exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group's interests.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s entities are translated into
the Group presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong Dollars) at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transaction are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of exchange translation reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a
disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, state-
managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is
regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset
(disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition
subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such
asset (or disposal group). Management must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed
sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met,
regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest
in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale
are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the investment
property portfolios of the Group and its joint ventures and concluded
that investment properties held by the Group and its joint ventures
are not held under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in
determining the deferred taxation on investment properties of the
Group and its joint ventures, the Directors have determined that
the “sales” presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely
through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised the
deferred taxes on changes in fair value of investment properties as the
Group is subject to income taxes and LAT on the fair value changes of
the investment properties on disposal.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policies (continued)

Business combination versus asset acquisition

As stated in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had acquired a number of subsidiaries during the year. The
Directors have assessed these acquisitions and have concluded
that in their view the acquisition of Dan Form Holdings Company
Limited (“Dan Form”) constituted an acquisition of a business under
HKFRS 3 “Business Combination”, as there were inputs and process
identified within such acquisition. For remaining acquisitions, the
Directors have assessed and concluded that in their view these
acquisitions represent acquisition of assets as there was not adequate
process identified to warrant the transactions being accounted for as
acquisitions of businesses.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Valuation of properties for development and inventories of
properties

Properties for development of HK$1,999,170 (2015: 4,358,572)
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any identified
impairment loss, while inventories of properties of HK$5,447,840,000
(2015: HK$6,524,743,000) are stated at the lower of the cost and net
realisable value. Management determined the net realisable value
of inventories of completed properties with reference to estimated
market prices of similar properties, and determined the net realisable
value of inventories of inventories of properties under development
and recoverable amounts of properties for development based on
valuations performed by the independent and qualified professional
valuers. The valuations are dependent on certain significant inputs
that involve management’s judgments, including gross development
value, developer’s profit and discount rate. Besides, management
estimated future cost to completion of inventories of properties under
development with reference to the actual development cost of the
Group’s completed projects.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value measurements on acquisition of Dan Form

As stated in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
was required to determine the fair value of identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed in the Dan Form and its subsidiaries (“Dan
Form Group”) in accordance with HKFRS 3 “Business Combination”
on acquisition date. The determination of the fair value of these assets
can be complex and requires significant judgement by management to
ensure the valuation techniques and inputs used are reasonable and
supportable. Where there are any changes on inputs of valuation, a
change on gain on bargain purchase may arise.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value
for financial reporting purposes. The Directors has to determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level
1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified
valuers to perform the valuation. The Directors work closely with
the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on observable market data to estimate the fair value of certain
types of financial instruments. Notes 17, 22, 30 and 47 provide
detailed information about the valuation techniques, inputs and key
assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of various
assets and liabilities.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Land appreciation tax

PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of
properties less deductible expenditures including sales charges,
borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The details of implementation
have been announced by local tax bureaux in certain major cities,
however, the Group has not finalised its LAT calculation and payments
with local tax bureaux in those cities in the PRC. Accordingly,
significant judgements are required in determining the amount of
land appreciation and its related taxes. The Group recognises these
liabilities based on management’s best estimates according to the
understanding of the tax rules. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.

Taxation

At 31st December, 2016, a deferred tax asset of HK$4,991,000 (2015:
HK$4,563,000) in relation to unused tax losses has been recognised
as set out in note 39. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on
the remaining tax losses of HK$575,015,000 (2015: HK$704,241,000)
and other deductible temporary differences of HK$793,345,000
(2015: HK$623,552,000) as it is not probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the tax losses and deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. The realisability of the deferred tax
asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the actual future profits generated are less than or more than
expected, a material reversal or recognition of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in the statement of profit or loss for
the period in which such an event takes place.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's revenue for the year was derived mainly from activities
carried out and located in the PRC. The Group’s basis of organisation
is determined based on three main operations: property development,
property investment and other operations, that comprises mainly hotel
and property management and golf course operation. Similarly, the
Group's reportable and operating segments, reported to the Executive
Directors of the Company, the chief operating decision maker, for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, also
focused on these three main operations.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s segment revenue, results,
assets and liabilities by reportable and operating segments for the year
under review:

2016 2015

FHET T T

HK$’000 HK$’000

HED BRI Sales of completed properties 1,362,183 446,576

WA Rental income 396,695 448,705

BRAIRGEERA Income from golf course operation 12,872 28,424
B E R Y3 TR Income from hotel and

YA property management 122,715 105,654

1,894,465 1,029,359

A2H/EKEDHRIZEL L ENHE
&2

There are no intersegment sales and transfers among the reportable
and operating segments.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

REERARFEEZWARBEEFZRBERE  The Group’s revenue and assets for the year were derived mainly
Fiis& 2 5% SR BRERFME - AEE 2  from activities carried out and located in the PRC (including Hong
A EE BERABRIZSHEEED S Kong). An analysis of the Group’s segment revenue, results, assets and

DT : liabilities by reportable and operating segment is as follows:
MERRE MERE Hth& & &t
Property Property Other
development  investment operations Consolidated
THERT FTHERT FTHER FTHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE-Z2-XRF For the year ended
TZR=1+—-HLEE 31st December, 2016
2 EEA SEGMENT REVENUE
HINHE External sales 1,362,183 396,695 135,587 1,894,465
ES RESULTS
HEpEA (BE) Segment profit (loss) 4,007,717 2,018,285 (19,658) 6,006,344
H A A R ez Other income and gains 598,314
AEDBLERER Unallocated corporate expenses (227,090)
BE KA Finance costs (179,817)
JE BB & 1 B& A Share of profit of associates 12,169 - - 12,169
EIEEERE Share of profit (loss) of
wA (EE) joint ventures (11,850) 127,239 (25,405) 89,984
B 34 Bl A Profit before tax 6,299,904
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5. ZRVER (@) 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
MEBRRE MERE HitheE &
Property Property Other
development  investment operations Consolidated

TER TER TER TER
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

R-ZZB-—RE As at 31st December, 2016
t=RA=+—-8H

BE ASSETS
DEEE Segment assets 9,754,678 11,242,137 28,281 21,025,096
REFE R B 2 s Interests in associates 428,550 3,136,802 - 3,565,352
ReErE R Interests in joint ventures 265,815 1,672,105 229,410 2,167,330
Bt A )RR Amounts due from associates 2,563 3,925 - 6,488
EEBERT Amounts due from joint ventures 927,498 - 67,284 994,782
REEDBILEERE Unallocated corporate assets 5,932,786
EHEEE Consolidated total assets 33,691,834

af LIABILITIES
DB E Segment liabilities 4,328,502 2,053,333 9,062 6,390,897
ReEDBEZLEEE Unallocated corporate liabilities 5,249,542

EHEERE Consolidated total liabilities 11,640,439
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

MEER MERE Hith& & &6t
Property Property Other
development  investment operations Consolidated
TR THET FTHT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE-Z-—F For the year ended
+t-ZA=+—-HLEE 31st December, 2016
Htr & OTHER INFORMATION
BER S E Rk Amounts included in the measure of
EBRIHPEE segment profit or loss or segment
FEZEH: assets:
FEMBNE E I Addition to non-current assets 154,239 28,090 6,729 189,058
IrE R Depreciation and amortisation 61,482 13,844 6,844 82,170
HEMITHYE  BE K (Gain) loss on disposal and write-off
Rz (M) BB of property, plant and equipment 6 8 (134) (120
ERINEFEERE Fair value gain on transfer of
REMF LN EER inventories of completed
Yz properties to investment properties - 116,257 - 116,257
REMELNAEBEZ Increase in fair value of investment
12 hn properties - 1,835 - 1,835
BRINEFEZ Write-down inventories of
B completed properties 2,526 - - 2,526
HIEEBERERNA(EME L  Netdecrease in fair value of
e 8 held-for-trading investments - - 245 245
REERHLERER Revaluation reserves released upon
EBRERRZ disposal of available-for-sale
B FE investments to profit or loss - - 202,667 202,667
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5. ZRVER (@) 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
e MEKRE Hipe & aft
Property Property Other
development  investment operations  Consolidated
TR TET TET TAET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE-Z-1F For the year ended
+TZRB=1+—-HLEE 31st December, 2015
2 EUA SEGMENT REVENUE
HINHE External sales 446,576 448,705 134,078 1,029,359
E3 RESULTS
7 BB A Segment profit 2,765,270 545,943 63,515 3,374,728
Hofth g A\ T Wz Other income and gains 114,480
ReenHEzEXER Unallocated corporate expenses (235,210)
A& AR Finance costs (263,349)
FEG B & A B A Share of profit of associates 6,226 - - 6,226
BIERERR Share of profit (loss) of
A (E1R) joint ventures 7,348 140,671 (37,964) 110,055

BR % A )t A

Profit before tax

3,106,930
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5. ZHRPER (&)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

MEER MERE Hih & & ki
Property Property Other
development investment operations  Consolidated
TET FET THET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZZE—&F As at 31st December, 2015
+t=A=+—-H
BE ASSETS
NEEE Segment assets 11,314,709 10,251,075 711,714 22,277,498
i RN s Interests in associates 234,210 - - 234,210
REELEEE Interests in joint ventures 866,570 1,085,787 (43,128) 1,909,229
A= NCIDNE Amounts due from associates 2,563 = = 2,563
EEBERT Amounts due from joint ventures 842,482 = 51,029 893,511
RN EEE Unallocated corporate assets 6,244,131
EHBEE Consolidated total assets 31,561,142
af LIABILITIES
HEEE Segment liabilities 4,550,286 1,989,281 78,818 6,618,385
REENBEZEERE Unallocated corporate liabilities 7,788,419
EHBEEE Consolidated total liabilities 14,406,804
o B HIE ETBUR BAMIFE3FTHLEIANEE @ The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as
= uﬁ'ﬁﬁlﬁﬁ BlenEha M (B1E)#ETES B the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment profit

BmFE (EEREBR) B W S BEMK
AR BERAS  BEBERRRAERE
A (BB RARREN B 2 R EM - UL THER
FTARRBATESFHE RS ELFERERE
MR E-

(loss) represents the profit earned by (loss from) each segment without
allocation of other income and gains, finance costs, share of profit
(loss) of associates and joint ventures and unallocated corporate
expenses. This is the measure reported to the Executive Directors of
the Company for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

MEER MERE Hit & & X
Property Property Other
development  investment operations  Consolidated
TAET TAET THET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE-Z-1F For the year ended
+TZRB=1+—-HLEE 31st December, 2015
Rt OTHER INFORMATION
BERDEEFHEES  Amounts included in the measure
DEMEEFE of segment profit or loss or
k- segment assets:
FRBEEZEM Addition to non-current assets 770,152 6,244 3,010 779,406
IrE REH Depreciation and amortisation 81,005 14,422 9,255 104,682
HEMEHDFE BE K (Gain) loss on disposal and write-off
iz (M) B8R of property, plant and equipment (508) 667 4 163
BERINEFEERE Fair value gain on transfer of
REMEZ AAEBE inventories of completed
Uit properties to investment properties = 396,063 - 396,063
REMERNAEBEZ Decrease in fair value of investment
B properties = 80,831 - 80,831
BERINMEFEZ Write-down inventories of
RE completed properties 52,290 - - 52,290
EWE R ERE Impairment loss on loans receivable 6,523 - = 6,523
RIEEERERAEMEZ  Netincrease in fair value of
el held-for-trading investments = = 42,270 42,270
R HE At HER AR Revaluation reserves released upon
FMERERRZ disposal of available-for-sale
EHEE investments to profit or loss - - 36,039 36,039
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5. HER (&)
HEER
REB Z £ RFE - FTERNEEBEINEF

EEZWARBRGREHRIERINOUERE
AR EBRBEEDMNTE-

IREFZER

AEBAREHE—HIINEFERF 2 WAERE
Bl FZUAT0%3L A £ o

6. HAUA Rz

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical information

The Group’s major operations are located in the PRC. All of the
Group's revenue from external customers is determined based on
the location at which the services were provided or the goods were
delivered. The Group’s major non-current assets are located in the
PRC.

Information about major customers

No revenue from transaction with single external customer is
amounted to 10% or more of the Group's revenue for the year.

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

2016 2015
FHERT THETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
g 2 A Dividend income
—JF Lk — unlisted shares 644 750
— bk Hm — listed shares 5,633 2,547
RITIF A BIA Interest income on bank deposits 25,763 17,969
FEW & A B Interest income from loans
WA receivable 82,917 24,399
XE—HegrEz Interest income from a joint
LR A venture 102,952 5,718
REERHEERER Revaluation reserves released upon
MERERRZ disposal of available-for-sale
BEEE investments to profit or loss 202,667 36,039
RIFEBFTRHEZ Deposits forfeited on termination
Bt /B X B i R I Y of contracted disposal of
e subsidiaries 145,693 =
#7 Bh A Subsidy income 1,959 6,346
E AU A Other income 30,086 20,712

598,314 114,480




REMB WKW

\

\

REHPEKREBRAR
2016 F iR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_ZT—Ft+-_A=t+—HLEE
For the year ended 31st December, 2016

7. HEWBARzWES

REBEZE-_T—R"FT_A=+—HBLEFER"
AEBEENRAFEMB AR 2 RS TELE
=7 - Hh —EMEB A RN BEMAKS - AR
RABREMERE -EPMEAMNBARRE
BARBESEMA UREMBRRRAE
CERPEDFIEENEER NGRS E
I o EL P — R B8 2 B0 28 B A R BE & R AR
o AREMBARRTEEENEER S —
B Pl B8 /2 R 0 588 A U B S RE MBS - A B b5
BEREKRER-

REBE-_Z—AFE+-_A=1+—HBItFERN"
AEBMBYE=-FHE=HNBARINES
- EPMENBRA RN EB S RE S ]
B AREMB AR S BIR BN EYEE
B’ EMEE - SINYKB A AR BB
N AREWBARNFEEEEERE -

7. GAIN ON DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31st December, 2016, the Group disposed of
its entire interests in five subsidiaries to independent third parties.
One of the subsidiaries is established in the PRC and is engaged
in property investment in the PRC. Two of the subsidiaries are
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and their subsidiary and
joint venture are engaged in property development and management
of golf courses in the PRC respectively. One of the subsidiaries
is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and its subsidiary is
engaged in property development in the PRC. The other subsidiary
is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and is holding a loan
receivable.

During the year ended 31st December, 2015, the Group disposed of
its entire interests in three subsidiaries to independent third parties.
Two of the subsidiaries are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
and their subsidiaries are engaged in property development and
other operations in the PRC respectively. The other subsidiary is
incorporated in Hong Kong and its subsidiary is engaged in property
development in the PRC.
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7. HEHBARZWES (2
ST

ZEMBARZF (ABE)BERHERWT

7. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Details of the disposals are as follows:

The net (liabilities) assets of the subsidiaries at the date of disposals

were as follows:

2016 2015
FTHER FHAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
HEF (BB EE: Net (liabilities) assets disposed of:
ME - B KRB Property, plant and equipment 126,899 1,990
REME Investment properties 153,000 —
FERYE Properties for development 741,777 936,455
T E A Prepaid lease payments on
AR HEER land use rights 12,177 —
BEAR-—HeEEEZ Obligations in excess of
Mm 2B interest in a joint venture (198,114) -
—HEELERK Amount due from a joint venture 458,808 =
AHEERE Available-for-sale investments - 66,667
BRPYE Inventories of properties under
rE development 1,239,814 324,353
B T3 Inventories of properties
FE completed - 610
HEMhFE Other inventories 2,346 =
FEUE 7K Loan receivable 401,535 -
B 5 & H e IR Trade and other receivables,
Re RBERK deposits and prepayments 3,597 1,731
RITHEFRIRE Bank balances and cash 5,244 935
BRERE R Shareholders’ loans (1,314,348) =
B 5k EAMEMEBRER Trade and other payables (386,309) (32,422)
BEERSE Pre-sale deposits (21,127) (111)
RIEEE Tax liabilities - (49,908)
SHEERE Membership debentures (50,942) —
Bt B 18 3K Interest-bearing borrowings (865,357) =
% BAEK Interest-free borrowings (472,329) -
RERIEE R Deferred tax liabilities (62,887) (192,649)
HEF (BB EE Net (liabilities) assets disposed (226,216) 1,057,651
1 R i B Non-controlling interests 25,665 =
BE-ERRER Settlement of shareholders’ loans 1,314,348 =
& W Gain on disposals 3,937,675 3,012,763
& P15 SR I8F 58 - Net proceeds on disposals,

B comprising 5,051,472 4,070,414
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7. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

2016 2015
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
— RN 6 [ YR Y — Cash consideration received
ReRE in current year 3,004,765 3,892,714
—AEE EHRAERG — Cash consideration settled by
BENRSRE Hong Kong listed shares - 164,565
—RARFEEBERN — Settlement of shareholders’
REREEHK loans in current year 1,314,348 -
— R ARTF E W EE & — Cash consideration received in
AemBEeRE prior years as deposit 732,359 13,135
5,051,472 4,070,414
EREZRAHENZ Exchange translation reserve
P F B transferred to retained earnings
(Htita) (Note a) 23,637 48,914
EEE 2N K #E Other reserves transferred to
(KHtith) retained earnings (Note b) (40,883) -
HERMEEZFRE Net cash inflow arising on
MA disposals:
RARFYEHIE & Cash consideration received
RE in current year 4,319,113 3,892,714
HEZRITET R Bank balances and cash
Be disposed of (5,244) (935)
4,313,869 3,891,779
BtaE - Notes:

(@ HEHEENMHBARIRAARININEEREER 25 (@) Since the functional currencies of the disposed subsidiaries and the Company
REZ B R B S B A R A B 2 B =5
RNEERRELZBEBENDRERER -

are the same, exchange differences accumulated in exchange translation
reserve relating to the disposed subsidiaries are reclassified from exchange
translation reserve to retained earnings at the time of disposal.

(b) EMFEERPUAMFEREWENE AR ZARMR (b)) Other reserves represented the fair value adjustment from acquisition of the
EEAE-

subsidiary in prior years.
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8. BREUEHEBARZWE

NETZA=1T—HILFEA"

(@) N5 B LA3,096,495,0008 It 7 48R (8 U ¥

A (—REB LT AR #90.65%2 #
mo KB EFEXBAEREBREY
XERERYMEETE - WERZIRKES
EIEBWEEEEALR - B B 2 IR - R
SEERE—(EAFRFINENERER
BRI - MENNEEEIL R
EMSERMAEENENBERY - EAE
MEREEMT G IEFIFEE
ZAnBEEBAKENRE  EEREBEREK
= REWEE S EMEARNZEWESER
1,588,570,00078 JT

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

8.

GAIN ON BARGAIN PURCHASE OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31st December, 2016, the Group acquired four

subsidiaries, detailed information is illustrated below:

(a)

The Group acquired approximately 90.65% interest in Dan Form,
a listed company in Hong Kong, for a total consideration of
HK$3,096,495,000. The principal businesses of Dan Form Group
are engaged in the property investment and property management
in Hong Kong. This transaction has been accounted for as
acquisition of business using acquisition accounting. In relation
to the Dan Form acquisition, the Group had made competitive
offer price in acquiring the shares of Dan Form from the existing
shareholders. The intrinsic value of the properties had not been
reflected by the market price and also the offer price made by
the Group. After re-assessment by the management of the Group,
the fair value of net identifiable assets exceeded the purchase
consideration, resulting in the bargain purchase gain. The amount
of bargain purchase arising as a result of the acquisition of Dan
Form is HK$1,588,570,000.
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8. ZEWEMEBLAR WS (&) 8. GAIN ON BARGAIN PURCHASE OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

KA AR SR FEEMNT

The net assets acquired in the Dan Form's transactions are as follows:

RER
A PN AREE
ZREE A AREE
Acquirees’
carrying
amount before Fair value
combination adjustments Fair value
T T T FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BB FEE Net assets acquired:
E RN Property, plant and equipment 82,096 77,728 159,824
REME Investment properties 1,121,881 - 1,121,881
THE R Prepaid lease payments on
FENEER land use rights 22,755 15,077 37,832
REERF 2 #m Interests in associates 3,136,801 = 3,136,801
AHEERE Available-for-sale investments 47,146 = 47,146
B 5 REMEIERR Trade and other receivables,
®e RBERK deposits and prepayments 8,578 = 8,578
—EE & QR RIR K Amount due from an associate 3,925 = 3,925
RTEEFERRE Bank balances and cash 981,503 - 981,503
B 5 K E A B BRI Trade and other payables (26,470) - (26,470)
HIAEE Tax liabilities (431) - (431)
% BER Interest-free borrowings (139,823) = (139,823)
EIEFL IR Deferred taxation (147,629) (14,836) (162,465)
5,090,332 77,969 5,168,301
JEfERR iz (A aE) Non-controlling interests (Note) (483,236)
=EBYHE—HEKNEARZ Gain on bargain purchase of
e a subsidiary (1,588,570)
RE LRSI Consideration, satisfied by cash 3,096,495
WEMEL 2 FRES Net cash outflow arising on
M acquisition:
BEX 2B ERE Cash consideration paid 3,096,495
Wig 2 RITETF RIS Bank balances and cash acquired (981,503)
2,114,992
HiaE - Note:

RUTE B © #ERR 2 SRR AR AR SR M s 4% FF PR AR A 2 L 1)
DEZBRBBERBAZABINFEEZ ARBEFE

The interests of non-controlling shareholders recognised at the acquisition date were
measured at the non-controlling interests” proportionate share of the fair value of the

acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
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8. BREWEHEBARZWS (#)

FHE N BB E R B2 W% BB Kakifs - L
A BENAERREEMERKEAEE 2
ARBETHEASEEIABENBIER
AHEE—EERITERATNE AETMHE.
WE -BEMEBZHEEETRZNEEEKAN
R REBEUBEZRREMISER HETEE
BREBEMGENEREMEEXRETEERH
RREEBEZRA - L iEREZANEERZ
AABEIZRERLEE 2EZMEE
BRALLER S - REMEZ AETENRRF
M WA RE B KB ®&NERIAE

F (HER) RERLLBE 2 HEm S R
HE AL EGHER 5

AEE 2 ERBRAZUIE R —E R HOR#
A—EEFEnRERARRENMERER
& EHARREREENDR-

WEH—ZT—ARF+ A+t HEKEHR
ZHE FHARENRB AR EMNBEEMER
SE 2 RNEBARVE A - A 7B E AR TR EFHE
R_E—RFT_A=+—BzHBHRE A
ERERAR MWEZAABENREBERRRE
MR EBEAER -

BWER = —R"F—A— BTN AFEZ
ANEEE AW A 1,949,958,00078 7T » LA M REE
s M) A5,770,010,00078 7T  5E ER BE AR
Bk UARWIENBTERRABWEN - —RF
—A—BEK AEENLBERAREEER
SER NEBEAREIRKES-

8. GAIN ON BARGAIN PURCHASE OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

The fair value of the property, plant and equipment, prepaid lease
payments on land use rights and investment properties of Dan Form
and its associates at the date of acquisition of Dan Form have been
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on that date by
DTZ Cushman & Wakefield Limited, a firm of independent and
qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group. The
valuation of property, plant and equipment was principally based
on the depreciated replacement cost approach by considering the
costs to reproduce or replace in new condition the assets appraised
in accordance with the current market prices for similar assets, with
allowance for accrued depreciation and also make reference to the
market approach. The fair value of prepaid lease payments on land
use rights was principally based on direct comparison approach
by making reference to comparable transactions as available in
the locality. The valuation of investment properties was principally
determined by capitalising the net rental income with due allowance
for outgoing and reversionary income potential or where appropriate
by direct comparison approach by making reference to comparable
sales transactions as available in the relevant market.

The management of the Group considers that the acquisitions offer a
good opportunity to expand the property investment portfolio of the
Group with a consideration at a discount, which is expected to bring
in returns to the shareholders in the long run.

No profit was contributed by Dan Form and its subsidiaries to the
Group's profit for the period between the date of acquisition on 22nd
December, 2016 and the end of the reporting period. The fair value
adjustments are made based on the financial statements of Dan Form
as at 31st December, 2016 as in the opinion of our management,
there were no material differences between the fair value of the
properties as at acquisition date and the end of the reporting period.

If the above acquisition had been completed on 1st January, 2016,
total group revenue for the year would have been HK$1,949,958,000,
and profit for the year would have been HK$5,770,010,000. The
pro forma information is for illustration purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1st January, 2016, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results.
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8. BREWEHEBARZWS (#)

(b) BIN=IAEZ HEFE 315,400,000 7T 2 K
BRE—EHBARNAAER HE%
(NP BRBESRAES - BINRIBR S A
LA100,700,00078 JT 2 484X {2 U B R/ 8 B /2B
NAEIMFTA R MR E R - MM B AR
BEYWEFREER - ZEXFRBEBEEAN

BE o

Hitb X 5P FEEMN T

8.

GAIN ON BARGAIN PURCHASE OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Another three transactions included the acquisition of the entire

interest in one subsidiary for a consideration of HK$315,400,000

and its joint venture is holding golf courses in the PRC. The other
two transactions are the acquisition of the entire interests in two
subsidiaries and shareholders’ loans for a total consideration
of HK$100,700,000. The two subsidiaries are holding property
investment projects. These transactions are accounted for as

acquisitions of assets.

The net assets acquired in the other transactions are as follows:

FHET
HK$'000
BB ZFEE: Net assets acquired:
ME - WE MR E Property, plant and equipment 258
REME Investment properties 123,664
NEEREZER Interests in joint ventures 258,422
B 5 REAMBYERR  RE R Trade and other receivables, deposits and
SEENE prepayments 1,689
—HAERERK Amount due from a joint venture 62,992
— R FFERIRERER K Amount due from a non-controlling shareholder 9
WITHFRIRS Bank balances and cash 13,024
f& RE R Shareholders’ loans (32,473)
B 5 K HAD A BRR Trade and other payables (1,536)
BT I Deferred taxation (23,265)
402,784
FEZE AR R = Non-controlling interests (19,157)
BERERER Settlement of shareholders’ loans 32,473
KRE UIRE T Consideration, satisfied by cash 416,100
WREEZRSFRL Net cash outflow arising on acquisitions:
EXfzREeKE Cash consideration paid 416,100
BB RITEFERE S Bank balances and cash acquired (13,024)

403,076
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9. BERA 9. FINANCE COSTS
2016 2015
FHER FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
MEMF: Interest on:
RITER Bank loans 235,927 294,041
HaER Other loans 5,875 4,269
BERLHE Loans arrangement fee 9,699 29,033
FEMB G Imputed interest expenses on
EEEZHE non-current membership
MEER debentures 515 1,396
252,016 328,739
Bl BARERERP YR Less: amount capitalised on
Gar-l properties under development (72,199) (65,390)
179,817 263,349
10. Bi1E 10. TAXATION
2016 2015
FTER FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
X The charge comprises:
NEAREIA Current tax
— B ERREN — PRC Enterprise Income Tax 441,976 409,222
— IR ER — LAT 25,606 42,406
467,582 451,628
BEFEEETE Under (over) provision in
(HERRRRE) prior years
—FBEMBH — PRC Enterprise Income Tax 7,079 (1,542)
— IR E — LAT (23) (4)
7,056 (1,546)
474,638 450,082
EEFIA Deferred tax 117,018 61,379
591,656 511,461
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10. BLIE (4)

REBBEEZEERARZMEEANALELM

E%ﬁmﬁJWlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ ST EE-
PR RASTIRENE R RERR R ER

o

BIEFPBETCEMAGHERPBRTEMSHREER
MelEpl - I —BEN\F—A—HiE FEEA
AT E A25% °

T IRE TR 2 B T IR AARE T B BOE ARG A
RIZHRERTE  LHIRERRBIEERERIETE

RER B R IR -

&W%ﬁ%&l%mﬁﬂ%z% A
2008 158 B=EFNF—HA—HUR KR E
A2 B A RIFIEERF DR T IEERIEE
&2 BRI BB WARE S 4
ERTEHAE K27 IR INRR B ¥ R HNE
EMEEBMBIEIEERINEIRERER
SNEEHPEBEEN - ADRAF ZIEL
FRIESZ H62,251,00078 7T & 14,684,00078 T E 5
ARABE-_T—R"F+_A=+—HLFE
REE-_E-RE+-_A=+t-"BILFEZLE
AEREKRA-

10. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the group
companies operating in Hong Kong do not have any assessable profits
for both years. The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at the
rates applicable to respective subsidiaries.

Under the Laws of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax Law and
Implementation Regulation of the Enterprise Income Tax Law, the tax
rate applicable to the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1st January, 2008
onwards.

The provision for LAT is calculated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has been
provided at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation value, with
certain allowable deductions.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and State
Administration of Taxation — Cai Shui 2008 No. 1, dividend
distributed out of the profits generated by its subsidiaries incorporated
in the PRC to “non-residential”
shall be subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax and which held by

investors since 1st January, 2008

the PRC entity pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the Income Tax Law
Concerning Foreign Investment Enterprises and Foreign Enterprises
and Article 91 of the Detailed Rules for the Implementation of the
Income Tax Law for Enterprises with Foreign Investment Enterprises
and Foreign Enterprises. Deferred tax charge of HK$62,251,000 and
HK$14,684,000 on the undistributed earnings has been recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31st
December, 2016 and 31st December, 2015 respectively.
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10. BLIE ()

AEZHRE HEGEAERR NN 2 HR
LN

10.TAXATION (CONTINUED)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the

consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

profit per the

2016 2015
FHERT FHETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
B B2 B sk A Profit before taxation 6,299,904 3,106,930
RE A PTG LR E25% Tax at the domestic income tax
AEZBIEA rate of 25% 1,574,976 776,733
EIEBE R REERE Tax effect of share of profit of
A2 IR & associates and joint ventures (25,538) (29,070)
NI 2 B Tax effect of expenses not
2 deductible for tax purpose 76,871 93,105
IR A 2 BB Tax effect of income not taxable
B for tax purpose (516,358) (22,613)
AERTIIAEE R H A Tax effect of tax losses and
AMAEREREY other deductible temporary
MIAZ & differences not recognised 156,544 123,200
FABERERTIE Tax effect of utilisation of taxes
&5 48 I E At AT HIR losses and other deductible
ERZERZMA temporary differences
TE previously not recognised (62,843) (63,934)
MEARTRREZ Effect of different tax rates of
2 1 subsidiaries (669,223) (389,649)
RO KB Z Withholding tax on undistributed
TR earnings 62,251 14,684
if@i*@mz B Effect of LAT (10,853) 11,204
BEFERETR Under (overprovision) in
(FBFERE) prior years 7,056 (1,546)
Hitp Others (1,227) (653)
REEHREX N Tax charge for the year 591,656 511,461

AREEFRERCBEARKRAREEEZE L
Bi2R (BPBEEMEHHEER)

The domestic tax rate (which is PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate) in the

jurisdiction where the operation of the Group is substantially based is

used.
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1. REFEEER 11.PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
2016 2015
FET TET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RERGEME MR (FEA) - Profit for the year has been arrived
at after charging (crediting):
W EE KR Depreciation of property,
_mE \ plant and equipment 28,354 32,888
B BRERERTYE Less: amount capitalised in
T properties under development (2,770) (1,965)
25,584 30,923
B Amortisation of:
HpEE Other assets — properties
U E i interests 506 537
FERME Properties for development 54,857 71,611
THE R Prepaid lease payments on
FENEER land use rights 1,223 1,611
& AN 55 Total depreciation and
k) amortisation 82,170 104,682
BIZH (BRESEH) Staff costs (including Directors’
(H3at) emoluments) (Note)
—HEhkEMBER — Salaries and other costs 150,389 163,015
—RIRE T & ‘ — Retirement benefits costs 17,876 17,870
—R B ERERTYE — Less: amount capitalised in
T properties under development (14,203) (16,778)
BTERERA Total staff costs 154,062 164,107
RIREMEWR 2 Gross rental income from
_ HMsW AR investment properties (396,695) (448,705)
B REREEESRA Less: direct operating expenses
ZIREBEYEE from investment properties
HEEE that generated rental
g income during the year 103,671 118,836
(293,024) (329,869)
12 50N B & Auditor’s remuneration 5,174 5,502
FEZKAIEER Cost of inventories recognised
_mE \ as expenses 949,292 316,780
FELEE (BRNEM Net exchange loss (included in
BEER) other operating expenses) 30,369 49,939
WAL E AT (250 Urban land use tax (included in
Han & B2 ) other operating expenses) 15,091 18,301
BB R EEE Impairment loss of goodwill
(B EREAM (included in other operating
LEERH) expenses) - 640
HE REFHEYE - (Gain) loss on disposal and write-
W MR off of property, plant and
(Wras) B 18 equipment (120) 163
AR i RBF 2 Operating lease charges in respect
REHEEH of land and buildings 7,379 10,103
B A ERERIA Share of tax of joint ventures
(B BEREN (included in share of profit of
BERERM) joint ventures) 276,216 497,490
Bt - Note:
SETERWTEENGE WEREMT12RM5T45@@)  The staff costs do not include the apportionment of management fee as disclosed in
EENERR BT E TEERIFARFAZESS note 12 and note 45(a) to the consolidated financial statements for certain Directors
ETZEBEAB- as well as management personnel who are not Directors or staff of the Company.
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12. EEE 12.DIRECTORS” EMOLUMENTS
ENSEN T+ (ZF—R%F:+=fz) The emoluments paid or payable to each of the twelve (2015: twelve)
E=ZBewmT: Directors were as follows:
2016
He/

RIEER BE&R  ERHERN
HitER HAEzZRE - FEHER

Salaries/ Performance  Retirement

EEWE  service fees related benefits
Directors’ and other incentive scheme et
fees benefits payments contributions Total

TR TERT TERT TERT TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(Kiita)
(Note a)
BITES Executive Directors
RIEH Song Zengbin 10 2,000 500 - 2,510
TR E Patrick Lee Seng Wei 10 3,236 3,296 129 6,671
5 Ma Sun 10 3,329 2,906 294 6,539
CF-3 Edwin Lo King Yau 10 1,040 2,752 48 3,850
MR AE Tao Tsan Sang 10 1,950 2,584 180 4,724
50 11,555 12,038 651 24,294
FRBRZATEZHE EBEAREEEE  The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
RRBRAEEEE Z RS- their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.
FHITES Non-Executive Directors
FRKE Lee Seng Hui 10 5,116 14,670 59 19,855
BRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi 10 - - - 10
FHE Lee Shu Yin 10 - - - 10
30 5,116 14,670 59 19,875

FBRZENTEETHMEEZMNEEESR  The Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly

RRABREMBRARIZEE 2 RS- for their services as directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
BYFHT Independent Non-Executive

= Directors
BiEE Francis J. Chang Chu Fai

(Ktith) (Note b) 10 82 - - 92
SEE (Hi2b) Jin Hui Zhi (Note b) 10 82 - - 92
MEE (Hi2h) Ngai Wah Sang (Note b) 10 105 - - 115
BRBE (Mith) Lisa Yang Lai Sum (Note b) 10 82 - - 92

40 351 - - 391

EHMBRZEIIENITESMNE EEZM@NESE  The Independent Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above
ERERE RS- were mainly for their services as Directors.

HE Total 44,560
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12. EEMe (&) 12.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
2015
e/
REE X RS RRAER

HipEdl ABHEEE BE AT

Salaries/  Performance Retirement

EEMWE  service fees related benefits
Directors’ and other incentive scheme HET
fees benefits payments contributions Total

THT THEx THEX TAT THT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Htita)
(Note a)
BITES Executive Directors
RIEH Song Zengbin 10 2,000 500 - 2,510
TR Patrick Lee Seng Wei 10 3,017 2,750 125 5,902
&R Ma Sun 10 3,238 945 286 4,479
L=t Edwin Lo King Yau 10 998 1,537 46 2,591
R E Tao Tsan Sang 10 1,716 1,243 158 3,127
50 10,969 6,975 615 18,609

BRI HTEEMLS T EE N EESE  The Executive Directors’” emoluments shown above were mainly for
ARABRAEBELR L RIE - their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

FHTESE Non-Executive Directors

1B Lee Seng Hui 10 4,742 7,120 50 11,922
HRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi 10 = = = 10
B Lee Shu Yin 10 = = = 10

30 4,742 7,120 50 11,942

PR ZIERTESTMEEZMANEZIER  The Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly

KRB REMBARIZEE 2 RS- for their services as directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
BYKHTES Independent Non-Executive
Directors

s Francis J. Chang Chu Fai

(Ktizh) (Note b) 10 82 - - 92
SEE (Hith) Jin Hui Zhi (Note b) 10 82 - - 92
BESE (W72b) Ngai Wah Sang (Note b) 10 105 = = 115
BEIR (Hith) Lisa Yang Lai Sum (Note b) 10 82 — — 92

40 351 - - 391

FMBERZBYIENTEEMEEZM@NES  The Independent Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above
ERES 2 IRTS - were mainly for their services as Directors.

Rk Total 30,942
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12. EEME (@)
A -

@ LEERZFENEHERINTHEBESZE
A —FRERBE RS-

b) BEBYENGTES DBEMEL 2ES
£ OREEAERSEEL L REER -2 5
FH BRI TR -

FREFERTARAITRARIBE IR
A EHEE 2 S SR RTTR AR MRS
ZME -

REE_Z—R"FT+_A=+—HLFERE
ET—AFT_A=+—BHULFE WEE
ERETAE -

BETESER RXEBLARREREEERIA
RIS E2ENB A RIS - 2 A R AIASE
EREEERE YAAEERZSESERE
MW IERATEEZEEEAS RS T4
RS IERE B % & B E B IR E M 45T i
BoEBREBR.

Lt 2 ERBETHRERE ABRASEEEHT
HeREAE YASkEE FilEE - BORE
& /23,120,000 7T (= F — A 4F : 13,886,000
B  WEBRFEELRA-

12.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@) The amounts represent the actual discretionary bonus in respect of the
preceding year approved and paid to respective Directors during the year.

(b) The service fee of each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely
Mr. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Mr. Jin Hui Zhi, Mr. Ngai Wah Sang and Ms. Lisa
Yang Lai Sum remains unchanged compared with 2015.

Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei performs the function of the chief executive
of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments in the years ended 31st
December, 2016 and 31st December, 2015.

Certain Directors received remuneration from a company, or a wholly-
owned subsidiary of such company which has significant beneficial
interests in the Company. Such company provided management
services to the Group and charged the Group a fee, which has been
included in management fee as disclosed in note 45(a), for services
provided by those Directors as well as other management personnel
who were not Directors and staff of the Company.

The above-mentioned management fee is calculated by reference to
the time devoted by the management personnel on the affairs of the
Group and can be apportioned to the Directors mentioned above. The
total of such apportioned amounts, which has been included in the
above table, is HK$23,120,000 (2015: HK$13,886,000).
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

B.EEREREEAEHME

BEME

AEFRUSSMEALTE2E (ZT—0F 0
PR AEEEERITHRES EMeE 21
R ERP B ATEHE T -1
Ft-A=t—BLEFEZMEMT:

13.EMPLOYEES” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS

Employee’s emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
all (2015: four) were Directors and the chief executive of the Group
whose emoluments are included in note 12 above. The emolument of
the remaining one individual for the year ended 31st December, 2015
was as follows:

2016 2015
FET TFHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
e kEMETF Salaries and other benefits - 1,864
EEEHRHE Performance related incentive
Be payments - 1,146
RIREFIEE Retirement benefits scheme
K contributions - 72
- 3,082
ZATZHE MmN The emoluments of the individual were within the following bands:
2016 2015
BEEE EE#E
Number of Number of
employees employees
3,000,001f%ﬁ_3,500,0005§7f HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 - 1

AEE 2 F IR IRIT IS MK T R &8
AEEARRENREZRREE -RNEMF
N AEEYESNEAME TZARZDH
Z AT ERBREEFMAREE 2w -

The remuneration policies of the Group are based on the prevailing
remuneration level in the market and the performance of respective
group companies and individual employees. During both years,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group.
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13. BEERSHREBAEME &) 13.EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

SREEAEME Senior management’s emoluments

AEEZRBEBAE EF+fI(ZF—F  Of the senior management of the Group, twelve (2015: twelve) were
F: M) RES BE2MeEBIENRALE  the Directors whose emoluments are included in the disclosure above.
ZEBE-HE-Z-RFE+ZA=1+—HIH The emoluments of the remaining four (2015: six) for the year ended
B B (ZZF—RF : ~z) AL ZB€  31st December, 2016 were as follows:

T
2016 2015
FET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
e REHMET Salaries and other benefits 4,164 7,302
EEEHRH Performance related incentive
Be payments 2,693 2,410
RIREFE S Retirement benefits scheme
R contributions 266 332
7,123 10,044
HEie 2 oM T : Their emoluments were within the following bands:
2016 2015
EESE BEHE
Number of Number of
employees employees
1,000,000 7T A T HK$1,000,000 or below 2
1,000,001 7T — 1,500,000/ 7T HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2 2
2,500,0017%8 7T — 3,000,000/ 7T HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 - 1
3,000,001 7T — 3,500,000/ T HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 - 1
3,500,001 7T — 4,000,000/ 7T HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 1 =

SREEABKREBZEERAFRIEERS The biographies of members of the senior management are disclosed
REBABZEAER] —EABEE - in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.



AEHPBEIREARAR
o 2016§§ﬁ \1 73

REMB WKW
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_ZT—Ft+-_A=t+—HLEE
For the year ended 31st December, 2016

14. BREF 14.EARNINGS PER SHARE
RNRARRRENE 2 BREARF TR TFEHE  The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
FTHE: owners of the Company is based on the following:
2016 2015
FEx FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
27 Earnings
R EFRER Earnings for the purpose of
vag | i basic earnings per share
(AR RIRER FE(L (profit for the year attributable
RER A ) to owners of the Company) 5,712,954 2,600,020
2016 2015
Fu Tz
000 ‘000
iR Number of shares
AU ESR Number of ordinary shares in
ERARZ issue during the year for
REEZEETT the purpose of basic earnings
LM% E R per share 1,506,769 1,506,769

RZZE—AFERZT—RAFE WREZYE  No diluted earnings per share for both 2016 and 2015 were presented
BEEAMN BARZT—NFEKRZ=ZZF—H as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for both 2016 and
FEAWIBRITEINBEE B 2015.
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15. RE 15.DIVIDEND
2016 2015
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
REERNERD KL Dividend recognised as
MR distributions during the year:
ENZZ-—RFzHHERER Interim dividend for 2015
BRISEW(ZZ—1F &) paid of HK15 cents
(2015: Nil) per share 226,015 -
“E-RFVEXINREPRS No final dividend for 2015 paid
(Z2—HF:BNZZ—OFZ (2015: for 2014 paid of
FRZ107810) HK10 cents per share) - 150,677
226,015 150,677
A—MEmHEARZ Special dividend declared in
Bin 7k 2 B B form of distribution of
k3 2 %5 Rl AR shares in a listed
ZTE—RF E) subsidiary (2015: Nil) 489,700 =
I RS Mk HRE No interim dividend declared
(ZZ2—HF:8R15E) (2015: HK15 cents per share) - 226,015
489,700 226,015

RBERRE  BHE T "F+_A=1+—
BIEHHFE EELE EMIZIFE 100884
REIRMDED RIS ([EMDIR]) 2
HE - DLEW D IR A VK E S 2 195,880,034
A&R%An (TR (D ] ) (EBFRIAR B o

1% &I SRS (0 B E2.5%8 7T (AR AR =
T RNEUESRAERD2.758 T2 WHEE -
Wt B AHEE IR &R SR 925810 2 7RI AR
BEAR) UEYMHIRZ HABRDEELS S
489,700,000 7T - B E R FR32.581L 25
K °

HE_T-AF+t_A=1t—HIFE E=F
BEMIKER RS ER15E -

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a special dividend in
form of distribution in specie of 195,880,034 shares in Dan Form
(“Dan Form Shares”) on the basis of 13 Dan Form Shares for every
100 shares of the Company (“Distribution in specie”) in respect of the
financial year ended 31st December, 2016 has been declared by the
Board.

Based on the price HK$2.5 per Dan Form Share (being the price of
HK$2.75 per Dan Form Share at which the Company acquired the
Dan Form Shares in 2016 and adjusted by the special dividend of
HK25 cents per Dan Form Share declared by Dan Form), the aggregate
value of the Dan Form Shares to be distributed under the Distribution
in Specie is approximately HK$489,700,000, which represents a
distribution of approximately HK$32.5 cents per share.

For the year ended 31st December, 2015, the Board declared an
interim dividend of HK15 cents per share.
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16. M1 - MERRRE 16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
EEER
FEZHHEN EHREZ £ B
THEET hERN RERZME
Land and B ES:3 Leasehold
buildings in the Golf course  improvements,
Hong Kong and in the PRC furniture, RE
PRC on medium- on medium- fixtures and Motor o
term lease term lease equipment vehicles Total
TAT TAT THL TAL TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
r5E THE GROUP
BAE COST
RZZE-HF—F—H At st January, 2015 253,405 157,103 186,202 42,045 638,755
5% Exchange adjustments (14,139) (8,998) (7,431) (1,776) (32,344)
BE Additions 188 - 8,125 4340 12,653
BREEAT Transfer from inventories of
NEHE completed properties 3,687 - - - 3,687
& Rt Disposals and write-off = = (2,736) (3,681) (6,417)
RLEMB AR Derecognised on disposals of
HUBHER subsidiaries = = (4,567) (1,885) (6,452)
RZZ-RFTZA=+—H At31st December, 2015 243,141 148,105 179,593 39,043 609,882
5% Exchange adjustments (12,473) (2,091) (6,502) (1,067) (22,133)
BE Additions 1,837 - 8,489 2,119 12,445
WEE—RNB R RTmRE Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary 157,890 - 1,263 929 160,082
ENNBARE Reclassified as held for sale = = (297) (922) (1,219)
BRERENE Transfer to investment properties (407) - - - (407)
HERTH Disposals and write-off = = (524) (1,789) (2,313)
RHEMB A AR Derecognised on disposals of
BUHRER subsidiaries (29,593) (146,014) (14,827) (465) (190,899)
WZZ—RET=A=+—H At31st December, 2016 360,395 - 167,195 37,848 565,438
E DEPRECIATION
R-ZE-RFE—H—H At st January, 2015 31,198 42,709 92,398 31,394 197,699
RS Exchange adjustments (1,924) (2,601) (3,386) (1,273) (9,184)
REEFHR Provided for the year 5,397 4,643 19,394 3,454 32,888
W E R I Eliminated on disposals and write-off = = (1,973) (3,201) (5,174)
i YNG =2 Eliminated on disposals of subsidiaries = = (3,418) (1,044) (4,462)
WZE—RFEF+-A=+—H At31st December, 2015 34,671 44,751 103,015 29,330 211,767
RS Exchange adjustments (1,803) (669) (3,863) (519) (6,854)
REREE Provided for the year 5,019 2,607 17,690 3,038 28,354
ENNRAR Reclassified as held for sale = = (213) (753) (966)
BRERENE Transfer to investment properties (22) - = = (22)
E Rt b Eliminated on disposals and write-off = = (481) 1,717) (2,198)
i ING =2 Eliminated on disposals of subsidiaries (7,385) (46,689) (9,926) - (64,000)
RZZ—AEFZA=F—B At31st December, 2016 30,480 - 106,222 29,379 166,081
FHE CARRYING VALUES
W=ZB-RETZA=1—H At31st December, 2016 329,915 = 60,973 8,469 399,357

R-ZE—RE+-A=+—F At31st December, 2015 208,470 103,354 76,578 9,713 398,115
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17. REWE 17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
2016 2015
FER FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
DREE FAIR VALUE
Kn—H—H At 1st January 10,037,160 9,756,056
DE 55 58 B Exchange adjustments (593,623) (568,156)
BEE Additions 27,255 5,320
Uiz i — il Bf /&8 22 &) Acquired on acquisition of
i B 1S a subsidiary 1,245,545 =
RERIMEES Transferred from inventories of
EA completed properties 190,890 670,123
= - ME K Transferred from property,
REBEEA plant and equipment 473 =
P+ ol PR 2 TR Transferred from prepaid lease
HEREA payments on land use rights 11 -
EREERPYME Transferred to inventories of
eSS properties under development - (114,331)
iNfeeh =Yl NG| Eliminated on disposals of
R i B subsidiaries (153,000) =
= Disposals (10,522) (27,084)
BERIVMEFE Fair value gain on transfer of
EBREREREME inventories of completed
ZRREE properties to investment
Wz properties 116,257 396,063
BRNER I AAEE Increase (decrease) in fair value
o CRid) recognised in profit or loss 1,835 (80,831)
R+=—A=+—H At 31st December 10,862,281 10,037,160
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17. BEWE (#)

AEBZIEMERBREERIVMEREZ
B =T —R"F+=ZA=+—BKk=Z—1
F+-A=+—HZAREBAENHERAERE
FREEN B BT A — TR G
BARMEERITERAGNE B#ETHE.
THER T EERA R REERITER ARG
HHEENER ZEEFBENREE A
RiTHE MBEZHAERFRIAE -5 B A
TEEMMEMS HEDERS—EAUVEESR
DEFELEE AR —RBELBRFIOEE
AEMSHESNME XL TIYETEE
BREREMHE2YENS HEDEREEL
R -BHHBERETARBGR ZIEYENG
BEVRBSBEETERZEDE RS RERT
FE S R A RE T et &K MR
FREERAME L URBE % THER
MEE - BEFEMAMGETELESE-

RESENAREER WENRDRRE
MR AREAAR-

FIBREMEMRTERESD WREALOH
R :

17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at the date of
transfer from inventories of completed properties, 31st December,
2016 and 31st December, 2015 have been arrived at on the basis
of a valuation carried out on that date by Norton Appraisals Limited
and DTZ Cushman & Wakefield Limited, the firm of independent
and qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group.
The valuation was principally based on investment method by
taking into account the current rents passing and the reversionary
income potential of tenancies. For the properties which are currently
vacant, the valuation was based on each of the property interests by
capitalisation of the hypothetical and reasonable market rents with a
typical lease term and also make reference to the direct comparison
approach. For the properties which were transferred from inventories
of completed properties to investment properties, the valuation was
based on direct comparison approach. The valuations of investment
properties held for undetermined future use were arrived at by the
adoption of the residual approach on the basis that they will be
developed and completed in accordance with the latest development
proposals and having taken into account the construction cost that
will extent to complete the development to reflect the quality of the
completed development. There has been no change from the valuation
technique used in the prior years.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use
of the properties is their current use.

Investment properties are all located in the PRC and Hong Kong and
comprise properties held under:

2016 2015
FET TET

HK$’000 HK$'000

KHEIA L Long lease 5,111,420 4,235,300
s HRFA 49 Medium-term lease 4,100,452 5,086,560
X HAF 4 Short lease 1,650,409 715,300
10,862,281 10,037,160
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17. BEWE (#)

TREHEEREALEBEFENBAZHEN
AEEEENNEETEAREVMENAAEE
(FRIRAERNBETERZE) RARE

B EMEDNAAEBERIKF (—E2=4&)
BB #L -
rEEFAFER EEFER
REME DAEE TEZY
Investment Bl Valuation
Properties held  Fair value techniques
by the Group hierarchy and key inputs

17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The following table gives information about how the fair values of

the major investment properties are determined (in particular, the

valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value

hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised
(Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair

value measurements is observable.

ERUEREZY
Significant
observable
inputs

BEBESHH
’D\ AREENER
Relationship of
unobservable
inputs
for fair value

fREmoME F=R REZ(HBERZE)
Properties in Level 3 Investment method

Southern China
approach)

2288
The key inputs are:

(1) TAHEE=R:
Term yield;

2 EERRER: R
Reversionary

yield; and

@) {ERIERI AT S
B AR
Market unit rent
of individual

unit

(term and reversionary

RRET AR A LB S A A O W as % J R P 2 R B i W ER AR
B AR REE R BHKEED1.75%265% (—F
—HF 1 1.75%%26.5%)

Term yield, taking into account of yield generated from
comparable properties and adjustment to reflect the
certainty of term income secured and to be received, of
1.75% to 6.5% (2015: 1.75% to 6.5%)

Z‘“ﬁr)\ﬁum%iffﬁﬂﬁzﬁ&"fétt?%%ﬁﬁiumT

B ER2.25%E7% (= F— A% 1 2.25%E7%)
Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit
market rental income and unit market value of the
comparable properties, of 2.25% to 7% (2015: 2.25% to
7%)

MSEMHS L RERTHRMNE TEFALE REM

1IE'JI§ (g0 : BeHTERE - MERNRRE) - FHTHE
UBENFHEFITAEAARBLBTIEGF I REAA
R#400T (—F—HF  B¥ T KEAARE2DBTEEF
HKEAARE350T)
Market unit rent compares with direct market
comparables and taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities. The range of average market unit
rent is from around RMB25 sg.m./month to RMB400
sg.m./month (2015: RMB25 sq.m./month to RMB350
sq.m./month)

MRS EES
NRBEESE

The increase in the
term vyield would
result in a decrease

in fair value

B R
’z}/’ﬂﬁfﬁﬁ_ﬂi
The increase in the
reversionary vyield
would result in a
decrease in fair

value

MSEUHESHS
NABEES

The increase in the
market unit rent
would result in
an increase in fair

value
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17. BEWE (#)

1179

17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

BLERS R
AEBRBE BELER DNABENER
REMF DREE TEZH EZTVHEZY Relationship of
Investment S Valuation Significant unobservable
Properties held  Fair value techniques observable inputs
by the Group hierarchy and key inputs inputs for fair value
FRERZME F=H KELZAPERZE) LRHATELBYEELNRSERRRAERESEEE BHEEE8S
Properties in Level 3 Investment method — HMABYHEE AR - FHEIKER ER1.5%E6.25% (—F AAEBEBIE-

Eastern China

(term and reversionary

approach)

IBR2HA:
The key inputs are:

THEA R K
Term yield;

ERkEE R
Reversionary

yield; and

(EIE A2
BAEE
Market unit rent
of individual

unit

—HF 1.5%E6%)

Term yield, taking into account of yield generated from
comparable properties and adjustment to reflect the
certainty of term income secured and to be received, of
1.5% t0 6.25% (2015: 1.5% to 6%)

BAANBUTISFERSBRARFI BB ENENT
B EHREXR.75%E6.75% (ZF—HF : 1.75%%
6.5%)

Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit
market rental income and unit market value of the
comparable properties, of 1.75% to 6.75% (2015: 1.75%
to 6.5%)

MSEUES L REERTHELNE - WEHALEREM

fERIE 2= (FI2n : ERETER - MER D RRE) - FHHHE
NEENTHEFTHABAARBEIZTEG T AREAA
R#o630T (—F—HF: YT AEBAARK0TEST
HAE A AR%6607T)
Market unit rent compares with direct market
comparables and taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities. The range of average market unit
rent is from around RMB17 sq.m./month to RMB630
sg.m./month (2015:RMB20 sq.m./month to RMB660
sq.m./month)

The increase in the
term yield would
result in a decrease

in fair value

EHEREESS
RABEBIE

The increase in the
reversionary yield
would result in a
decrease in fair

value

MSEUHESHS
NRBEER

The increase in the
market unit rent
would result in

an increase in fair

value
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17. BEWE (#)

TEBRER
REMF
Investment
Properties held
by the Group

AREE
& Bl

Fair value
hierarchy

EEFER
TEZY
Valuation
techniques
and key inputs

17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

EETHEZ2Y
Significant
observable
inputs

BELERSYHE
DNABEWER
Relationship of
unobservable
inputs

for fair value

IR EIL 2 W3R
Properties in
Northern China

FE=4

Level 3

KEE (ERERZ)

Investment method

(term and reversionary

approach)

ITR2HA:
The key inputs are:

HH =
Term yield;

EEINEER &

Reversionary
yield; and

185l B AL ) T 3%
B
Market unit rent
of individual

unit

RET AT H s 5 A e Wees I ROBR PR AR B A B AR
B AROREE ML M08 2 - T I EE X R3.5%£6.5% (—F
—HF:3.5%E6.5%)

Term yield, taking into account of yield generated from
comparable properties and adjustment to reflect the
certainty of term income secured and to be received, of
3.5% to 6.5% (2015: 3.5% to 6.5%)

Wﬁkﬁﬁﬁ%iﬁﬁﬁ%k&Tﬁ%ﬁ%%m%&%@’
BRERBA%E7% (ZF—AF :3.5%%7%)
Reversionary vyield, taking into account annual unit
market rental income and unit market value of the
comparable properties, of 4% to 7% (2015: 3.5% to 7%)

MSEMESEREEMSRUE TEFALERE T

mﬂﬁlﬁ(ﬂm-%mﬁ%‘mﬁﬁJ R&RHE) o FHH
BENEENTFOBY T RKEAARBI6TES T K
FAARKU4OL (Z2—0F - ZFFHKEAARK20
TESFIKEAARKI30T)
Market unit rent compares with direct market
comparables and taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities. The range of average market unit
rent is from around RMB16 sg.m./month to RMB140
sg.m./month (2015: RMB20 sq.m./month to RMB130
sq.m./month)

MR EEEE -
RAEEBE-

The increase in the
term yield would
result in a decrease
in fair value.

FlamEgE
ARBEBE
The increase in the
reversionary yield
would result in a
decrease in fair

value

msELEeHE
RABEES

The increase in the
market unit rent
would result in

an increase in fair

value
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17. BEWE (#)

\\\\1 81

17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

BLZERS BN
AEBRBE HETER DNABENER
REMF DREE TEZH EZTHEZY Relationship of
Investment S Valuation Significant unobservable
Properties held  Fair value techniques observable inputs
by the Group hierarchy and key inputs inputs for fair value
RREBZYE B8 RELERERS) SHATALRYEEEOGRRBRFERRGKEE Ak E8S.
Properties in Level 2 Investment method B A BT E 1E 69 T2 - 78 BIUER K R2.625% 2 5% RABEBE-

Hong Kong

(term and reversionary Term yield, taking into account of yield generated from

approach)

IBR2HA:
The key inputs are:

T B S =
Term yield;

ERkEE R
Reversionary

yield; and

R BRI E TS
BAEE
Market unit rent
of individual

unit

comparable properties and adjustment to reflect the
certainty of term income secured and to be received, of
2.625% to 5%

Z“‘ﬁr)\ﬁumiﬁifﬁiuﬁ)\&—létt?%%mﬂim@
53R R R2.625%25%

Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit

market rental income and unit market value of the

comparable properties, of 2.625% to 5%

MEM AL RERTHRAUE YT ANEREME T
AIEZE (P10 : B8R - MER/RRE) - FITHENL
BeNFHUETFTAREABELEGTARER195ET
Market unit rent compares with direct market
comparables and taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities. The range of average market unit
rent is from around HK$13 sq.ft./month to HK$195 sq.ft./
month.

The increase in the
term yield would
result in a decrease

in fair value.

B8 e X

RAfE TE;U

The increase in the
reversionary yield
would result in a
decrease in fair

value

BELHASHS
DRBEER

The increase in the
market unit rent
would result in

an increase in fair

value
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17. BEWE (#)

TEBRER

REMF DNREE
Investment & Bl
Properties held  Fair value
by the Group hierarchy

HEFER
TEZY
Valuation
techniques
and key inputs

17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

EEAHEZ2Y
Significant
observable
inputs

BELERSYHE
DNABEWER
Relationship of
unobservable
inputs

for fair value

UNEMNEGEN E=R
#RIAA

Development site

Level 3

in Huizhou
Huiyang
District

REE

Residual approach

TE2HR:
The key inputs are:

(M

X 3

(1) Market unit sales

rate; and

FREEMSLEEW AN E REAEREZHTIZE
MEEENTHFEHTRARKE0TEFFHRKARE
9,700t (ZZE—RF : FFHKARKES 300t EHFF 5K
AR #8,5007T)

Market unit sales rate, using market direct comparable
and taking into account of location and other individual

SEASEE R factors from RMB9,000/sq.m. to RMB9,700/sq.m. (2015:

RMB5,300/sq.m. to RMB8,500/sq.m.)

BERBNENRERE (EFE RMENER) 825% (=

Q) ERENEME ZT—HF:20%)

e

(2) Developer’s profit Developer’s profit and risk rate, taking into account of

and risk rate

the progress of the property, of 25% (2015: 20%)

5B E Xl
= AREEER-

The increase in the
market unit sales
rate would result in
an increase in fair

value

R T A 0 A 2 B
B 2 1) 38 AN 18 2 B
DREERD

The increase in the
developer’s profit
and risk rate would
result in a decrease

in fair value
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18. FREME 18.PROPERTIES FOR DEVELOPMENT
2016 2015
THET THETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
Rz BRAE PROPERTIES IN THE PRC, AT COST
R—H— Bz #eR Balance at 1st January 4,744,219 5,330,574
M H 38R Exchange adjustments (228,001) (249,263)
BE Additions 142,431 759,549
RWEFERYEZ Transferred from deposits for acquisition
ReEA of properties for development 6,927 7,204
EHEREZERDYE Transferred to inventories of
A properties under development (650,173) (84,107)
BEHOEARNE Reclassified as held for sale (1,010,216) =
P& — B B & BB Derecognised on disposal of
HUSHER a subsidiary (781,378) (1,019,738)
Rt+—A=+—HB2&% Balance at 31st December 2,223,809 4,744,219
B &R E AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT
R—A—Bz&&% Balance at 1st January 385,347 424 544
M 38 Exchange adjustments (22,205) (23,722)
NEZHH Amortisation for the year 54,857 71,611
HEZERDYE Transferred to inventories of
FE properties under development (58,344) (3,803)
BN BAFE Reclassified as held for sale (95,415) =
A& — B B A B Eliminated on disposal of
B a subsidiary (39,601) (83,283)
Rt+t—A=+—HB2%&% Balance at 31st December 224,639 385,347
REE CARRYING VALUES 1,999,170 4,358,872
REBFERME The Group's properties for
B development comprise:
RHEZHEE T Leasehold land in the PRC
REAFE A Long lease 1,232,979 1,583,943
R EFERS) Medium-term lease 766,191 2,774,929
1,999,170 4,358,872

AEEEEEHSERYLCBERARTER
FEZ RIEE BPRERG TERFENE

BN —E—

EmMEE -

NE+TZA=1+T—BHBIEEM

The management of the Group had carried out impairment assessment
on the properties for development based on the lower of cost and
net realisable value for properties for development. The net realisable
values were determined based on independent professional valuations
at 31st December, 2016.
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19. i fE AR ANHEER

AEE T ERAEZ BNHERERE:

19.PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS ON LAND USE RIGHTS

The Group's prepaid lease payments on land use rights comprise:

2016 2015
THET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
Rz HE i Leasehold land in the PRC
REAE A Long lease 66,996 35,592
HERFE 49 Medium-term lease 12,568 20,111
79,564 55,703
HEREOMIELZIWBT Analysed for reporting purposes as:
ERBEE Non-current asset 78,678 54,162
mE & E Current asset 886 1,541
79,564 55,703
20. REHE AT 2 20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
2016 2015
THET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FOE & N IR E 2 AR Cost of investment in associates
(B ) (Note):
FE ETHEEE R A Unlisted associates 3,356,741 22,293
Byl /NG Listed associate 199,461 199,461
3,556,202 221,754
FEMEU IR 2 Share of post-acquisition
Bk EAM profits and losses and other
e comprehensive income, net of
BB dividends received 9,150 12,456
3,565,352 234,210
—HEmMBER R 2 A AREE Fair value of a listed associate,
RIBETI5 D B based on market share price 112,402 239,064
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20. RERE N T 2 XS ()

FERLNRRN-_E—AFE+-A=+—HE
—RE+ - A=+—B 2 ERFENMH T

50°

B3t :

REE &R RHEE Z A BIER BT FE R IE RS A A
FRTE 4 2 75246,0007 7T (ZZ — A4 : 46,000/ 7T) °

TXHEAARAREEABE QRS BN
ﬁ“ﬁﬂ*ﬁ%% TR BE MR SIRIEE B TS
WEEA RO E DB SRR S

BUBEHRRAR -

EABEQNRAZUBENRE

20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Details of the principal associate at 31st December, 2016 and 31st
December, 2015 are set out in note 50.

Note:

Included in the cost of investment in associates is goodwill of HK$46,000 (2015:
HK$46,000) arising on acquisitions of associates in prior years.

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's
material associates is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the associate’s
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.

Summarised financial information of material associates

Zeta Estates Limited Zeta Estates Limited
2016
FHET
HK$’000
MENEE Current assets 989,203
ERBEE Non-current assets 9,194,395
mEEE Current liabilities (222,215)
FnBEE Non-current liabilities (1,457,974)
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20. REtE N R 2 () 20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
BEARBEQNTZHBERNSE (&) Summarised financial information of material associates
(continued)
Zela Fstates Limited () Zeta Estates Limited (continued)
2016
FAT
HK$’000
A Revenue 1,597,500
REFEEEE Loss for the year (185,543)
REFZHEM2HEKER Other comprehensive income for the year —
AEEEEHERER Total comprehensive expense for the year (185,543)
A N4 [ 5k B Zeta Estates Limited Ay Dividends received from Zeta Estates Limited
B2 B B during the year -

B AR B AR A B SRR T ERR) Zeta  Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
Estates Limited# & ) B 1H {5 31 Bk - carrying amount of the interest in Zeta Estates Limited recognised in
the consolidated financial statements:

2016
TET
HK$'000

Zeta Estates Limited 2 & &= /F{E Net assets of Zeta Estates Limited 8,503,409

NE B Zeta Estates Limited Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in
ZHERZRASRE Zeta Estates Limited (Proportion of the Group’s

(REEHEAE#EZI%H33.33%) ownership interest of 33.33%) 2,834,470
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20. R DR 2R (#)
EXBEQT U BERME (&)

ERIFFEAN B ERR 2 EREH

20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

187

Summarised financial information of material associates

(continued)

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:

2016 2015
FHERT FHETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
REE R 2 m M The Group's share of profit 12,169 6,226
REEEEZ The Group's share of other
Hiv2mE A comprehensive expense (15,475) 9,358
REEEGEZ The Group's share of total
FHE BB comprehensive expense (3,306) 15,584
rEEB D2 Aggregate carrying value of
FREAE Group's interests 730,882 234,210
21. REE R I ER 21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
2016 2015
FERT FHETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
RIFLHOBEEREL Cost of investment in unlisted
KA (ffita) joint ventures (Note a) 787,589 621,149
FEAE Y B 12 2 v A K Share of post-acquisition profits and
Hith 2 E KR other comprehensive income, net
EYR S of dividends received 1,150,827 799,377
BEPERNK Amounts due from joint ventures
» (ﬁ/?&lyﬁ) (Note b) 267,521 527,310
B R ERZES Less: allowance for doubtful debts (38,607) (38,607)
2,167,330 1,909,229
BEERERZT—R"F+-A=1T—HRK Details of the principal joint ventures at 31st December, 2016 and

—E-RFt+A=+— ElZéﬂ‘i%@ AMEE  31st December, 2015 are set out in note 51.

51 e

Mt Notes:

@ RAECLEREZRABENBEFENRES (@ Included in the cost of investment of joint ventures is goodwill of HK$409,000
BT £ 2 B E409,0008 T (ZE—1F: (2015: HK$409,000) arising on acquisitions of joint ventures in prior years.
409,000/ 7T)

b) AECEFRTERMEMRET_EAANEZER (b) The joint ventures are not expected to repay the advances within twelve
o WMEEIERB 2 - ﬁ%EZZB,E)M,OOO/%fE (= months from the end of the reporting period and the balances are classified as
Z — A 4F 1 250,040,000/ 7T ) 4% £ 4 47 &MT 9< non-current. The amounts of HK$228,914,000 (2015: HK$250,040,000) are

HoEFE12% (ZF—RF 1 12%) TR
E/\HE (ZE—RF: T — /\E/\H) B"_
?—ﬂiﬂ—:ﬁ =+—H " ©%238,663,000/% T
AEEBRMBRR  FRARRITEEFH XK
FA0%WERE—NFNABE -HRTLEAE
IR R R B R Ko

| =

unsecured and bear interests of 12% (2015: 12%) per annum and repayable
in August 2018 (2015: August 2018). At 31st December, 2015, the amounts of
HK$238,663,000 were unsecured and bear interests of The People’s Bank of
China Base Rate float upward 40% per annum and repaid in September 2016.

The remaining amounts are unsecured and interest-free.
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21. REELR 2 (2)
TXHMHEABHAEAERALLEE BN

BERIE - MBI R ARIBEREM TS
WEEARBENAE LR BRRATERE

BECETIRRRENZEREMBRRAR -

21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's

material joint ventures is set out below. The summarised financial

information below represents amounts shown in the joint venture’s

financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these

consolidated financial statements.

ERGELECHBEREE Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
AZEGH (FE)ERAL A AXLEGH (EE)BERAA

2016 2015
FExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
MENEE Current assets 8,349,982 11,137,775
EMENEE Non-current assets 5,672,974 5,827,833
mEA & Current liabilities (8,277,695) (9,135,558)
FnBAE Non-current liabilities (3,792,132) (5,466,351)
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21 REE ¥ ER (&) 21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

EXGELEXCURENRE (&)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(continued)

XZE T (L) BERAE (&) XZE T (EE)ERA A (continued)

Pz EERABESEBEATIER

The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the following:

2016 2015
THET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
REeMRSFEEE Cash and cash equivalents 1,787,020 1,389,040
nBTREE Current financial liabilities
(T"BEEESHR (excluding trade and
H e RRFR) other payables) (3,555,057) (4,521,861)
ERBERMAE Non-current financial liabilities
(T"BEREESR (excluding trade and
H M E TR other payables) (3,049,007) (4,728,205)
YA Revenue 2,913,640 2,802,103
RNEE (ER) & (Loss) profit for the year (49,983) 180,832
REFzHEMER Other comprehensive expense
R for the year (113,588) (130,241)
AEFE2HE(ER) W Total comprehensive (expense)
mEa income for the year (163,571) 50,591
RARFEE R B R LB Dividends received from
(£BE)BRAFD RLBHEH (RE)FR QA
B YER AR B during the year - 97,508
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21. REE R 2R (2) 21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
ERGELECUBENBE (&) Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(continued)
AL BFH (FB) ERA A (&) XL BT (£ 5)E R 2 A] (continued)
FRAAREE (BR) RN EEATHER The above (loss) profit for the year included the following:
2016 2015
FTHER FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
e KR Depreciation and amortisation 56,085 49,438
B U A Interest income 8,393 9,316
FEEA Interest expense 277,935 312,176
FGH X Income tax expense 250,248 619,468

FMB B ERM MRS M mEA T ®ERAIR  Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
ZEIEH (K@) AR ARERMEEMMELAR:  the carrying amount of the interest in XL EIEH (& E)ER D F
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2016 2015
FHERT FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
REBEH (£H) Net assets of R E G (L H )

BRARMNEEFE BRAT 1,953,129 2,363,699
B FETE AR Less: Non-controlling interests (93,030) (84,175)
R (B BR Shareholder’s equity of X% &K

NEZ RS (RE)BRAA] 1,860,099 2,279,524
REERRLZEEHN (£E) Proportion of the Group’s

AR A A50%H) ownership interest of 50% in

mAEER 30 ARG (RE)BRAF 930,049 1,139,762
BIERFIRAZRSZ Share of unrealised profit on

RET = inter-company transactions (4,380) (4,380)
RFFaBRIEE Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

— A1 Bf B8 2 A recognised in

Z Wz sub-consolidation (902) (902)
REER KRR I Carrying amount of the Group's

(RE)BRRAAZ interest in XR& B (=)

BEZEmMER BRAFA 924,767 1,134,480
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21. REE R ZEE (&)

EAGELEXCURENRE (&)

FRYXZBEERERBRERA A

21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

(continued)

FRIX L BEERERRER A A

2016 2015
FBT FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

& E Current assets 3,928,425 4,677,000
ERBEE Non-current assets 1,646,220 403,337
nBAaE Current liabilities (1,835,385) (1,889,221)
ERBEE Non-current liabilities (2,532,738) (2,251,604)

bz BERABESREEATIER

The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the following:

2016 2015
FTER FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
RefBfeEEENR Cash and cash equivalents 367,264 330,684
nRBTREE Current financial liabilities
(TBEREFH N (excluding trade and
H fth JE A~ BR 3K other payables) (863,015) (359,211)
ERDBETHMAE Non-current financial liabilities
(TBEESR (excluding trade and other
H fth FE AT BR 3K payables) (2,337,734) (2,199,204)
WA Revenue 1,251,770 2,127,402
RE Z i A Profit for the year 329,193 407,606
REFzHEMER Other comprehensive expense
L3 for the year (62,183) (45,996)
RNEE2EKE Total comprehensive income
kS for the year 267,010 361,610

RAFER K G RIKE
BREREZRARAA
B W B B

Dividends received from
RYNRLEHEREERBR AR
during the year -
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21. REE R 2 (2) 21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
ERGELECUMBENBE (&) Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(continued)
FY X LHEFRERBEERL A (4E) FRYX LB RE %/EE R 2L A (continued)
PR ER SN EIEATIER ¢ The above profit for the year included the following:
2016 2015
FTHER FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
e R Depreciation and amortisation 1,886 2,191
SN PN Interest income 4,743 5,828
52 Interest expense 133,819 74,252
FTSHi Income tax expense 307,741 397,847

AR B A IS RAR P RER AR Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
FINRLZHEEREERAR AR ZEEMIEE  carrying amount of the interest in FYIRKZHEEREERBRAF

B recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
2016 2015
FHER THET
HK$’000 HK$'000
RINRLZEEREER Net assets of R IYIIK & B %
BRARINEEFE REBRARAT] 1,206,522 939,512
REBN R KL EE Proportion of the Group’s
REERAERRAFI50% ownership interest of 50% in
MR A 2 BP0 RINRLEXEZEERERAF 603,261 469,756
BREEIAREEZ Exchange differences arising on
ME 5, R capital injection (402) (402)
X EYNCI S PP Share of unrealised profit on inter-
RED company transactions (5,056) (7,800)
REBRNRINRELBEE Carrying amount of the Group's
REERARRAZ interest in R IR & BL 5

el { Tk k] HEERABR A A 597,803 461,554
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21. REELR 2 (2) 21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
ERGELECUMBENBE (&) Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(continued)
BERIFFERCEEREZIERLER: Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually
material:
2016 2015
FTER FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
REEEG 2B The Group’s share of loss (44,524) (46,102)
REBEIEZ The Group’s share of
Htw=mEmE A other comprehensive expense (9,819) (3,197)
REBEIEZ The Group’s share of
THEEARRA total comprehensive expense (54,343) (49,299)
REBzESLZ Aggregate carrying value of

FRmE & E Group's interests 644,760 313,195
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22, AHERE 22.AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

2016 2015
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000

REE LT Z Equity securities listed in
IR 7 % Hong Kong 253,951 788,777
NGl e v ¥ N Equity securities listed in the PRC 56,105 67,804
EFMRAES Unlisted equity funds 14,351 12,830
B2t EREREE Club debentures 9,851 =
IE F TR AR 5 Unlisted equity securities 37,295 —
371,553 869,411

i Lt EH A AR BEYE AR BE
B2 ERFH R E47C

23. EFE

AEEZMEGFEVURFR -FIEMETE
ERARAIBIRFECREES K- BREE
588,720,000/ 7T ( ==& — A F : 722,335,000/
TL) ZERPYER T EEREH AR T ZEA
&I o

AEEEBEUYEFTESRIARATERF
B2 BREEETRE k- AT ZR FERE
RZE—RF+ZA=+T—BNBIEEMAE

N —"=<

MEERE

All of the above investments are stated at fair value and details of the
fair value measurements are set out in note 47c.

23.INVENTORIES OF PROPERTIES

The Group’s inventories of properties are situated in the PRC. All of
the inventories of properties are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Properties under development with carrying amount
of HK$588,720,000 (2015: HK$722,335,000) are expected not to be
realised within twelve months from the end of the reporting date.

The management of the Group had carried out impairment assessment
on the inventories of properties based on the lower of cost and net
realisable value for inventories of properties. The net realisable values
were determined based on independent professional valuations at
31st December, 2016.
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BHE-_T—AFt+-_A=t—HLEE
For the year ended 31st December, 2016

24. Bt FzE

24.OTHER INVENTORIES

2016 2015
FTET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

S5 Finished goods 686 1,682

25. BE N TR

[
o

B

ERRRSRELEM RERREELTE

i

6. BEERK

N

AEBERFEEER RERRNEELTE

M o>

EEERRARFTNHRERRE T —EAAATIK
[E] o

27. FERBRR R

FFEBRBRRRAREER 2R RN EERT

fEiE -

25.AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

Amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

26.AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES

Amounts due from joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

The management expects the amounts would be recoverable within
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

27.AMOUNTS DUE FROM NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

28. EIRE R
RZE—XAFE+ZA=+—H EKREXR

56,180,000/ 7t ( =& — A % : 770,699,000/%8
TL) AERER R AR R E B R - FFIE18%
ZE—RF NTF12%E18%) ' R_E—tF
=A(ZE—HF: T RF=AZ=_F—N
F+-A)ER - LERMER S B AIERDE
WER-R_T—AF+=-_A=1+—0 %FE@\
B412,703,00078 L1 2 £ A FE R B R E 5
REZE—NF+ZARKRKETFRNER12% °

R-E—RNE+_A=+—H EBKREXK
5,970,00078 7T ( =& — A 4F : 5,970,000/ 7T )
DA%T%ETEEWT’ERF{% FHEEBEBRITRE
FEMA% (ZE—RHF : FFRITRAERENMN
4%) HRZZT— t¢ A(ZZE2—RHFE RN =-Z
—NFZA)ER - PIRE AR EURE F A
RERERERE-_T—NF_AEER-

73’3:7 /\E'f’ ﬂ +*E| Fuﬁlg
230,913,000/ ¢ (==& ﬁi 17900 00078
J0)  FE R ENF4.75%E12% ﬁi
12%) BEERA RN T — tifﬂi

T FRA(ZE—RHFE R _F /\i"f’_
A) B EEHEE@H@%O,OOO/%E (=ZZ—

& ﬂ)%&’“*Ei%#;‘ﬁ%%uﬁzéﬁjtm:%:—
F A A EK R EEFFERL.75%

R-E—REFE+_A=+—"H EWRERK
230,000,000 (ZF—HF &) FHEKAEH
EIRTTRIZERBIN2.75%  AEEB LN —Z
—tF=ARE-

28.LOANS RECEIVABLE

At 31st December, 2016, loans receivable of HK$56,180,000 (2015:
HK$770,699,000) bear interests of 18% (2015:
to 18%) per annum, are secured by debentures and shares mortgage
and receivable in March 2017 (2015: between March 2016 to
December 2018). No carrying amount is classified as non-current
loan receivable. At 31st December, 2015, the carrying amount of
HK$412,703,000 was classified as non-current loan receivable and
was receivable in December 2018 and carried a fixed interest rate of

ranging from 12%

12% per annum.

At 31st December, 2016, loans receivable of HK$5,970,000 (2015:
HK$5,970,000) bear interests at Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate
plus 4% (2015: Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate plus 4%) per
annum, are secured by share mortgage and receivable in February
2017 (2015: February 2016). The repayment of loan receivable has
been extended to February 2019 with the same borrowing term after
the reporting date.

At 31st December, 2016, loans receivable of HK$230,913,000 (2015:
HK$17,900,000) bear interests ranging from 4.75% to 12% (2015:
of 12%) per annum, are unsecured and receivable between March
2017 to May 2021 (2015: in November 2016). The carrying amount
of HK$116,250,000 (2015: Nil) is classified as non-current loan
receivable and is receivable in May 2021 and carries a fixed interest
rate of 4.75% per annum.

At 31st December, 2016, loans receivable of HK$230,000,000 (2015:
Nil) bear interests at Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate plus 2.75%
per annum, are unsecured and receivable in March 2017.
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29. BE R HMEWERR - IRERFENF  29.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS
HEYES B REKFIEIZBEEH#EMIEI  Proceeds receivable in respect of sale of properties are settled in
HREBE- accordance with the terms stipulated in the sale and purchase
agreements.

BRTHEMETERKREMEHENHSWA  Except for the proceeds from sales of properties and rental income

ERBEBMEOGTRZN AEE KL TE  from lease of properties which are payable in accordance with the

F=+tBE—BAZ-1+THNEARH- terms of the relevant agreements, the Group generally allows a credit
period of 30 days to 120 days to its customers.

RIBERR B FRUBERRZ BRI T - The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period:

2016 2015

FET FAET

HK$’000 HK$'000

=@AR Within 3 months 8,497 10,327
mZE 7N 1E A Between 4 and 6 months 1,671 1,503
tE=E+ =@ A Between 7 and 12 months 281 639
BiE+ =@ A Over 12 months 1,397 1,983
11,846 14,452

RoTZE—XNE+-_A=+—HB HiEUI As at 31st December, 2016, other receivables included a deposit
A EHE—T8142,180,0008 L (Z T —HF:  of HK$142,180,000 (2015: HK$91,337,000) which was paid for
91,337,000/ 70 ) K& FATESL (158 = HUkEE  acquisition of properties held for sale from third parties and the
HIBE W ZRXHIPMERARHKRTK transaction has not yet completed at the end of the reporting period.
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30. FEEERE 30.HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS
2016 2015
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
RAREEMZRAES Equity securities listed in the PRC 98,160 97,103
FEETRAE 5 Unlisted equity securities 57 2,266
98,217 99,369

R B L2 BAESF TR A EBEIIR &
EREZAANBEIREBERIZAMHBH
LEANBEE-

FEMBRAZBSIERER T BIKILZ ARIFTE
TTZIREMBEAES - AEE 2 I LT ESFRK
RABERBERMR O BEEBETE HEE
ARBEZGHABERN HESR/RETE
FZ N EBETEASEMTE-

3. P ERFELEERER

RZZE—RNF+_A+H AEEHFE=FF]
YT EEHZ - REEEHE KB
E A450,800,000/8 T2 R REHE —HEH
EMEERE KB RAR Z50%BHE - B 5%
B AR E SR AL H BB A AR ES o R
—E—RF+-A=t+—8 AEEEKEIEZ
+ AR ®39,950,0007T (HHE 1 44,888,000/8
L) ZEeBENE I REMBRNERK R
SRR IR E BRE+ @B N -

RAMERBENZNBRARCEERABR
—E-R—FTZRA=T-—HOBEREFEE
ERBE(ETX) EEEXBR D aBHREK
FRERBEANBRERNSEMEER (RHK
#35) R-ZB—RF+-_A=+—H HEZ
EHBARZBMATRMBLERBEERA
BZREREE: B ZFKLEXBOER/F
EEENABERBFEREBERER

Equity securities listed in the PRC are stated at fair value which is
determined based on the quoted market bid price available on the
relevant exchanges.

Unlisted equity securities represent investments in unlisted equity
securities issued by the entities established in the PRC. They are
measured at cost less impairment at the end of the reporting period
because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant
that the Directors are of the opinion that their fair values cannot be
measured reliably.

31.ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR
SALE

On 10th December, 2016, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with a third party. Pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement, the Group agreed to sell its 50% equity interest in a
subsidiary, which is engaged in property development for a cash
consideration of HK$450,800,000 and will result in lose of control
of the subsidiary when the transaction is completed. As at 31st
December, 2016, the Group received a deposit of RMB39,950,000
(equivalent to HK$44,888,000) and included in trades and other
payables. The transaction is expected to be completed within twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

As at 31st December, 2016, the assets and liabilities attributable to
the subsidiary in this note had been classified as assets and liabilities
held for sale (see below). The operations were included in the
Group’s property development as appropriate for segment reporting
purposes (see note 5). The proceeds of disposal were expected to
exceed the net carrying amount of the relevant assets and liabilities
at 31st December, 2016. Accordingly, no impairment loss had been
recognised upon the classification of these operations as assets and
liabilities held for sale.
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31.ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR

SALE (CONTINUED)

The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the disposal

AR roup classified as held for sale are as follows:
group

2016
FAET
HK$’000
% BB R&RE Property, plant and equipment 253
FERRDE Properties for development 914,801
BRTPVEFE Inventories of properties under development 908,948
B 5 I H A & W R K Trade and other receivables 5,879
RITETERE Bank balances and cash 24,861
DA FEEE Assets classified as held for sale 1,854,742
B 5 K E A e RR AR Trade and other payables 808,301
BERE Pre-sale deposits 9,202
Bt B fE Interest-bearing borrowings 564,607

DERFEEEZ
el

#
B

Liabilities associated with assets classified as
held for sale

1,382,110
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32. EZ R EAMEMNRK

RBEHR  EHRMNEX (BREE S REM
FENEBRA M) IRBER B2 2 RE AT

32. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables by age, presented
based on the invoice date, which are included in trade and other
payables, at the end of the reporting period:

2016 2015
FBT FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

=@AR Within 3 months 260,283 280,868
HZE S E A Between 4 and 6 months 8,263 52,177
+t=+=-@A Between 7 and 12 months 709 7,633
B+ @A Over 12 months 414,524 351,979
683,779 692,657

R-ZBE—RE+-_A=1+—08 K&EEFBL
EWNBARMEESEEMERERTME
2 B WIRE B227,144,0008 T (ZE—RHF:
1,455,775,000/70) * BERE 5 & HALER R
KA ZERGRIRE BRI AT

I.EEERSE

W-F-—HE+-A=+—H
BRARES LRELE
iLﬁ.ﬁﬂ%Fﬁﬁaﬁ
HRIBZ A RER &
BARMRE -

CBRERRER
REEAGKR_+
REBRRZAE
BEEEEBLER

§H

As at 31st December, 2016, the Group has received deposits of
HK$227,144,000 (2015: HK$1,455,775,000) for disposal of properties
for development and properties under development through disposal
of subsidiaries, which are included in trade and other payables. The
transactions have not yet completed at the end of the reporting period.

33.MEMBERSHIP DEBENTURES

At 31st December, 2015, Membership debentures represent golf
guarantee fees which were refundable to members 20 years after
joining the golf club or can be used by members to set off against
the cost of purchasing villas at the golf course. The membership
debentures were disposed of through disposal of subsidiaries during
the year.
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34. MY B AR 34.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
2016 2015
THER FHEIT
HK$’000 HK$'000
RITER Bank loans 3,469,766 4,967,351
H & 5% Other loans 46,384 118,825
3,516,150 5,086,176
A Secured 3,305,766 4,788,544
A4 Unsecured 210,384 297,632
3,516,150 5,086,176
RESFRATEER Carrying amount repayable:
—F R Within one year 678,202 1,150,943
ER—F- More than one year, but not
BB 8 R A exceeding two years 379,807 735,660
EQINTE N More than two years, but not
BABBAT exceeding five years 1,908,399 1,760,417
ZRAF More than five years 163,076 405,862
3,129,484 4,052,882
BEAMRERER Carrying amount of bank loans that
RRBERITE R contain a repayment on demand
ZBRHEE clause:
—FREE Within one year 191,497 103,219
ER—F- More than one year, but not
BB W exceeding two years 85,423 490,703
EQINTE N More than two years, but not
BTBEARF exceeding five years 52,076 358,837
REREF More than five years 57,670 80,535
386,666 1,033,294
3,516,150 5,086,176
IR REBES Less: Amounts due within one year
—FREIEz shown under current
£33 liabilities (1,064,869) (2,184,237)
—FRINB 2 Amount due after one year 2,451,281 2,901,939
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34.Mt BB (&)

AEEEH 2 ERBRREOE FZEMA (%
BHMEBH)MT:

34.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The exposure of the Group's fixed-rate borrowings and the contractual
maturity dates (or repricing dates) are as follows:

2016 2015
FHERT THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ERER: Fixed-rate borrowings:
—F R Within one year 811,619 1,902,286
RER—%F In more than one year but not
BREBMF more than two years 373,106 728,960
MRZERME - In more than two years but not
BETEa=%F more than three years 864,930 546,259
RER=F" In more than three years but not
(ERW RS more than four years 607,388 508,816
MZRMEE - In more than four years but not
BAEBBAF more than five years 406,931 669,493
REREF In more than five years 163,076 405,862
3,227,050 4,761,676

BB AEB 22 BERTIREBRITRIER
BN—FEMBE D N T2.25%%235% (=&
—ARF :12.25%E2.35%)FTERE K=
BAENTE-

REBERZBENZX (AT T 2HME) &
BT

In addition, the Group has variable-rate borrowings which carry
interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus a certain
percentage that ranging from 2.25% to 2.35% (2015: 2.25% to
2.35%). Interest is repriced every one and three months.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

2016 2015
BRAE:
Effective interest rate:
E B & 4.41%%10.00% 4.75%%10.00%
Fixed-rate borrowings 4.41% to 10.00% 4.75% to 10.00%
% B fE 2.64%Z3.05% 2.63%%2.75%
Variable-rate borrowings 2.64% to 3.05% 2.63% to0 2.75%
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4.t BB (&) 34.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
AEBMBERZREER I EKFHE: The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings are

denominated in the following currencies:

BT

AR Hong Kong £

RMB Dollars Total

FTET FTHEx FHExT

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
—E—-XF 2016

|ITREMEFK Bank and other loans 3,222,050 294,100 3,516,150
—ZT—AF 2015

|ITREMEFK Bank and other loans 4,756,676 329,500 5,086,176

ZEBHATHEREFTE WHR_F—+LFZE The loans bear interest at market rates and will be matured from
TEZRFEE EREARAEBWEE 2017 to 2026. The proceeds were used to finance the acquisitions of

MR EEETS properties and operating activities of the Group.
3.5 ER 35.INTEREST-FREE BORROWINGS
2016 2015
FTHER FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
JE 5 B &8 A B 3R IE Amounts due to associates 139,838 6,658
FERT & & FEFIE Amounts due to joint ventures 9,306 9,318
KB FEERAR Advances from non-controlling
EEN shareholders 163 474,278
e —EE LR EKRF Amount due to a
f& K joint venture partner 70,588 —
219,895 490,254
FEERBRIRATESR: Carrying amount repayable:
SIARBAE On demand or within one year
JEEZSKT shown under current

= —F K liabilities 219,895 490,254
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5. REEBER (&) 35.INTEREST-FREE BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

AEERBRERZERERTIEEE: The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-free borrowings are
denominated in the following currencies:

BT
AR Hong Kong £
RMB Dollars Total
FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
ZE-RF 2016
R EER Interest-free borrowings 80,057 139,838 219,895
—T-hF 2015
% BEER Interest-free borrowings 490,239 15 490,254
ZEEEER RRMNEERTEE- The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
36. lx &< 36.SHARE CAPITAL
TERRMEE [
Number of Share
ordinary shares capital
FHET
HK$’'000
EZEITRHYE - Issued and fully paid:
R-_ZE—RAF+_-_A=+—H8BxXK At 31st December, 2015 and
“E-X¥t+-A=+—H 31st December, 2016
—ERMHEEZ — Ordinary shares with

T AR no par value 1,506,769,491 3,788,814
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37. (&

H Ao 5 /3 PART 4 [2 A YRR P B8 & RIS ME a1
PREEXZYMERAABEFAR-

EHERIMBRR BERRRAERE
HRJE H AR BRSO 2 REHENIT B X R 4
HfE - WRFZEFRRMRBMERE 2 INE
B °

37.RESERVES

Other reserves comprise the fair value adjustment on properties
arising from acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries in prior
years.

The remittance outside of the PRC of retained earnings of the
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures established in the PRC is
subject to approval of the local authorities and the availability of
foreign currencies generated and retained by these companies.

rEBZEMGHE Revaluation reserves of the Group
LS BrE
B E B E
Property Investment
revaluation revaluation At
reserve reserve Total
FAT FAT TAT
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
RZE—RF—A—H At 1st January, 2015 9,246 213,841 223,087
AHHERE Change in fair value
NABEE of available-for-sale
25 investments = 156,809 156,809
iRl S Released upon disposal
BB of available-for-sale investments
BEREEH= to profit or loss = (36,039) (36,039)
FEAL AT B E Deferred tax effect on share
NRBEZZEHZ of change in fair value
EERIE 2 of available-for-sale
A investments - (1,125) (1,125)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2016

37. & (#) 37.RESERVES (CONTINUED)
AEBZEGEHE (Z) Revaluation reserves of the Group (continued)
LY ES rRE
Ef#HE Ef#HE
Property Investment
revaluation revaluation st
reserve reserve Total
FET FHET FET
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-F—A%F At 31st December, 2015
+—-A=+—H 9,246 333,486 342,732
AHEERE Change in fair value
NAEE of available-for-sale
& investments - (61,313) (61,313)
P ATt Released upon disposal
H & 1R & B of available-for-sale investments
BEREEH to profit or loss = (202,667) (202,667)
BGRB8 & Deferred tax effect on share
NRBEZZEHZ of change in fair value of
BRI E available-for-sale investments = 19,167 19,167
RERERE Surplus on revaluation properties
e Sl S upon transfer to investment
BEHAHK properties 88 — 88
REBREREMERZ Deferred tax effect on surplus on
%%éfﬁ”ﬁﬁfz revaluation properties upon
REFIA 7 & transfer to investment properties (22) = (22)
R=-B—XE At 31st December, 2016
+ A=+— 9,312 88,673 97,985

38. —REFZIELBASWA

38.DEFERRED RENTAL INCOME FROM A TENANT

BER_ZZT_FiIvsMEHEKL-ZFZEHR Pursuant to a tenancy agreement entered in 2002 and revision of
F 2 IEFIEET 130,625,000 T D AIEL  terms in 2005, HK$130,625,000 was classified as deferred rental

MEBA TEEHE_STAFLNEEFH  income and is released to the profit or loss as rental income on a
‘f“‘tﬁl%ﬁfv?/f*‘l')\?@ s NERMESUA R straight-line basis over the lease term of 17 years from 2005. At 31st

—7

B3

T (=ZE—
N E M R BRFRA ©

/\ﬂi"f— H ‘|’ El JL'HEA ilﬂ%ﬂ\
s 7 — B/ ZEEHE S WA 8,363,000
A4 18,583,000 L) ERIEAEEZE H

December, 2016, deferred rental income from a tenant to be released
within one year of HK$8,363,000 (2015: HK$8,583,000) has been
included in trade and other payables.
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39. BT IR 39. DEFERRED TAXATION
RAFERBAEFERRANEZFELEHRIERE  The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets
MEEREEHMT : recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior years:
BRARE
LRE e BHDHA
iR &Rz
Adjustments AAHER
toconformto ~ AZKEA  Elimination of
Fhatt the Group’s ~ ZEHRH  inter-company
Business accounting ~ Withholding ~ charges in
combinations  EfEHE policies taxon  properties
(Hita)  Revaluation of (i) undistributed Wig  HEBR i @t
(Notea) ~ properties (Note b) earnings (Note ¢) Tax losses Others Total

TR TER TAL TAL TR TR TR TR
HKS000 ~ HKS'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK§'000

A5E THE GROUP
RZF-RF-A—B AtlstJanuary, 2015 396,616 1,867,992 13,379 87,717 (26,751) (4,563) 284 2,334,674
EXA% Exchange adjustments (171 (107,012 (1,583) - - - - (110306)
REMEER (BE)  (Credit) charge to profit or loss

e for the year - 6,372 34414 14,684 - - 358 55,828
REMBEENR  Charge to reserve for the year - - 1,125 - - - - 1,125
R-EMBAZ  Eliminated on disposal of a

it EF R subsidiary (218,034) - 25,385 - - - - (192,649)
RZF-RFFZA  At31st December, 2015

=1-H 176871 1,767,352 72,720 102,401 (26,751) (4,563) 642 2,088,672
EX AR Exchange adjustments (1,646) (103,733 (5,048) - - - - (110,427)
RWERAES (BE)  (Credit) charge to profit or loss

ik for the year - (4,438) 59,321 62,251 - - (116) 117,018
RERAGE (BE)  (Credit) charge to reserve

ik for the year - 2 (19,167) - - - - (19,145)
KRB Acquisition of subsidaries 14,836 170,723 - - - (429) 599 185,730
W—FENELE  EFliminated on disposal of a

5267 subsidiary (63,204) (7,009) 7,326 = = = = (62,887)
RZE-1F At 31st December, 2016

+ZA=1+-A 126857 1822917 115,152 164,652 (26,751) (4,991) 1125 2,1989!
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39, IEIEFRIIE (48)
HiaE -

@ EBAHNBARBHEEREBEAAEBEELS
EMELZBERERRBATE -

(b) EETHERRARERAEBEERBA RS DE
BRAAENMECBREEERBEHREME
EEBREEZEVEZE BERLHEENRZH
EEMSHRAEMFERYER T MERE A
NEERZBHMELE 2GR EZR 2 RIETE -

(0 EEHEFAAMBARWNERTME CRIME
FERBEEWMERAS 2 R EIFEEMME L 2 G
ZENETE -

T RERAEEE R B BERELR S PHILR
2TRABRMELERE LT RELEHRIBSRE
TER B s R EH O 2 4T

39.DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@) This represents the tax effect of the temporary differences arising from the
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities upon
acquisition of subsidiaries.

(b) This includes the tax effect of the temporary differences arising from the
adjustments to management accounts of certain subsidiaries to conform to
the Group’s policies of revenue recognition and capitalisation of property
development cost, which includes tax effect of the temporary difference arising
from PRC Enterprise Income Tax saving on LAT and amortisation of properties
for development and prepaid lease payments on land use rights.

(c) This represents the tax effect of the temporary differences arising from the
elimination of inter-company charges originally capitalised as cost of properties
under development, inventories of completed properties and investment
properties of subsidiaries.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

2016 2015

FET FE T

HK$’000 HK$’000

BERIBAE Deferred tax liabilities 2,271,697 2,163,494
EEHIBEE Deferred tax assets (72,736) (74,822)
2,198,961 2,088,672

REEEAR - NE B A AT HE AR R EF 2 K
&) /R 7% 18 85 18595,860,00078 7T ( =T — R 4F
722,493,000/ 7T ) © Lt F 1A E5 18 A 2 20,846,000
BT (ZZF—FF:18,252,0008 ) B HER 5
RIERTE & B o A A A TR AR 0% 7 - B
ERLER T 2 T IEE 575,014,000 ¢ (=&
— R4 1 704,241,000/ 7T ) FERBIEFIIB & £ ©
RERHIBEESEFNR = —F ARTZ
3 5 B 2 E518512,375,000/8 70 ( =T — R 4F
665,224,0007857T) o EL b 518 7] LA PR HA(R &S -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$595,860,000 (2015: HK$722,493,000) available for offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of HK$20,846,000 (2015: HK$18,252,000) of such losses. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
HK$575,014,000 (2015: HK$704,241,000) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses
of HK$512,375,000 (2015: HK$665,224,000) that will gradually
expire until 2021. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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39. GERERLE (48)

R|ER AEEEMA] TR ERESR
#$793,345,0007 7T (—ZZF — A % : 623,552,000
PETT) o AR RN K T] 88 A8 JE AR s R HE 4R T
B TR B A R U S BN AR b AT
MRS EZEREERIBEEE -

40. TEHFRERS

REE_Z—AF+-_A=+—HLFERN"
REB AR E A RE135,000,0007 (HHE R
164,565,0007% 70 ) 1 & —EIMTE A 7l 2 2204
#H BEREBUESLTARKREL M- 1ES
ETRARREE B EEAKENGREMISHRE
R ERERN-

M. HEZH
AEEAHBERS

RBEMR ETREVMEZHBRS =15

WA AERZYENZ L 2 BETE - W
M TERARARMSEENEOERLE-

EEAZBETHZRA (BMERBER) 2—F
HREHE BEF2HE T INETEFE - Hitw
BREVMEHERH - E+FRARZEHEOL
BRTAEABOBRLE AKERESTH
HeEEHEPRIBEASINT

39.DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other deductible
temporary differences of HK$793,345,000 (2015: HK$623,552,000).
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.

40.MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31st December, 2015, the Group disposed
of 100% equity interest in a subsidiary at a consideration of
RMB135,000,000 (equivalent to HK$164,565,000). The consideration
was settled by Hong Kong listed shares. The Group included these
listed shares as available-for-sale investments in the consolidated
financial statements.

41.LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, certain investment properties are
leased out for a period of 20 years from the date of commencement
of operation of a lessee that occupies the properties, with a renewal
priority at the end of the lease at the open market value. The rentals
are calculated at a certain percentage of the revenue (net of value
added tax) of the lessee, with a minimum annual rental. Other
investment properties were leased out for periods ranging from 1
to 10 years and the majority of the leases did not have any renewal
priorities given to the lessees. The Group had contracted with tenants
for the following future minimum lease payments:

2016 2015

FER FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000

R—F 2K Within one year 377,237 293,381
RE_FEFERF In the second to fifth years

(BHEERMF) inclusive 568,310 267,491

RAFZ1#& After five years 17,219 19,167

962,766 580,039

RAHAR R AW A R B 5 &m0
Mk A 4 432,019,000 0 (ZE— R &F:
44,768,000/ 7T, ) °

Contingent rents which linked to the lessee’s turnover recognised
in income for the year amounted to HK$32,019,000 (2015:
HK$44,768,000).
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4. BEZH @)
AEEREES
R|ERR RNEBAESSRATRRERE

TRBENEFEEXNERYE ZRARKE
Gikak

41.LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of rented premises which fall due as follows:

2016 2015

FET FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

R—F 2N Within one year 2,757 3,291
RE_FEFRLF In the second to fifth years

(BREEEMF) inclusive 3,579 302

6,336 3,593

EEBEEAEAREENE T HABYE
2 RS BRSSO RE RS =7
e

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for

certain of its office properties. Leases are negotiated for a term ranging

from 1 to 3 years at fixed rentals.

42. 8 & E 42.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2016 2015
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000

ERNARZERIHR: Capital expenditure in respect of

contracted commitments for:

—-BEEAZ — acquisition of land use rights

T A in the PRC 151,685 232,697
—FARAET — capital contribution to

iR l/NE| associates - 200,477
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43. X EEE

()

AEER -_F-—R"E+-_A=+—BEk=
T-AFt+_A=1t—HZERET:

\
AEZHRBEEERAR

\
2016 £} \21 1

43.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@) At 31st December, 2016 and 31st December, 2015, the Group

had guarantees as follows:

2016 2015
FER FET
HK$'000 HK$’000
R THMERBEEZ Guarantees given to banks
RIBERARITIEL in respect of mortgage loans
LS granted to property purchasers 68,614 10,609
e TEAREBRAZ Guarantees given to banks
IRITIEERRITIEL in respect of banking facilities
R granted and utilised by:
—AEDE — joint ventures 1,292,135 1,448,972
— AR ERE — available-for-sale investees - 230,500

h—fEA & EEEmRAE 52,455,000
B (ZZE—FAF :2,680,000/8 7T) B 5815
FRRYELWEMREETHE T
BoZMAAELERG IMBERER TR
THE R B T 2D b AREIEE
NEERIN - BB — A T B E B Se ek B
FERREE -

F—EARAEE —HENBAREEME
M 1H 438,776,000 T (— T — A F:
39,602,000/8 7T ) B 5 —IERF B EH
EHMEETTEE LS c iR E A
AIFEZ LMD PEEEITERE  BRxE—3
15 L3 IE NS & th i RE /9 AR IR AT o -
BE—ENTERE ST

SN BAEE 5 —EHBAREE iR
4% 549470,581,000/8 7T (—ZE—h4F:
/) JFERYEFCEEHEE D EREE
THh e AREEEBBES (R EELREE
e —HAS R s s TR IEfEETTH o

AEBERIER -t e n) 3% R B2 E 1 RS
ETRE PLERAIBAHELL B
AERADRZATH - REZEER A&
EHEERIELE LR AEHLM
R BRI ET G E -

(b) A portion of a property for development that is held by a joint

venture with carrying value of approximately HK$2,455,000
(2015: HK$2,680,000) is under idle land investigation by the
local authority. The piece of land owned by the joint venture was
held under several land use right certificates. The development
of more than half of the piece of land was either completed or
under development, except for a portion which is retained for the
remaining development of the whole project.

Another property for development that is held by a subsidiary of
the Group with carrying value of approximately HK$38,776,000
(2015: HK$39,602,000) is under idle land investigation by the
local authority. This piece of land owned by the subsidiary
has been developed by several phases and more than half was
completed, except the last portion which is under the planning
approval by the local authority.

Further, property for development that is held by another
subsidiary of the Group with carrying value of approximately
HK$470,581,000 (2015: Nil) had been identified as idle land
by the local authority. The Group has invited another investor to
develop this land site jointly. The construction works for the first
phase of development is in progress.

The Group is currently working diligently to prevent the possible
classification as idle land, including negotiating the feasibility of
development plans with local authorities. Based on legal advices,
the Group has assessed the issue and considers that the idle land
confiscation may not materialise.
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43.EFE8E (&)

© R=F-—R"E+-_A=1t—H AKEL
BYREAREBEERTH-

4. BIRBFEHE

AEBE2ERBRERAKABIGIEL ZER
WA 8] (TBRRRETE ) RARBRIE S 5P
R-ZBTEEA+ - AR 2 BRESF 8] (878
@t RFR B CEERAREZEED
FiA IXRAEEZERESHEE HER
B2 BRI 2 RABERAEKEZ
REMEEBEES BRERA BB ERE
T E AR -ZETTF+ A —HIMUE
AR EERSEBESE

HRBESTENE BEERASEZHIA
BEETAEBH S 25% 8+ R A30,000
BT B TH A 2 EAE ©iE8i#30,0008 7T
REE IS EH5%Z IR

BERAEE T ARRERERIRGTEIRME
Be REENRAEBZ TIEEE BE 2K
RERERFE Z0%E5% A% E 8 {E5%E
10%2 5% - in B B B E B2 A B2 TR
BSBIR DB SR IRAT 8] - B AREE 2 U AT
BAREZEMEREE RBEE-Z—1F
+_A=+—HLEFERARR_ZT—X "F+=
B=+—HIEFER W ERBENBIERLT
RER-MIEHA TERESRDBEERNRK
ST 8 AR E 2 MR AT HRE SRR RS R

ARBRFEKLZMBABTNEE B+ E
BTEIE 2 R EERABHE 2KE -
BRBEIZHERRBEEFEZETADL FR
ZERARBNFEZES AEBEZE—BER
A &% AR AR A FT B BR R E MO AR

43.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(c) At 31st December, 2016, no legal action was taken against the
Group for material claim.

44.RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme which
is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance
(“ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance
in December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. Employees
who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment
of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying within the ORSO
Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees
joining the Group on or after 1st December, 2000 are required to join
the MPF Scheme.

For members of the MPF Scheme, both employees’ and the Group’s
contributions are calculated at 5% of the employee’s monthly relevant
income, with the mandatory cap of HK$30,000, and the Group will
make 5% top-up contribution if an employee’s monthly basic salary
exceeds HK$30,000.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from the
employees at rates ranging from 0% to 5% and from the Group
at rates ranging from 5% to 10% of the employee’s basic salary,
depending on the length of service with the Group. Where there are
employees who leave the ORSO Scheme prior to vesting fully in the
contributions, the contributions payable by the Group are reduced
by the amount of forfeited contributions. During the years ended 31st
December, 2015 and 31st December, 2016, there were no forfeited
contributions used to set off contributions. At the end of the reporting
period, no forfeited contributions, which arose upon employees
leaving the ORSO Scheme, are available to reduce the contributions
payable in future years.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
are members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated
by the PRC government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit schemes
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified contributions.
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44, BIRBREHE (&) 44.RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED)

REBE_Z—R"FT_A=+—HIEFEA" During the year ended 31st December, 2016, the Group made
AEED TN 7 BREFIEFHEILFA34,084,000  contributions to the retirement benefits schemes of HK$34,084,000

Br (ZZ—FHF:38,251,00087C) ° (2015: HK$38,251,000).
45. FEBEAT 2R B R 45.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

REERBEALZEARS RAERIT The Group had material transactions and balances with related parties

as follows:

2016 2015
FHERT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
@ BEEAFENZ (a) A major shareholder of the
FERE Company with significant
influence
BEE (B5)BRAA Allied Properties (H.K.)
([BEEE]) Limited (“APL") and its
K ECB 8 A 7 & subsidiaries and its ultimate
HEEERAR R holding company and
HR&EERA R subsidiaries of its ultimate
Z P B A holding company
—mARE — Rent, property
WEREHE management and air-
MEEE K& conditioning fees
THER charged to the Group 3,426 3,189
— ) 2% 55 [ Y HR £ — Management fee charged
ERE to the Group 33,927 24,120
— A AN &= B U ER By — Interest expenses charged
A=z to the Group 2,993 3,675
— A AN &8 E Y ER Y — Loan arrangement fee
ERTHE charged to the Group 479 452
— A AN &= B U ER By — Sundry expenses charged
Hitw&R to the Group 2,072 248
— H Ath FE A BR X — Other payable 14,054 6,552
—ENER(Hati) — Loan payable (Note i) 41,384 43,952
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A5 EEEANTZRGRER (&)

45.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(CONTINUED)
2016 2015
FTER FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
b) BEtEZ—M (b) A subsidiary of APL, Sun Hung
B ARFTBERR Kai & Co. Limited (“SHK")
NE([FRE]) R and its subsidiaries
BB AE (Hatii) (Note ii)
— A2 55 B R A — Insurance charged to the
RizEH Group - 124
—AEBERRNEE — Leasing agency income
REBHA earned by the Group 376 15
—7RE B HRER — Rental and property
MWEE & management fee
MEERE income earned by
WA the Group 4,070 4,692
— R B BRER Y — Interest income earned by
MEMBA the Group 2,761 =
—AEEBEEN — Property, plant and
ME BB K equipment purchased
B by the Group - 280
—AEEKENE — Consideration paid for the
NCIEiS ] subsidiaries acquired
R E by the Group 100,700 =
— W E K (B Ziii ) — Loans receivable (Note iii) 116,250 =
—H AR RRR — Other payable 2,560 4,423
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B EREALTZRG R (7) 45.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(CONTINUED)
2016 2015
FTER FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(© RRR—LIFRNTES (c) A partnership of which
RESEREZ a Non-Executive Director of
SN the Company is a partner
— [A AN &= B YL ER B9 — Legal and professional fees
EREREXRER charged to the Group - 3,209
d) FEZEREAR (d) Key management personnel
B compensation
—He kHAMEH — Salaries and other short-
1@ A term benefits 45,877 32,196
—RKRENE R — Post-employment costs 742 696
(e) MiE RAIREG &R (e) Associates and joint ventures
—REERRHES — Rent earned by the Group 2,039 1,876
—AREE R — Interest income earned by
A EBA the Group 96,968 15,967
— R BB Yk e — Dividend received or
YRR B A receivable by
(Kiativ) the Group (Note iv) 132,516 =
— A AN &% B Y ER B9 — Property management fee
MERELE charged to the Group 5,503 4,972
—AEERREERE — Consultancy fee income
WA earned by the Group 12,168 5,611
- AEEBED — Properties purchased by
ES the Group - 370,715
—HEEREREN — Financial guarantee given
HRAREBRZ to banks in respect of
RITEERRIT banking facilities
e 2 B 7% granted and utilised
ER by joint ventures 1,292,135 1,448,972

— H At A BRSK — Other payable 500 322
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45. BEEEANLT 2R B R &R (&)

BRANBIEMEME L RIRER AR ZE
FIATBR AR I & 32 AR 75 0 p o - AN 2 ) ERL gk
BHEZREERARLBAE —FNBA
AFI S 2 D iEHE R A REEIBEZ B
A Rk — B E R AR 2 HE WA A EH
BREAN L2 X HWARBRARBIRBE A
EHr ETMRRITAENBTRERERS -

AEBETIEEEBABK —FHEBARLRF
EXEamERE A RHEDEME A B UEE
T o ZRARAAKEREEERS  LRAKE
IRFABREMYIFAREE L TEEEEA
BATRIRS M IE R - % B A BIEEAM
AN@BNAREZERES -

Pz EREIREEBAEBNAEBESA
NHZERFE YA SRE L FEERE
AB - BHB £ 425,179,000 7T (—ZE—H
F 115,835,000/ 7T ) ' WEBIEE L2 FE2E
HEABFHA-

fiit

() ENERABEEMER FFEA5.0%LFN=
T—+HENAEE-

(i) BEWERARARNBEATZEN MINEERKS
WEN BB AR -

(i) ERERABEERER  EREEBL75%LFERZ
T-—FRAEE-

(iv) ZECECER-_T—AR"F+_A=1+—RHILFE

SR E132,516,0008 T (ZE—RF &) M
AEBRAEE D UWEN4,869,0008 7T (—F—H
£ :97,508,000/8 7T ) - AEBE BN R EHAR®%
+ =@ A A YR FE U AR B 2 BRI o

45.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

Apart from the renewed sharing of administrative services and
management services agreement entered into by the Company with
the ultimate holding company of APL, sub-leasing agreements entered
into by the Company with the ultimate holding company of APL and a
subsidiary of APL, and leasing agreements entered into by the Group
with subsidiaries and an associate of SHK, none of the above related
party transactions constitutes a continuing connected transaction as
defined in the Listing Rules.

Certain key management personnel of the Group received
remuneration from a company, or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such
company, which has significant beneficial interests in the Company.
Such company provided management services to the Group and
charged the Group a fee, which has been included in management
fee as disclosed in part (a) of this note, for services provided by those
personnel as well as others who were not key management personnel
of the Group.

The above-mentioned management fee is calculated by reference
to the time devoted by the management personnel on the affairs of
the Group and can be apportioned to the above key management
personnel. The total of such apportioned amounts, which has been
included in the key management personnel compensation above, is
HK$25,179,000 (2015: HK$15,835,000).

Notes:

(i) The loan payable bears interest of 5.0% per annum, is unsecured and
repayable in June 2017.

(ii) APL has significant influence over the Company and SHK is a subsidiary of
APL.

(iii) The loan receivables bears interest of 4.75% per annum, is unsecured and
repayable in May 2021.

(iv) The joint ventures declared dividend of HK$132,516,000 (2015: Nil)
during the year ended 31st December, 2016, while the Group received
HK$14,869,000 (2015: HK$97,508,000) in the current year. The balance of
dividend receivable is expected to be received by the Group within twelve
months after the end of the reporting period.
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46. EEIK

R-ZE—RF+-_HA=1+—8"

(@)

AEBHBETHERARZFE ZRITHE
HME-MERELE SEEDE(BE
DERGFEEE) BRTYME(BES
HABELE) BRIVEFE 8E
YR E D 5l 5269,663,000% 7T (=
T—REF ) 155,623,000 7T (==
— A F :197,916,00075 7T ) ~ 2,418,968,000
BT (ZZE—HF:2,307,401,000/8
JC) ~1,596,619,0008 T (Z T — A F:
2,298,342,000/8 ) * 663,103,000/8
T(ZZE—HR%:2,314,115,000/% 7T )
$%6,888,063,0008 L (—ZF — A F:
8,284,089,000/8 7T ) 4R IR TIE A A S EER
RITEE 2 EM

(b) AEEEEREEA123,0008 7T (—F—

il
% :131,000870) ZIBITFRERYEER
ERIZBER 2 ER-

RZE—RF+=-_A=+—H

(a)

N E % BRE (B A1,368,00058 7T 7 1T 23 &
YIEERBEMER Z KR -

(b) ANEBBIREER27,657,000/8 T2 %A

RERMEEZRRERBITEEZEM-

REHPEKREBRAR
2016 F iR

1217

46.PLEDGED ASSETS

At 31st December, 2016,

(a)

Bank deposits, property, plant and equipment, properties
for development (including assets classified as held for
sale), properties under development (including classified as
assets held for sale), inventories of completed properties and
investment properties of certain subsidiaries with carrying
values of HK$269,663,000 (2015: Nil), HK$155,623,000
(2015: HK$197,916,000), HK$2,418,968,000 (2015:
HK$2,307,401,000), HK$1,596,619,000 (2015:
HK$2,298,342,000), HK$663,103,000 (2015: HK$2,314,115,000)
and HK$6,888,063,000 (2015: HK$8,284,089,000) respectively
were pledged to banks for banking facilities granted to the Group.

Bank deposits with carrying value of HK$123,000 (2015:
HK$131,000) were pledged against mortgage loans granted to
property purchasers.

At 31st December, 2015

(a)

(b)

Properties for development with carrying value of HK$1,368,000
were pledged against other loans.

Investment properties with carrying value of HK$27,657,000
were pledged to bank for banking facility granted to the property
purchasers.
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47. €T A
472, SRIT B2 %8R

47 .FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

47a.Categories of financial instruments

2016 2015
FET FH&T
HK$'000 HK$’000
THEE Financial assets
A HERE Available-for-sale investments 371,553 869,411
RIEEERE Held-for-trading investments 98,217 99,369
B3R e U BR 3R Loans and receivables (including
(BRETEERES - bank balances and cash, and
R RBEER 2 RITFER) pledged bank deposits) 6,766,068 7,256,928
7,235,838 8,225,708
THEE Financial liabilities
RN AFTEZ Financial liabilities measured at
TRAE amortised cost 5,163,182 8,506,884

a7b. AR EE B BERBER

AEEZI2eMTABEAHEERE #
FEERE BMERE ALEEENIHERBR
Rk ERWE B 5 REMREIRR - BIER
RZRITER RiTEFLES BHREME
NI MERREEER R ERERE -%FE
MTAHBREMNERE ZSeRTARH
ZER e Em SRR (FIRER - SNE R 5
fERRAR) EERRKREMERE - T3
Il EZ SRR R -EREEERE
TR ERR  ARER KA BRI E 2
e ©

47b.Financial risk management objective and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include available-for-
sale investments, held-for-trading investments, amounts due from
associates, joint ventures and non-controlling shareholders, loans
receivable, trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits,
bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, interest-bearing
and interest-free borrowings and membership debentures. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.
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47. EMIT H (&)

ah. M EREEREREGE (£)

5 /E

$$l¥ﬁ“7¥<y\$x%fu?&9|\%[
S BT A ERES 2 MERR

< FENFNRE
(R0

AEEASX zTERRIEEELGERRZ
JIEN Dk B o

) R=EpEE

ZFEII,H\E JEWE R R ERZ NEEE) 2

EMHBAZANBEFERRR - ANEEZRE
ﬁ%?’FUTH R E S FERBMERRIAER
BERRITREFREM —ENB DL ZER A
SENAGRFESENZEEREREHRAES
WA H T B {E ¥ Al T8 R 2 B R @ b o A
B 7 RIT R EABE R T K 5 R ROt
34K

MERYRE

REWEHR - WAEEZF B REERZFIX

1202008 F AT A M B BMER T & BIARE
[ B B 14 )5 ) 16 35 503,540,000 7 (=T — A
% : 89,000/ 7T) °

EMEHKR MAEE 2T EBERZFEHE
ﬂuzoo?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi{m AT R AR E
BRI E MR A4,337,000/8 7T (T —R4F:
4,868,000/ 7T) ©

ERERS HREDMTRERRAENXE

% AR ARERIL A RRERE AR -

47 .FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

47b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Market risk

The Group's activities expose primarily to the financial risks of
changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates and
change in prices of equity financial instruments (see below).

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or
the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

(i) Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk through the impact
of interest rate changes on fixed-rate loans receivable and borrowings.
The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to variable-
rate loans receivable and borrowings which carry interest at Hong
Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate plus a certain percentage. The Group
will continue to maintain a reasonable mix of floating rate and fixed
rate borrowings and take actions to hedge against any foreseeable
interest rate exposure, if necessary. The interest rates and terms of
repayment of bank and other borrowings of the Group are disclosed in
note 34.

Interest rate sensitivity

At the end of the respective reporting periods, if interest rates
increased by 200 basis points in relation to the Group’s variable
rate loans receivable and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's profit after tax would increase by HK$3,540,000 (2015:
HK$89,000).

At the end of the respective reporting periods, if interest rates
increased by 200 basis points in relation to the Group’s variable
rate borrowings and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's profit after tax would decrease by HK$4,337,000 (2015:
HK$4,868,000).

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent interest rate risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.
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47. EMT H (&)

47h. M EREREBERBR (4)

S EEE (&)
(i) SMEEREE

SNERRIERE SR T A BEMBEINEEXS
BMKE R NEBZEBEERTE &
P EEEEME  MAKEE TRITER
FEUM RS ~ FEAS BRI B B R A SN D) (B - AR
S B3R A0 AL AT SNE SRR < AT - B IEE
SEYERERIMNERR Y HEEREERE
BB ARIMNERE o

47 .FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

47b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
(ii) Foreign currency risk management

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group's operations are mainly in the PRC other than Hong Kong and
certain bank balances, receivables, payables and other loans of the
Group are denominated in foreign currencies. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors the related foreign exchange exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

RERERR RNEELAARBAINGIEZE  The carrying amount of monetary assets and monetary liabilities that
KEENERBEZREAERT: are denominated in a currency other than RMB at the end of the
respective reporting periods are as follow:
2016 2015
FEx THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BE Assets
ST United States Dollars 212,135 117,689
BT Hong Kong Dollars 3,482,179 2,898,769
=¥ Liabilities
x United States Dollars 1,221 5,807
78 TT Hong Kong Dollars 557,472 209,349
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47. EHT H (%)

47b. I EBEE B ERBER (£)

HSEEE (&)
() IMERBERE (&)
SN BURREE

AEETEAZEEER (X)) RETZRE

LA
ST}
ZN

o

TRAAFIIARERARB L ARBEINEGRZ
B LTt R T E#5%2 58 - GURE DT B 18R
PASNEEFIME 2 BHETE B RIRF AR IAINEER5%
ZEBHETHRERE QREITEENRE R
REREFRUARBTEFLRRE EHERTEA
B 5 AERASNE RIRIRS) - R A A0 - e
AR S HERASNEIE hN5% » BIANF Z R R
AR A

47 .FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

47b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
(ii) Foreign currency risk management (continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity

The Group mainly exposes to the currency of United States (“United
States Dollars”) and Hong Kong Dollars.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase
and decrease in the RMB against the relevant foreign currencies.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year
end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes interest-bearing and interest-free borrowings as well as bank
balances and cash. A positive number indicates an increase in profit
for the year where the RMB strengthens against the relevant currency.
If there is 5% increase in RMB against the relevant foreign currencies,
the decrease in the profit before tax for the year is shown as below:

2016 2015
FET TAT
HK$'000 HK$’000
ST United States Dollars
NG|V Decrease in profit for the year (10,546) (5,594)
BT Hong Kong Dollars
R E E i F R A Decrease in profit for the year (146,235) (134,471)

EEERS FREINMTERRAEINER
b RS RERIY A RRFEAHRRE -

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does
not reflect the exposure during the year.
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47. EMT H (&)

47h. M EREREBERBR (4)

HSEEE (&)
(i) HEAEEERR
AR BEA R B P 2 IR B S5 (E1
R EEEREREREY YNERTERK
BUEETE -

RERBBRESH

THERESTRERE ARREER AR
ErE-

M EER S, 1K10% :

— HRAMEHERE 2 ARBEZS  FittA
EE S EHFEEBIL I, 537,155,000/ 70
—ZE— 486,941,000/ 7T) °

— HARNEBEEEREZARBEES EitAR
= [ AN 4 FE R A58 hn, 80 409,822,000575
T (ZZ—F4F 9,937,000/ 7T) °

47 .FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

47b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity security price risk arising from equity
investments. The management will monitor the price movements and
take appropriate actions when it is required.

Equity price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risks at the end of the reporting period.

If equity prices were 10% higher/lower:

— revaluation reserves would increase/decrease by HK$37,155,000
(2015: HK$86,941,000) for the Group as a result of the changes
in fair value of available-for-sale investments.

—  profit for the year would increase/decrease by HK$9,822,000
(2015: HK$9,937,000) for the Group as a result of the changes in
fair value of held-for-trading investments.
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47. EMIT H (&)

47b. IR EE B ERBR (£)

=B

RIZB—RE+-A=+—H WEBBEALR
BERITRESBAREREM 2 MBERM S
AEERBER WAKRBEARZEREE
R RSEREE M HIRARINE 2 2R EER
EEMAMESB@QEEZSZERER - B THIE
ERREERK NEED BITERER AE
PREREXBRAE MM R B R R N 2 (B8 = St oh - 1
ERERR AEEFEBRENE S REM
e BR TR 2 AT Bl & 58 - AR T AT @ &
BFTER 2R EREEE B 5 - S A R A MRTT
BB ARRREZRITEEFELHBER &
EMRABERZENB AR 2 MBRRARLT
EERBRER AREEERSARITHYE
BERERZRITERRHEMBERNEERR
AR REEZFZBEERTI A E R -
MZEVE NS EESRERSE LM
5 EFRRARBZEERBRE AEMEE-

RRERRTHASBHBRFREEFRSER
AR ZIRIT BRBER ZEERRER

AEENEERBRET  BEKERETHEE
VE=ZF - RZEBE—XR"F+-A=1+—8 EK
BERBER-_E—tF=AZ2=_FT-_—FH A5
Hi° 62,150,000/ 7T ( =ZZ — A %F : 776,669,000
BIL) 2 B E RN BB R D KT S8
[ E 5T {48 460,913,000 70 (Z B — R 4F:
17,900,000/ 70 ) BB EIKE R 2B 215
B AN BB IR E TR TUEE - Lt
ME BEERLEERRAR  FIEEREK
HBHA

47 .FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

47b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Credit risk

As at 31st December, 2016, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties or financial guarantees
provided by the Group is represented by the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in consolidated
statement of financial position and the amount of contingent liabilities
disclosed in note 43(a). In order to minimise the credit risk, the
monitoring procedures are carried out to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade and other receivables at
the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. With respect to financial
guarantees provided to banks to secure the banking facilities granted
to subsidiaries by the Company, the Directors consider the credit risk
is limited because the subsidiaries have strong financial positions. The
management considers the credit risk exposure to financial guarantee
provided to banks to secure the banking facilities granted to property
purchasers is also limited because the facilities are secured by the
properties and the market price of the properties is higher than the
guaranteed amounts. In this regard, the Directors consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

The Group had a concentration of credit risk as the loan receivables
are advanced to a few independent third parties. As at 31st December,
2016, the loans receivables will be matured ranging from March
2017 to May 2021. Loans receivables of HK$62,150,000 (2015:
HK$776,669,000) are secured by debentures and share mortgage.
Management had assessed the credit rating of the borrowers for
the remaining unsecured loans receivables of HK$460,913,000
(2015: HK$17,900,000). In addition, loan receivables have been
settled in accordance with repayment terms. In this regard, the
management considers the credit risk exposure is limited as none of
them are past due.
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47h. R EEEEREBEEK (&)
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B EEERREERRAR-

AEEYEEMBNETZEERR BRRE
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EREESFB < FE - BEEEHIRITHER
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47 .FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

47b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group also has a concentration of credit risk on the amounts due
from joint ventures which are due from a few joint ventures engaged
in property development. The Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual debt at the end of each reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment loss are made for irrecoverable amounts, if
any. The management considers the credit risk exposure is limited.

The Group has no other significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group's operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings
and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

Liquidity tables

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and financial
guarantee arrangements. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate
at the end of the reporting period.
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47. EMIE (%) 47.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
47b. I EBEE B ERBER (£) 47b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)
HEEELK (B) Liquidity risk (continued)
RBESR (#F) Liquidity tables (continued)
i Rt=A
EERTRE =1-H
goMMEA AR KER
METHFE  Repayable on ReRBAE Carrying
Weighted ~ demandor ~ 1Z3A  3ERZ1% Total amount
average less than 13 3 months 1555 SERLE  undiscounted at 31st
interest rate 1 month months to 1 year 15 years 5tyears  cashflows  December

TET TR TAR TAT TAR TET TR
% HKS000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

ZE-RE 2016
FAHBEER  Non-derivative financial
liabilities

BHREMEFES Trade and other payables - 1427137 - - - - 147137 1427137
=L Interest-bearing borrowings

-8 - fixed rate 6.04% 224,18 33,251 652920 2,574,140 178770 3663301 3,227,050

= - variable rate 3.11% 248,909 - 48,469 37,158 - 334,536 289,100
SR Interest-free borrowings - 219,895 - - - - 219,895 219,895
BBERAR Financial guarantee contracts - 1,360,749 - - - - 1,360,749 -

3,480,908 33,251 701389 2,611,298 178772 7,005,618 5,163,182
%-1f 2015
FTARBEE  Non-derivative financial
liabilities

B5RAMERES Trade and other payables - 2878001 - - - - 2078091 2,878,091
= Interest-bearing borrowings

-8 - fixed rate 5.21% 873,624 59983 1176290 2,968,226 M8743 5526866 4,761,676

o - variable rate 2.69% 277,037 632 6,190 44,394 - 328,253 324,500
SR Interest-free borrowings - 490,254 - - - - 490,254 490,254
U Membership debentures - 35,261 - 6,042 11,060 - 52,363 52,363
SBERAR Financial guarantee contracts - 1,690,081 - - - - 1,690,081 -

0,244,348 60,615 1,188,522 3,023,680 448,743 10,965,908 8,500,884
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REEEE (B)
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TEBEEEERER MERGRRZEHES

BEDHT - RIFR B K155 Fﬁﬁ‘JZEﬁEmﬁfk
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47 .FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

47b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
Liquidity tables (continued)

The table below summarises the maturity analysis of term loans with a
repayment on demand clause based on agreed scheduled repayments
set out in the agreements. The amounts include interest payments
computed using contractual rates. As a result, these amounts were
greater than the amounts disclosed in the “on demand” time band
in the maturity analysis contained in the table above. Taking into
account the Group’s financial position, the Directors do not consider
that it is probable that the bank will exercise its discretion to demand
immediate repayment. The Directors believe that such term loans will
be repaid in accordance with the following scheduled repayment
dates set out in the agreements:

Rt+=AH

=+-H

AERRE ZREE

REAR Carrying

SH1{EA EAEIE Total amount

Less than 1Z2318 A 3 months 1855 @iB5%F undiscounted at 31st

1 month  1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years  over 5 years cash flow  December

THT THT T TET FHT THT TET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

2016 2,460 11,958 190,223 161,355 66,356 432,352 386,666
2015 5,222 17,365 127,721 918,916 97,006 1,166,230 1,033,294

BBtz MBEFRERZEESMHEROR
SHRE AEERBRFFZFENZEE
RORAZER - RIBNRE AR ZTEH - AEE
RRREAEREZL T RESBERAX T
AR AR T REBER KB T RENAEE
HMRE ZRERRZTHERERNER
FEW B SE BB R A LAY KL

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the
maximum amounts that the Group could be required to settle under
the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectation
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more
likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is
a function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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47 .FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

47b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
Liquidity tables (continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change, if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which includes
the borrowings disclosed in notes 34 and 35, membership debentures
disclosed in note 33, net of bank balances and cash and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share capital and
reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure periodically. As a part of
this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations
of the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt, if necessary.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
47c.Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair
value of various financial assets.

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. The following table gives information
about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined
(in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well
as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to
which the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.
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47. EMIT R (&) 47.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
47c. TRMT A AAEEE (&) 47c.Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)

tT-A=1t—-HZzAREE 2AREE

Fair value as at 8]
SREE 31st December, Fair value HEFELORETFESH
Financial assets 2016 2015 hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs
FER TAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
DERFBEREREZINTE 98,160 97,103 F—R REBTHARZTHEANE
2 RAE S Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market
Equity securities listed in the
PRC classified as held-for-
trading investments
DRI HEEREZNF 56,105 67,804 £ REBRMBAHRIMEEAE
T ZRARGE Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market
Equity securities listed in the
PRC classified as available-
for-sale investments
DERAHLEREZRER 253,951 788,777 F—R REBTHARZTHEANE
2 RAE S Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market
Equity securities listed in Hong
Kong classified as available-
for-sale investments
PRAAHLEEREZ 14,351 12,830 S AESREBREENER
FEETRAES Level 2 Price provided by a financial
Unlisted equity funds classified institution

as available-for-sale
investments
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47. EHT H (%)

47c. TRMT A AAEBEE (&)

tZRA=+-HZAAREHE

47 .FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

47c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(continued)

Fair value as at

DMREE

5Bl

SREE 31st December, Fair value FERGREZEZHY
Financial assets 2016 2015 hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs
FEx TET
HK$’000 HK$’000
DERAIHHEREZ 9,851 - E_H/  BE_FTHEERMET
BLEEEERE Level 2 Determined by reference to second
Club debentures classified hand market value
as available-for-sale
investments
DERAHHEREZ 37,295 - F=h  KRAENEEFE

ELETRAES

Unlisted equity securities
classified as available-for-
sale investments

Level 3 Adjusted net assets value
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47. €I B (&)

47c. TRMT A AAEBEE (&)

REZB-ARE+ZA=+-BZAABERH

47 .FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

47c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)

Fair value hierarchy as at 31st December, 2016

2016
B—& B BE=& et
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FHExT FET FTET FTET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THEE Financial assets
KIFEERE Held-for-trading investments
—RHPE LT — Equity securities listed in
Z IR E 5 the PRC 98,160 - - 98,160
AL ERE Available-for-sale investments
—RPE LT — Equity securities listed in
Z IR F 5 the PRC 56,105 - - 56,105
—RBEE LT — Equity securities listed in
2 IR TE = Hong Kong 253,951 - - 253,951
—JELETRAES — Unlisted equity funds - 14,351 - 14,351
— (B EREE — Club debentures - 9,851 - 9,851
—FEETIRAES — Unlisted equity securities - - 37,295 37,295
310,056 24,202 37,295 371,553
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47. RT A (%) 47.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

47c. TRMT A AAEBEE (&)

(continued)

R-ZB—RF+__A=1+—H2ZARMEERB Fair value hierarchy as at 31st December, 2015

231

47c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments

2015
FE—R E-M E=& 5t
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FHT FAET FET FHT
HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEE Financial assets
RIEEERE Held-for-trading investments
—RHPE LT — Equity securities listed in
i N2 the PRC 97,103 - - 97,103
AIHEERE Available-for-sale investments
—RPE LT — Equity securities listed in
i ¥ N2 the PRC 67,804 - - 67,804
—-REEL™ - Equity securities listed in
2 IR % Hong Kong 788,777 = = 788,777
—JELTRAES — Unlisted equity funds = 12,830 = 12,830
856,581 12,830 - 869,411

RAFERN WREFE—H - BZMNREZ4  There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 in the current year.

Z [ ey 3

ERZRR REEKAIAGEMEMETE  The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets
H

AL

TREELTHARMNREAERA

REREE- financial statements approximate their fair values.

AfBME  and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
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48. EHEREE

R-ZZE—+t&F_AtH ARaEHBEEEE
ERAB ([HMEEE]) (BAEZFTER
R)EINERITERERERRE D&
REE_E—RNE+_A=+—BIFEZ
EERE AEERNEATHASE 2F
[ _EBRA27,120,0007% T 38 N 233,927,000
BT NEE RS S B ET S FEE TR
BREEBRB>EWZE ([EFTRBHE]) -
BRI RERITHART X B EIRE D #i7
2R R E—+F—A—HE=ZE—NF
+-—A=+—HAH=AFELRESED A
885,000,000/ 7T * 94,000,000/%8 7T &
103,000,0008 7T ° E 7] BRI W & fr AN 2 A %
R RESRI R Ed &

49. T EM BN BIFEE

49.1 B D A —RE R

BRREFHRAN FAEZEMNBRARNIERER
MRS W T EAEFBLEEE FHEWT:

48.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 7th February, 2017, the Company entered into the supplemental
sharing of administrative services and management services
agreement with Allied Group Limited (“AGL”), a substantial
shareholder of APL, to increase the annual cap of the fees payable by
the Group to AGL in respect of the management services for the year
ended 31st December, 2016 from HK$27,120,000 to HK$33,927,000.
The Group also entered into the renewed sharing of administrative
services and management services agreement (“Renewed Services
Agreement”) with AGL to renew and extend the term of the sharing
of administrative services and management services agreement
by revising the annual cap not to exceed HK$85,000,000,
HK$94,000,000 and HK$103,000,000 for a period of three years from
1st January, 2017 to 31st December, 2019 respectively. The Renewed
Services Agreement was subject to approval by the shareholders of the
Company at an extraordinary general meeting.

49.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
49.1General information of subsidiaries
Particulars of principal subsidiaries which are incorporated and are

operating principally in Hong Kong except where otherwise indicated
are as follows:

BRTEERRA/
HAMERZBD
Percentage of issued
BRITHRE ordinary share capital/
LERBRA, registered capital
EAREMER QAT
Paid up issued o) PNETESC
ordinary share held by EEBES
W 4 R & capital/Paid up the Company*/ attributable TEXRE
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries to the Group Principal activities
2016 2015 2016 2015
% % % %
EREHEEABERARY US$15,600,000 100 100 100 100 WDEERREKE
Beijing Nanhu Huayuan Apartment Property development and
Co., Ltd. investment
CBIXABRA A" HK$159,117,629 - 99.97 - 99.97 REER

CBI Investment Limited"?

Investment holding
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49. T EMB L RIFHE (&)

9.1 MBLARI—MRER (&)

49.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

49.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)

BRITEERRE/
dAMERZEDL

Percentage of issued

BRITHRE ordinary share capital/
LERBRA, registered capital
ERREMER KRR/
Paid up issued WEARESE
ordinary share held by EEEER
Wt 2 R & capital/Paid up the Company*/ attributable TEXE
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries to the Group Principal activities
2016 2015 2016 2015
% % % %
REAZEHEREGRAAY RMB50,000,000 100 100 100 100 WMEER
Changchun Tian An Real Estate Property development
Development Co., Ltd.®
EMARZEDERERDAY US$2,650,000 100 100 100 100 WERER
Changzhou Tian An City Property development
Development Co., Ltd.®
EMAZRHERERDAD US$8,000,000 - 100 - 100 WEFERNKA
Changzhou Tian An Landmark Property development and
Co., Ltd.&w investment
MR THEHERRERARFY US$32,300,000 100 100 100 100 WEEE
Changzhou Tian An Yuan Cheng Property development
Real Estate Development
Company Limited®
2L UNCIRE US$1 100 100 100 100 #MERE
Cheerchoice Limited® & Property investment
ERERBRAF HK$200 100* 100* 100 100 HREER
Chinaland Management Limited Investment holding
BANEER (LB)BRRAY US$620,000 100 100 100 100 WEREBRREER
Cornell Properties Services (Shanghai) Property management and
Co., Ltd. investment holding
RERZFHEREBRAAY US$6,800,000 60 60 60 60 MEEE

Dalian Tian An Property Development
Co., Ltd.

Property development
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49. T BB N EIFEE (&)

491 MBRAR—RER (&)

49.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

49.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)

BRTEERRE/
AMEXZBED L
Percentage of issued
ERTHE ordinary share capital/
LERKRE registered capital
EHREMER ARF*/

Paid up issued HEAREE

ordinary share held by EREEN
i /8 2 7] & capital/Paid up the Company*/ attributable TEEH
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries to the Group Principal activities

2016 2015 2016 2015
% % % %
ABRLZBERARBR DA U$$29,000,000 100 100 100 100 MERERREE
Dalian Tian An Tower Co., Ltd." Property development and
investment
AHAERAERARY HK$681,899,000 90.65 - 90.65 - DERARMEEE
Dan Form Holdings Company Limited" Property investment and
property management
ETEHBERAR" HKS2 100 100 100 100 #MEEKE
Grandview Square Limited” Property investment
ETSAERAF0 HK$2 100 100 100 100 MXEER
Grand Kings Limited” Property investment
Grand Rise Investments Limited ™ Us$1 100 100 100 100 REZER
Investment holding
ELESERAR HK$3,756 100 100 100 100 #MERERA
GRP VI Limited” Property investment
AXEBRARAFD US$1 100 - 100 - DERA
Hing Yip Holdings Limited™ Property investment
BEmRKHBRERERARY HK$50,000,000 100 100 100 100 MERERREE
Huiyang Danshui Xinyangcheng Property development and
Construction Company Limited™ investment

ERERERAF HK$2 100 100 100 100 HHKRH
Join View Development Limited Money lending services
Kylie Nominees Limited HK$2 100 100 100 100 REREARE

Provision of nominee
services
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49. T EMB L RIFEE (&)

9.1 MBLARI—MRER (&)

49.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

49.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)

ERTEBERRAE
dAMERZBED
Percentage of issued
EETHR ordinary share capital/
EERRE registered capital
EHEEMER AR/
Paid up issued WEAREE
ordinary share held by EEEEN
Pt/ 2 7] & capital/Paid up the Company*/ attributable TEXK
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries to the Group Principal activities
2016 2015 2016 2015
% % % %
REREERBRDF HK$101,440,367 100 - 100 - REER
Long Island Holdings Limited Investment holding
HRABEXBERDEY US$13,500,000 100 100 100 100 WEFRLKA
Nanjing Tiandu Industry Co., Ltd." Property development and
investment
HRREEXBRDAY US$41,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEERE
Nanjing Tianning Real Estate Co., Ltd." Property development
HARZBABERREERAAY RMB134,696,700 100 100 100 100 #MEERE
Nantong Tian An Cyberpark Property development
Development Company Limited®
LBEERBRAAY RMB275,933,200 100 100 100 100 #MEERRERE
Shanghai Greentree | Company Ltd." Property development and
investment
LBIBEXRBRAAY RMB266,315,300 100 100 100 100 #MEERRERE
Shanghai Greentree Il Company Ltd." Property development and
investment
LBBREXBRRAY RMB260,000,000 100 100 100 100 #MERE
Shanghai Haibo Real Estate Limited™ Property investment
LBBERHELERRAAY RMB37,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEKE
Shanghai Haiguang Real Estate Holdings Property investment
Limited™
LEBREXFBRRAY RMB140,000,000 100 100 100 100 #MERE
Shanghai Haisen Real Estate Limited™ Property investment
LBBREXFARRAY RMB66,000,000 100 100 100 100 WEKE

Shanghai Haiyi Real Estate Limited”

Property investment
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49. T BB N EIFEE (&)

491 MBRAR—RER (&)

49.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

49.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)

BRTEERRE/
dAMERZED

Percentage of issued

ERTHE ordinary share capital/
LERKRE registered capital
BHREMES ARF/
Paid up issued HEAREE
ordinary share held by EREEN
i /8 2 7] & capital/Paid up the Company*/ attributable TEEH
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries to the Group Principal activities
2016 2015 2016 2015
% % % %
EBRZHLAEARRAD US$28,000,000 98 98 98 98 MEERRERE
Shanghai Tian An Centre Building Property development and
Co., Ltd.® investment
LBRZABERARAAY RMB50,000,000 99 99 99 9 MEERRERE
Shanghai Tianan Riverview Co., Ltd." Property development and
investment
LBRFRHEBRDE" RMB50,000,000 100 100 100 100 WEEERRKA
Shanghai Tianyang Real Estate Co., Ltd" Property development and
investment
AERERRARF Us$1 100 - 100 - DERE
Sing Hing Investments Limited Property investment
BUEE (L&) BERAR US$47,500,000 99.99 99.99 99.99 99.99  WEER
Strait Investments (Shanghai) Limited® Investment holding
MERBRARY US$30,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEREFRREEER
Sun Hai Tung Co., Ltd.™ Property development and
investment holding
TAREREER D] HK$2 100 100 100 100 REWERS
T.A. Secretarial Services Limited Provision of secretarial
services
Tanya Nominees Limited HK$2 100 100 100 100 REREARSE
Provision of nominee
services
AETEEXRBRDA HKS$2 100* 100* 100 100 REEBRREFEER
Tian An China Enterprise Limited Investment holding and
securities dealing
AETEBERSERERERAF HK$2 100* 100* 100 100 REZER

Tian An China Hotel and Property
Investments Company Limited

Investment holding
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49. T EMB L RIFEE (&)

9.1 MBLARI—MRER (&)

49.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

49.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)

BRTEERRE/
dMEXZED L
Percentage of issued
EETHR ordinary share capital/
EERRE registered capital
EHREMER ARF*/
Paid up issued WEAREE
ordinary share held by EEEEN
Pt/ 2 7] & capital/Paid up the Company*/ attributable TEXK
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries to the Group Principal activities
2016 2015 2016 2015
% % % %

AERE R BRAE" HK$360,000,000 100 100 100 100 WERERREER
Tian An Investments (Shenzhen) Property investment and
Co., Ltd.™ investment holding

A% (L) ERBRAA HKS?2 100 100* 100 100 REZER

Tian An Pearl River Company Limited Investment holding

A& (LB)REBRAA US$30,000,000 100% 100" 100 100 MREERARER
([RZLig])w RARK

Tian An (Shanghai) Investments Co., Ltd. Property development
(“TASH")® and investment and

investment holding

BOALEZHERERAAY RMB197,174,341 100 100 100 100 MXREE

Tianan Intelligent Park Properties (Wuxi) Property development
Co., Ltd.®

RERL M BEEREERAAD RMB550,000,000 100 100 100 100 NEERE

Tianjin Tian An Science Parks Property development
Development Limited™

BHTLUEXRBRAA US$5,000,000 95 95 95 95 MEEE

Wuxi Redhill Properties Co., Ltd™ Property development

ERXEEXRBRDA" US$18,400,000 100 100 100 100 WMXREE

Wuxi Tianxin Properties Co., Ltd." Property development

EERBRERAROAY US$12,000,000 - 88 - 8797 WEERREERBRNG

Zhao Qing Golf and Development Property development and
Co., Ltd.f &M golf course operation

RELERMAZERSAERE RMB273,500,000 - 100 - 100 WMEREE
BR AR Property development

LEBREREHEGRARY US$50,000,000 100 100 99.99 99.99 MEERE

Property development
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49. T BB N EIFEE (&)

491 MBRAR—RER (&)

49.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

49.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)

BRTEERRE/
dAMERZED

Percentage of issued

ERTHE ordinary share capital/
LERKRE registered capital
BHREMES ARF/
Paid up issued HEAREE
ordinary share held by EREEN
i /8 2 7] & capital/Paid up the Company*/ attributable TEEH
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries to the Group Principal activities
2016 2015 2016 2015
% % % %
LESIRMEEERERARD RMB900,000,000 100 100 100 100 #MEERE
Property development
RZEEERRINERARO RMB6,975,000 100 100 100 100 MERE
Property investment
R (R EEEABRAA"Y RMBS50,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEERE

() FEEPEKLEE-
(i) EPEFMERIYFEEFRLEEE-
(i) ERBHERESEMKL-

(iv) ARREERBEALZ EB60%EL BT 240%
XA — BB AREE -

(v) RER- FHEK90.65% 2 B WU - &R
&M WmRMES -

(vi) RER ZENBARNZIIEREREE R
FEMBMERME

AERMIHEDEERREARE 2 FEAH
BEAEAREZMBRR EFRRIIHE
B AR ZHBESEMNBRILEK

BEARFRIIRA EMME R R HERERE

Property investment

Notes:

(i)  Operating principally in the PRC.

(ii)  Established and operating principally in the PRC.
(iii) Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

(iv) The 60% interest in TASH is held directly by the Company and the remaining
40% is held by a subsidiary.

(v) During the year, approximately 90.65% interest of Dan Form was acquired as
set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

(vi) During the year, the entire interests of the subsidiaries were disposed of as set
out in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the
end of the year.
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49. T EMB QRIS (&)

V2HERERFERERNFZENE
NEFE
TRIEEEEAE RSN BN E

NAEFE:

R BHR

49.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

49.2 Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Group that have material non-controlling interests:

IRERBE

Place of incorporation

FERERFECRT
EERRABDL
Percentage of ownership of FRIEZ
issued ordinary share capital *ERER Rt FERER

KEARER and principal place of held by non-controlling Loss allocated to non- Accumulated non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests controlling interests interests
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
TR TAL TER TR
% % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AHAERERAA &R
Dan Form Holdings Hong Kong
Company Limited 9.35 - - - 483,236 -
FRFERED ERFEX
fERA
Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests 4,706) (4,551) 54,948 16,008
(4,706) (4,551) 538,184 16,008

FARANEEET —EEAERFEBRERAIE
2EMBARNMBEERBALNT - THIE
MBERTEEENEHEATEE-

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set out
below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.
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49. TEMB QA TFE (8)

V2 HERERFERESNFZENE
NEFE (F)

49.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

49.

(CONTINUED)

2Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests(continued)

AR ERE L E] (Kfata) Dan Form and its subsidiaries (Note a)

2016

FHET

HK$’000

MENEE Current assets 994,505

EMENEE Non-current assets 4,410,678

mENAE Current liabilities (167,223)

EREBEE Non-current liabilities (147,630)

FHE AR R 4G 2 #E 5 Equity attributable to owners of Dan Form 5,090,330
NAEBEBAENZ Equity attributable to the non-controlling interests

FEFEIRE R B 2 before fair value adjustments 475,946
NABEAREKEZ Equity attributable to the non-controlling interests

SRR ERIEIE 2 (M aEb) after fair value adjustments (Note b) 483,236

Hiat - Notes:

(@ REBEE_T—ARF+_A=+—HIEFEAN @ (@ Dan Form and its subsidiaries have been acquired during the year ended
Ko ECTfT B 2 A B 4% W B - R S K EL B B8 X R 31st December, 2016 and no profit was contributed by Dan Form and its
BANBEREREE 2 AFEEGF  FIEHRH subsidiaries to the Group’s profit for the year, details as set out in note 8.
He oA WEEKN -_Z—AF+-_A=+— Accordingly, no summarised financial information on its financial performance
B2 @B RReREZ MR E Rt - and cash flows for the year ended 31st December, 2015 was presented.

b) HESBERABR T —A"FRWESEE -4 (b) The amounts have been adjusted for the fair value adjustments on property,

W HER&RER L IERAEZANEER

DNAEEFE-

plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments of land use rights upon
acquisition of Dan Form in 2016.



\

AZARPEERAT
: 2016§§ﬁ \241

REMB WKW
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_ZT—Ft+-_A=t+—HLEE
For the year ended 31st December, 2016

50. X EHE N TIFHE 50.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

RMERR ASER T E AR HEE#Es: At the end of the reporting period, the Group had interests in the
following associates:

7 5% B P4 = R
EXBEOH
TEREWH Percentage of
BERNTABE Principal place registered capital held TEXH
Name of associate of operation by the Group Principal activity
2016 2015
% %
Tian An Australia Limited? BN 32.83 3283 WMEEE
(BT18“PBD Developments Limited”) Australia Property development
(Formerly “PBD Developments Limited”)
Zeta Estates Limited™ 5 30.21 - PERZE
Hong Kong Property investment
LBEERTREBRAF Nabis} 30 30 MEHRE
Shanghai Property development
HiaE - Notes:
() RBRMEMARSZE LT BEZ AR ZE—H5F (i) Incorporated and listed in Australia, further details are available in its published
BENERMZERE A accounts.

(i) UER B RNF AR Z FHELE) —BHEE QR (i) This company is an associate of Dan Form which was acquired during the year.
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51. TESEEFE

RBERR AEERTIEEEXEEE
& BRRBRBN ZRERELEEETEE

51.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had interests in the
following joint ventures which are corporate joint ventures established

TR S e 48 8 i A in the PRC except where otherwise indicated:
A5 W 4k R
EXBOL
TELEHE Percentage of
BELEER Principal place registered capital held TEXK
Name of joint venture of operation by the Group Principal activities
2016 2015
% %
RERZSTRBARNS Rz 75 - RESBEXRNS
BEBFROA Dongguan Golf course operation
Dongguan Changan Jinyu Golf Club
Co., Limited™
Foo Chow Holdings Limited™ REERES - 50 REEK
British Virgin Islands Investment holding
BN EEHERREER & 50 50 YEREREKRE
AR DA Panyu Property development
Guangzhou Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological and investment
Park Development Co., Ltd./
Multi Major Investment Corporation™ — HE# RE S - 50 REEK
British Virgin Islands Investment holding
Noble-Link Worldwide Inc.") RBERES 60 - REEK
British Virgin Islands Investment holding
SunCore Holdings Ltd‘ RERRES - 50 REEK
British Virgin Islands Investment holding
AREE (RR)FIHERE =M - 342 HEEZRE
BRREM Fuzhou Property development

Tianan Summit (Fujian) Real Estate
Development Co, Ltd™
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51. TEEERFE (4)

51.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES

(CONTINUED)

ES LS
EXxEok

Percentage of

TEREME

EELEERE Principal place registered capital held TEXK
Name of joint venture of operation by the Group Principal activities
2016 2015
% %
Ultimate Success Investment EEERES - 50 ®EEK
Corporation‘ British Virgin Islands Investment holding
BMRLEBEREZRRAAD w I 50 50 PREERLRE
Changzhou Property development
and investment
BERERREBHERLDAD =1 50 50 PRERERE
Chongging Property development
and investment
REMRLEERAR QA R 39 390 MERBEREEE
Dongguan Property development
and investment
REMRERXLZBEBHERAAD R 45.05 45.05 MEBRR
Dongguan Property development
BT RZEERAER QRO 10 45 45 MEBREKE
Foshan Property development
and investment
IRRLHBEREXRERAF Ik 50 50 MEBERERE
Jiangyin Property development

and investment
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51. EREEREFT (@) 51.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)
AEB G
EXEatt
TERE W Percentage of
BELEER Principal place registered capital held TEXRK
Name of joint venture of operation by the Group Principal activities
2016 2015
o/0 0/0
RYNRLZEZERELERRDA el 50 50 WMEEERKAZK
(RIERYRLMEERARAF)  Shenzhen Property management
and investment
holding
AT EBRLEEHRARIAD  F 50 50 WMEEBRRERE
Shenzhen Property development

and investment

AYRZREREBRBRAA el 50 50 YRERERE
Shenzhen Property development

and investment

AREEN () AR AR el 50 50 WEZBRANEER
Shenzhen & R

Property development
and investment and
investment holding

RERGZHEWAR AR RE 50 50 WEREERLKRE
Tianjin Property development
and investment

EERLHBEHARAFD Gl 50 50 MEEBERERE
Qingdao Property development
and investment

BEE (BR)BHREREERAFY  FER 60 - DERER

Nanjing Property development
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51. TEEEEFE (4

Bz -

iy REALEZHNAGRBH AREEEME =
EHZ AR M B REEBRER LRZEGIE-

(il ZRAA—MELLE (RREBH (RE) AR
Al

%
RE)ZMBAR -

(i) ZEARBBE2EMBRRFEAELTRG
ﬂzmimﬁ%&ﬁ% °

(ivy REEE (BR)FHERBERAAS—HEE
&% (Foo Chow Holdings Limited)Z i &2 &) ° 7%
MERRIRNFENE B E -

(v) ZAREREZERAR (AEEz-RHHBEAR)
RERBUEE - BRERE M RR A EES -

(vi) % 2ARA—[EEED%ENoble-Link Worldwide
Inc.)z —FEK B A ao&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁ?ﬁéim&wﬁc

51

.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES

(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

Based on the contractual agreements between the venturers, the Group and
other venturers have joint control over the financial and operating policies of
the company.

The company is a subsidiary of a joint venture, X #iE (LB ) FR A F.

These companies hold Taiwan listed shares through its wholly-owned
subsidiaries and were disposed of during the year.

Tianan Summit (Fujian) Real Estate Development Co, Ltd is a subsidiary of a
joint venture, Foo Chow Holdings Limited. Both companies were disposed of
during the year.

The company was acquired with its holding company, a subsidiary of the
Group, during the year as set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The company is a subsidiary of a joint venture, Noble-Link Worldwide Inc.
Both companies were acquired during the year.
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52. A A BT AR R I’ R AR

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

52.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

NG b 5 O Company’s Statement of Financial Position
2016 2015
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FRBEE Non-current assets
W% B N RE Property, plant and equipment 25,491 21,600
INKIEPNGIPA 224 Interests in subsidiaries 4,175,254 4,653,025
NI Amounts due from subsidiaries 9,175,965 7,411,641
NEERE2HEES Interests in joint ventures 9,926 10,542
13,386,636 12,096,808
REEE Current assets
H i RE W BR X Other receivables, deposits and
B e MR prepayments 692 2,092
GEBERRK Amounts due from joint ventures 1,553 1,553
WITHFRIRS Bank balances and cash 1,824,212 2,433,624
1,826,457 2,437,269
mEEE Current liabilities
H Ath FE A BR K Other payables 32,591 26,412
MIBEE Tax liabilities 26,128 26,468
FE AT BT B A A IE Amounts due to subsidiaries 3,022,707 2,463,781
3,081,426 2,516,661
REBEEREE Net current liabilities (1,254,969) (79,392)
BEERRBER Total assets less current liabilities 12,131,667 12,017,416
IR ik Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 3,788,814 3,788,814
& Reserves 8,342,853 8,228,602
12,131,667 12,017,416

ARMBHRREER " E—LF=A+LAE
ESRABRERIA L0 T TIESRAE

Patrick Lee Seng Wei

TR AE
Director

EF

Edwin Lo King Yau
BRH
Director

EF

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 17th March, 2017
and are signed on its behalf by:
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52. AEEI MR R R R HEE (&)

52.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

NERBEEER Movement in the Company’s reserves
BRIER BEXFE
& #%E
Special Exchange ES i E
capital translation Retained Bt
reserve reserve earnings Total
FET FAET FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RZZE—RF—H—H Atlst January, 2015 1,417,669 1,689,082 5,624,050 8,730,801
AN F R T Profit for the year = = 373,021 373,021
BERELZ Exchange difference arising
MEHEE from translation = (724,543) = (724,543)
BB Dividend recognised as
7B distribution - - (150,677) (150,677)
R-ZZE—RF At 31st December,
+=—A=+—H” 2015 1,417,669 964,539 5,846,394 8,228,602
REZ Profit for the year — — 1,070,887 1,070,887
BERELZ Exchange difference arising
EHEZR from translation - (730,621) = (730,621)
BB Dividend recognised as
by distribution - - (226,015) (226,015)
RZTE—RF At 31st December,
+=—A=+— 2016 1,417,669 233,918 6,691,266 8,342,853

RZZE—RNFE+-_A=+—"8B ARAAADIK
T IR 2 & AR H12,285,737,0007%8 7T (=
T — T 1 1,440,865,00056 7T ) °

EREERTRERSERR ST MHFEIER
AR AR D F{ERRE - SRR G EEM
EEZERBABKREARE EARRKR-Z
TNE=ANBZBBRINEE - tLREETEE
EASERGR R_E—XRF+_A=1+—8"
AARR_EZNF=ZANBABEFEZAES
1375 14,064,0007% 7T ( =F — A 4F : 14,064,000
B ARBE-

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders
as at 31st December, 2016 represent the retained earnings of
HK$2,285,737,000 (2015: HK$1,440,865,000).

When sanctioning a reduction in nominal value of the Company’s
shares in 2004, the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region stipulated that the credit arising on the
reduction be transferred to a special capital reserve, and that reserve
was not to be regarded as distributable until all of the liabilities of
the Company as at the date of the order, 9th March, 2004, were
settled. At 31st December, 2016, liabilities of the Company included
HK$14,064,000 (2015: HK$14,064,000) in respect of liabilities in
existence at 9th March, 2004.
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2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
TET FET FET TET TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ES RESULTS
WA Revenue 1,410,086 1,733,315 1,031,785 1,029,359 1,894,465
FRRRARREN Profit for the year attributable to
A owners of the Company 401,403 337,564 1,284,522 2,600,020 5,712,954
EERERE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
REBE Total assets 24,864,834 28,603,998 28,531,659 31,561,142 33,691,834
BERE Total liabilities 10,452,520 13,586,625 13,053,855 14,406,804 11,640,439
e Non-controlling interests 953,929 953,035 32,633 16,008 538,184
NN EY Equity attributable to owners
Z s of the Company 13,458,385 14,064,338 15,445,171 17,138,330 21,513,221
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
BRERER PER SHARE BASIS
BREARRH (BL) Basic earnings per share (HK cents) 26.64 22.40 85.25 172.56 379.15
TS GBIL) Dividend per share (HK cents) 4 6.5 10 15 32.5
(Note)
(Hat)
BREEFE(BT) Net assets per share (HK$) 8.9 9.3 10.3 11.4 14.3
Hiat Note:

2355 B1008 A& A B B% 175 % 2 k1388 A A% 17 2 &
£ AEY SR 2R 2 S8 2.195,880,034% A% 19 1
BRI E - FFME R 158 R

A special dividend in form of distribution in specie of 195,880,034 shares in Dan
Form on the basis of 13 Dan Form Shares for every 100 shares of the Company. The
detailed information is shown in note 15.
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